
Agenda 

San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department 
Board of Directors Regular Meeting 

Tuesday, October 8, 2019 – 9:00 A.M. 
     Belmont City Hall, 2nd Floor EOC, One Twin Pines Lane, Belmont 

1. OPENING

1.1. Call to Order & Determination of a Quorum

1.2. Pledge of Allegiance

1.3. Roll Call

2. AGENDA CHANGES
The Chair/Board Member may change the order of the Agenda or request discussion of a 
Consent Item. A member of the public may request discussion of a Consent Item by 
completing a speaker’s slip and presenting it to the Board Clerk prior to Public Comment.

3. PUBLIC COMMENT
Public Comment is limited to 15 minutes, with a maximum of three (3) minutes per speaker. If 
you wish to address the hearing body, please complete a “Speaker’s Card” and give it to the 
Clerk of the Fire Board. If you are addressing the Board of Directors on a non-agenda item, 
the Board of Directors may briefly respond to statements made or questions posed as allowed 
by the Brown Act (GC 54954.2).  The Board of Directors may refer items to staff for 
attention, or have a matter placed on a future Board of Directors Meeting, for more 
comprehensive action or report.

4. CONSENT

4.1. Fire Board Meeting Minutes Approval from September 11, 2019.

4.2. Waive second reading and adopt an Ordinance adopting by reference by title only the
2019 California Fire Codes with Local Amendments. 

4.3. Adopt a Resolution approving revised Merit Salary Schedule for Fire Chief 
Classification. 

4.4. Adopt a Resolution approving Public Education Class Refund Policy. 

4.5. Adopt a Resolution approving department Job Descriptions. 

5. OLD BUSINESS

5.1. Approve staff’s recommendation on a Hiring Plan for Fire Chief Position.



6. NEW BUSINESS

6.1   Department’s response to San Mateo County Grand Jury Report titled Fire Safety Inspection
Programs on the Road to Recovery. 

 ACTION:    Adopt a Resolution approving the response to the San Mateo County Grand Jury  
 regarding Fire Safety Inspection Programs.    

6.2   Fiscal Year 2019 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 

ACTION:    Adopt a Resolution approving the Fiscal Year 2019 Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report (CAFR). 

6.3   Selection of Fire Board Chair, Vice Chair and meeting dates for Calendar Year 2020.   

ACTION:    Select Board Members to serve as Chair and Vice Chair and set meeting dates for 
calendar year 2020.  

7. REPORTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

7.1. Board Members and Department Management Staff will have an opportunity to make
announcements. 

7.1.1 Community Risk Reduction Division Update 
7.1.2 San Mateo Finance Department Update    

8. ADJOURNMENT

I, Matt Lucett, Clerk of the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department, hereby declare that the foregoing 
Agenda was posted in compliance with the Brown Act prior to the meeting date.  

In compliance with the Americans with Disability Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this 
meeting, please contact the Fire Board Clerk at (650) 522-7900 no less than 72 hours prior to the meeting.  
Notification in advance of the meeting will enable the Fire Department to make reasonable arrangements 
to ensure accessibility to this meeting.   

Copies of documents distributed at the meeting are available in alternative formats upon request. Any 
writing or documents provided to a majority of the Board regarding any item on this Agenda will be made 
available for public inspection at the Department Fire Administration Office located at 1040 E. Hillsdale 
Blvd., Foster City, CA 94404, during normal business hours. In addition, most documents will be posted on 
the Department’s website at https://www.smcfire.org/fire-board-meeting-agendas.  

https://www.smcfire.org/fire-board-meeting-agendas
https://www.smcfire.org/fire-board-meeting-agendas


 

  
Meeting Minutes 

 
San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department 

Board of Directors Regular Meeting 
 Wednesday, September 11th, 2019 – 9:00 A.M. 

Fire Station 21, 120 S. Ellsworth Ave., San Mateo 
 

 
1. OPENING 

 
The meeting was called to order at 9:12am by Board Chair Goethals. 

 
Roll Call 
Board Members Present: Goethals, Lieberman, Perez   
Board Members Absent: None  
 
2. AGENDA CHANGES 
Item 9.1 was eliminated from the agenda and not heard. The order of the Agenda was modified 
so that the Board will move directly to Closed Session to consider Item 9.2 following the Special 
Presentation, Agenda Item 3. 
 
3. SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 
Board Chair Goethals made presentation on Proclamation recognizing September 2019 as 
National Preparedness Month.  
 
9.  CLOSED SESSION 
The Fire Board went into Closed Session at 9:16am.   

   
10.  RETURN FROM CLOSED SESSION  
The Fire Board returned from Closed Session at 9:29am. Fire Board Attorney William Ross shared that there was 
reportable action with respect to Item 9.2, specifically unanimous direction by the Board in anticipation of a 
vacancy in the Fire Chief position to allow staff to proceed with a search for that position within the next 45 days 
with subsequent review by the Board at the next meeting and there would be no further reportable action under 
the provision of Government Code Section 54957(b). 
 
4. PUBLIC COMMENT 
Board Chair Goethals opened the meeting to public comment, which there was none.  

   
5. CONSENT 
There were no items removed from the consent calendar, Board Member Lieberman made a motion to approve, 
which was seconded by Board Member Perez and the consent calendar was approved 3-0.  
 
6. OLD BUSINESS 
There were no items under Old Business. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

7. NEW BUSINESS 
 
7.1 Adoption of the 2019 California Fire Code with Local Amendments 
Legal Counsel provided an overview that this is a public hearing on adoption of the fire code with 
accommodations made for all three jurisdictions and the ordinance contents have been property described and 
posted and there has been discussion with Belmont’s City Attorney to indicate there will be some clerical 
revisions forthcoming and provided at the next meeting (second reading) which will address his concerns. 
There’s been considerable effort by staff in communicating with all three agencies building officials to ensure 
there’s no conflicts.  Board Chair Goethals clarified that we’re just here for the initial reading which will have a 
second reading with some anticipated clerical amendments forthcoming. Seeing no questions from the Board 
Goethals asked for any public comment, which there was none.  Perez moved and seconded by Lieberman 
motion Introducing Ordinance 2019-002 by title only Establishing the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department 
Fire Code by Adopting the 2018 International Fire Code with the 2019 California Fire Code Amendments and 
local findings and modifications.   
 

            7.2 Fire Prevention Uncollectible Accounts Receivables  
Richard Lee, the Finance Director with the City of San Mateo Finance Department provided an overview on the 
issue. Board member Lieberman asked for clarification as to whether this has any impact on the proportions that 
each of the agencies contributed to SMC Fire. San Mateo City Manager Drew Corbett clarified that was under 
the Fire Prevention Bureau which is self-sustaining (revenues cover their expenditure) and the other two agencies 
do not contribute to this fund in any way. There was no public comment related to this items, Board Member 
Lieberman made motion, which was seconded by Board Member Perez and the motion passed 3-0.   
 
7.3 Fire Chief Salary Increase 
Chief Healy reported there was an oversight at the last Fire Board meeting regarding his salary increase. Board 
Member Perez made motion, which was seconded by Board member Lieberman and the motion passed 3-0.  
 
Following the Hazmat Team update under Reports and Announcements, Fire Board Attorney William Ross 
requested that the following be deemed part of the board motion, specifically the following statement in 
association with the resolution:  
 
“As required by California Government Code Section 54953 (c) (3), the following is a summary of the 
recommended final action on changes to the salary, salary schedule, and fringe benefit compensation for the 
Department’s Fire Chief effective July 14, 2019. 
 
The salary range for the Fire Chief classification shall be increased by 2%”.  
 
Board Member Perez approved amended motion, which was moved without objection by Board Chair Goethals 
and seconded by Board Member Lieberman and the motion passed 3-0.  
 
8. REPORTS AND ANNOUNCEMENT 
 
Fire Chief Update- Chief Healy read his letter of resignation to the Board and each Board Member thanked 
Chief Healy for his service, including the implementation of the new department.  
 
Community Risk Reduction (CRR) Division Update- Deputy Fire Chief Iverson updated the Fire Board on 
several initiatives that the Division is working on. Updates included the Centralized Emergency Vehicle Pre-
emption (CEVP), the purchase of two new Toyota Hybrid SUV’s due to recently hired prevention personnel and 
the development of a response to the recently released San Mateo County Grand Jury report, which includes a 
policy addressing our fire inspection program.   

    
Hazmat Team Update- Deputy Fire Chief Thrasher updated the Fire Board on the following: 



 

• Providing a four-week Hazmat Class in October, the result of which will increase our team by 50%. 
• Attended the After-Action Review of the July 1st Hazmat Incident that occurred at Facebook, which 

included multiple agencies, including the National Guard and FBI who commended our team for all 
their work. Board Chair Goethals asked whether the costs to the contributing agencies, including the 
county are going to increase. DFC Thrasher clarified that we recently renewed a three-year contract 
which went into effect July 1st and included a slight increase. Through the budgeting process we have 
been able to take on this additional burden of incentives, and Board Member Goethals re-iterated that 
for future contracts that we make sure to forward on those additional costs to the participating agencies. 
DFC Thrasher also clarified that the larger pieces of equipment such as vehicles and certain equipment 
is purchased through the County of San Mateo.   

     
11.  ADJOURNMENT 
Fire Board member Lieberman brought forth that the next Fire Board Meeting, scheduled for Wednesday, 
October 9th at 5:30pm, is Yom Kippur holiday and recommended we reschedule to another date. The Fire Board 
and staff agreed to re-schedule the next regular meeting to Tuesday, October 8th at 9:00am. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 9:56am. 



 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 
 
 
To: San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department Board of Directors 
  
From: John Healy, Fire Chief 
  
Date: October 8, 2019 
 
Subject: San Mateo Consolidated Fire Code Ordinance   

 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
Waive second reading and adopt an Ordinance adopting the 2019 California Fire Code with Local 
Amendments. 
 
BACKGROUND 
In preparation for the commencement of operations as a new governmental agency, the San Mateo 
Consolidated (SMC) Fire Department Board of Directors adopted by Ordinance the 2016 California Fire 
Codes with local amendments on November 29, 2018.  These State fire codes, which are updated every 
three years, are being revised to reflect both the 2018 International Fire Code as well as statewide 
amendments.  Staff from the Community Risk Reduction (CRR) Division have reviewed these revisions and 
have incorporated local amendments, which are addressed in the Ordinance.  
 
This ordinance was introduced, and a public hearing was held, at the September 11, 2019 Fire Board 
Regular Meeting. Following that meeting, clerical amendments have been made at the request of 
Belmont’s City Attorney.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
There is no significant impact to the budget. 
 
NOTICE PROVIDED 
This Ordinance has been published in summary in the San Francisco Examiner, posted in the SMC Fire 
Administrative and CRR Division offices, and shall be effective 30 days after the date of adoption.  
 
ATTACHMENTS  
A. Ordinance  
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SAN MATEO CONSOLIDATED FIRE DEPARTMENT 

FIRE CODE  
 

ORDINANCE NO. ORD-2019-002  
ESTABLISHING THE SAN MATEO CONSOLIDATED FIRE DEPARTMENT FIRE CODE BY 
ADOPTING THE 2018 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE WITH THE 2019 CALIFORNIA FIRE 

CODE AMENDMENTS AND LOCAL FINDINGS AND MODIFICATIONS 
 

 
The San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department Board of Directors HEREBY ORDAINS THE 

FOLLOWING:  
 
PARTS 

I. Adoption 
II. Applicability 
III. Modifications 

Section 101.1 Title. Amended 
Section 101.6 Policy Manual. Added 
Section 103.2 Appointment. Deleted  
Section 105.6 .31 Motor Fuel Dispensing Facilities. Amended 
Section 109 Board of Appeals. Amended 
Section 202 General Definitions. Added 
Section 303 Asphalt Kettles. Adopted 
Section 305 Ignition Sources. Adopted 
Section 306 Motion Picture Projection Rooms and Film. Adopted 
Section 307.1.1. Amended 
Section 307.4.1 Bonfires. Amended 
Section 307.4.2 Recreational Fires. Amended 
Section 308.1.4 Open Flame Cooking Devices. Amended 
Section 309 Powered Industrial Trucks and Equipment. Adopted 
Section 310 Smoking. Adopted 
Section 311 Vacant Premises. Adopted 
Section 318 Laundry Carts. Adopted Section 319.1 .1 Health Department Approval. 
Added 
Section 405 Emergency Evacuation Drills. Adopted 
Section 406 Employee Training and Response Procedures. Adopted 
Section 501.1 Scope. Amended 
Section 503.1.1 Buildings and Facilities. Amended 
Section 505.1 Address Identification. Amended 
Section 505.1.1 Multitenant Buildings. Added 
Section 505.1.2 Multiple Buildings on One Site. Added 
Section 505.1.3 Rear Addressing. 
Section 506.1.1.1 Key Box Contents Requirements. 
Section 506.1.1.2 Gates. 
Section 508.2 Fire Control Room. Added 
Section 510.4.2 System Design. Modified 



Page 2 of 18 
Ordinance No. ORD-2019-002 
California Fire Code 
 

Section 510.4.2.9 System Design Specifications. Added 
Section 510.5.2-5 10.2.2.3 Minimal Qualifications of Personnel. Added 
Section 510.5.3.1 Test Specification. Added 
Section 901.6.3.2 Record Reporting. Added  
Section 903.2 Automatic Sprinkler Systems-Where Required. Amended 
Sections 903.2.1 Through 903.2.10. Deleted 
Section 903.3.1.2 NFPA 13 R Sprinkler Systems. Amended 
Section 903.2.20 Automatic Sprinkler Systems-Existing Buildings and Structures. Added 
Section 903.3.1.3 NFPA 13 D Sprinkler Systems. Amended 
Section 903.4.2 Alarms. Amended 
Section 905.3.1 Height. Amended  
Section 907.1.6 Fire Alarm Certification. Added 
Section 907.1.6.1 Posting of Certificate. Added 
Section 1009.3.1 Convenience Stair. Added 
Chapter 26 Fumigation and Insecticidal Fogging. Adopted. 
Section 5601.1 .3 Fireworks. Amended 
Section 5601.1 .3 .1 Fireworks-Seizure. Added 
Section 5601.2 .4 Financial Responsibility. Amended 
Section 5601.9 Prohibited and Limited Acts. Added 
Section 5704.2.9.6.1 Locations Where Aboveground Tanks Are Prohibited. Amended 
Section 5706.2.4.4 Locations Where Aboveground Tanks Are Prohibited. Amended 
Section 5806.2 Limitations. Amended 
Section 6104.2 Maximum Capacity Within Established Limits. Amended 
Table B105.2 Required Fire Flow for Buildings Other Than One And 2 Family 
Dwellings, Group R-3, And R-4 Buildings and Townhomes. Amended 
Table C102.1 Required Number and Spacing of Fire Hydrants. Amended 
Appendix O Temporary Haunted Houses, Ghost Walks and Similar Amusement Uses. 
Adopted 
 

IV. Violations 
V. Fire and Life Safety Inspections 
VI. Environmental Determination 
VII. Notice Provided 
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PART I- ADOPTION.  
 

A. The San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department hereby adopts the 2019 California Fire Code 
(California Code of Regulations, Title 24, Part, 9 [based on the 2018 International Fire Code 
published by the International Code Council]), with California Amendments as specified in 
part III of this ordinance. Those chapters and appendices not mentioned in section III are only 
enforceable if adopted by the State Fire Marshal. The 2019 California Fire Code, with the 
changes, additions, and deletions set forth this ordinance, is adopted by this reference as 
though fully set forth in this ordinance.  As of the effective date of this ordinance, the 
provisions of the fire code are controlling and enforceable within the limits of each city 
within the jurisdiction of the Department.   

 
B. The 2019 California Fire Code (CFC), California Code of Regulations, Title 24, Part 9, 

adopting the 2018 International Fire Code of the International Code Council with necessary 
California amendments, together with the non-building standards reproduced therein except 
otherwise provided by this ordinance, are adopted by reference as the Fire Code of the San 
Mateo Consolidated Fire Department. This Code including all amendments thereto, shall 
hereafter be called the “Fire Code,” and/or this “Code” and are adopted as and for the rules, 
regulations, and standards within the Jurisdiction as to all matters therein, except otherwise 
provided.   

 
C. No section of the Fire Prevention Code shall impose a mandatory duty of enforcement on the 

Jurisdiction, or on any officer, official, agent, employee, board, council, or commission 
thereof.  Instead, if any section purports to impose a mandatory duty of enforcement, said 
section shall be deemed to invest the Jurisdiction, and the appropriate officer, official, agent, 
employee, board, council, or commission with discretion to enforce the section, or not to 
enforce it.   

 
D. A copy of the Fire Code, as defined herein, shall be kept on file on with the office of the San 

Mateo Consolidated Fire Department Fire Marshal. 
 
E. The San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department has determined that modifications to the 2018 

International Fire Code with the 2019 California Amendments are needed and reasonably 
necessary due to local climatic, geological, and topographical conditions, as set forth in 
Attachment 1 (Findings in Support of Amendments to the 2019 California Fire Code), which 
are incorporated fully herein. 
 

 
PART II- APPLICABILITY.   
 

A. All sections of this Code shall apply to all buildings, structures and portions thereof, and to 
all appurtenances and fixtures thereto, and anything connected with, or by, or in, or on, any 
premise or building. 

 
B. Whenever any provision of this Chapter code or in any other law, ordinance, or resolution of 

any kind, impose overlapping or contradictory regulations, or contain any restrictions 
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covering the same subject matter, the provision that is more restrictive or imposes higher 
standards or requirements shall govern. 

 

PART III- ADOPTION OF SECTIONS AND MODIFICATIONS 

 
The following sections are adopted as described below. 
 
Chapter 1 is adopted in its entirety as amended below.  

 
SECTION 101.1 TITLE. AMENDED 

 
101.1 Title.  These regulations shall be known as the 2019 CALIFORNIA FIRE CODE, and with 
amendments adopted by the SAN MATEO CONSOLIDATED FIRE DEPARTMENT, will be 
referred to herein as this “CODE,” and/or “FIRE CODE.” 

 
SECTION 101.6 POLICY MANUAL. ADDED 

 
101.6 Policy Manual. The Bureau of Fire Protection and Life Safety Policy Manual shall serve as 
a supplemental instruction and interpretation manual for the Fire Code and is hereby adopted by 
reference. The Fire Marshal is responsible to amend this manual as necessary to maintain current 
instructions and interpretations. The information contained within the Policy Manual shall not be 
construed to make new code requirements not authorized by this ordinance.  

 
SECTION 103.2 APPOINTMENT. DELETED 
 
SECTION 105.6.31 MOTOR FUEL DISPENSING FACILITIES. AMENDED 
 
105.6.31 Motor fuel dispensing. An operational permit is required for the fueling of motor 
vehicles including automotive, marine craft, and fleets at fixed facilities and through mobile 
operations.  

 
SECTION 109 BOARD OF APPEALS.  AMENDED.  

 
109.1 Board of Appeals.  Pursuant to Section 109 of the California Fire Code, all decisions and 
rulings of the Fire Chief are final any appeals shall be made through the legal process.  
 
109.2 Limitations on Authority. Deleted. 
 
109.3 Qualifications. Deleted. 

 
Chapter 2 is adopted in its entirety as amended below.  
 

SECTION 202 GENERAL DEFINITIONS. ADDED 
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All Weather Driving Surface. A roadway designed to carry the imposed weight loads of fire 
apparatus (Minimum load of 68,000 pounds) and a minimum surface finish of one layer of 
asphalt or concrete or road pavers.  
 
Alteration. Any work done to a structure that increases the fire area of a room or area. 
 
Driveway. Access road from the public way to a structure that is used for public vehicular access,  
including fire and emergency vehicles. 

 
Chapter 3 is partially adopted with adopted sections listed below. (Sections adopted by the State Fire 
Marshal remain unchanged except as modified below) 
 
 SECTION 303 ASPHALT KETTLES IS ADOPTED IN ITS ENTIRETY 
 
 SECTION 305 IGNITION SOURCES IS ADOPTED IN ITS ENTIRETY 
 

SECTION 306 MOTION PICTURE PROJECTION ROOMS AND FILM IS ADOPTED 
IN ITS ENTIRETY 
 
SECTION 307 OPEN BURNING, RECREATIONAL FIRES, AND PORTABLE 
OUTDOOR FIREPLACES IS ADOPTED AS AMENDED BELOW 
 
SECTION 307.1.1 PROHIBITED OPEN BURNING. AMENDED 
 
307.1.1 Prohibited open burning. Open burning, other than cooking, shall be prohibited. 
 
Exception: [No change] 
 
307.4.1 BONFIRES. AMENDED 
 
307.4.1 Bonfires. Bonfires, other than for cooking purposes, shall be prohibited. 
 
307.4.2 RECREATIONAL FIRES. AMENDED 
 
307.4.2 Recreational Fires. When approved by the fire code official, recreational fires shall not be 
conducted within 25 feet (7620 mm) of a structure or combustible material. Conditions that could 
cause a fire to spread within 25 feet (7620 mm) of the structure shall be eliminated prior to 
ignition. If allowed, all such fires shall require a fire code permit. 
 
SECTION 308 OPEN FLAMES IS ADOPTED AS AMENDED BELOW 
 
SECTION 308.1.4 OPEN FLAME COOKING DEVICES. AMENDED 

 
308.1.4 Open Flame Cooking Devices. [No change] 
 
Exceptions:  
1. Group R-2, R-3, and R-3.1 occupancies 
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2. [No change] 
3. [No change] 
 
SECTION 309 POWERED INDUSTRIAL TRUCKS AND EQUIPMENT IS ADOPTED 
 
SECTION 310 SMOKING IS ADOPTED 
 
SECTION 311 VACANT PREMISES IS ADOPTED 
 
SECTION 318 LAUNDRY CARTS IS ADOPTED 
 
SECTION 319 MOBILE FOOD PREPARATION VEHICLES ADOPTED AS AMENDED 
BELOW 
 
SECTION 319.1.1 HEALTH DEPARTMENT APPROVAL. ADDED  
 
319.1.1 Health department approval. Mobile food preparation vehicles shall display a San Mateo 
County health apartment sticker as prescribed by County health. 
 

Chapter 4 is partially adopted with adopted sections listed below. (Sections adopted by the State Fire 
Marshal remain unchanged unless modified below) 
 

SECTION 405 EMERGENCY EVACUATION DRILLS IS ADOPTED 
 
SECTION 406 EMPLOYEE TRAINING AND RESPONSE PROCEDURES IS ADOPTED 

 
Chapter 5 is adopted in its entirety as amended below.  
 

SECTION 501.1 SCOPE. AMENDED 
 
501.1 Scope. Fire service features for buildings, structures and premises shall comply with this 
chapter, and appendix D. 
 
SECTION 503.1.1 BUILDINGS AND FACILITIES. AMENDED 

 
503.1.1 Buildings and Facilities. Every building and facility shall be accessible to Fire 
Department apparatus by way of all-weather access roadways prior to combustible construction.  
The fire apparatus access roads shall comply with the requirements of this section and Appendix 
D, and extend with 150’ of all portions of the facility and all portions of the exterior walls of the 
first story of the building as measured by an approved route around the exterior of the building or 
facility. Unless otherwise specified in appendix D, the access road shall have a minimum 
unobstructed width of 20’ and shall be required to have a minimum ‘first lift’ of pavement 
applied which shall support an imposed load of 68,000 pounds. The developer shall be required to 
provide the Fire Chief Code Official with a site plan showing the location, width, grades, and 
cross section of the proposed access roads to be used during construction.  Building construction 
permits shall not be issued until this site plan is reviewed and approved and stamped by the Fire 
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Department. Combustible construction shall not be allowed on the site until fire access is 
provided to the building 
 

Exceptions: 
1. The Fire Chief Code Official is authorized to increase the dimension of 150 
feet where any of the following conditions occur: 
 

1.1. The building is equipped throughout with an approved automatic 
sprinkler system installed in accordance with Section 903.3.1.1, or 
903.3.1.3. And an approved alternative means of fire protection is 
provided. 
 
1.2. Fire apparatus access roads cannot be installed because of location 
on property, topography, waterways, nonnegotiable grades or other 
similar conditions, and an approved alternative means of fire protection 
is provided. 
 
1.3. There are not more than two Group R-3 or Group U occupancies. 
 

2. Where approved by the Fire Chief, fire apparatus access roads shall be 
permitted to be exempted or modified for solar photovoltaic power generation 
facilities. 

 
 

SECTION 503.3.1 FIRE LANE DESIGNATION. ADDED 
 

503.3.1 Fire Lane Designation. Designation of fire lanes shall be by one of the following means: 
 
1. By a white sign measuring at least twelve inches by eighteen inches (12” x 18”) posted 
immediately adjacent thereto and clearly visible. It should clearly state in red letters not 
less than one inch (1”) in height, that the space is a fire lane and parking is prohibited. 
Fire lane signs shall be spaced at a minimum of 50 feet apart. 
 
2. By outlining and hash marking the area in contrasting colors clearly marking it with 
the words “Fire Lane - No Parking.” 
 
3. By identifying the space with a red curb upon which the words “Fire Lane - No 
Parking” are stenciled every 15 feet. 

a. Both sides of fire lanes shall be red curbed when the fire lane is twenty (20) 
feet to twenty-eight (28) feet in width. 
 
b. At least one side of a fire lane shall be red curbed and stenciled when the fire 
lane is over twenty-eight (28) and up to thirty-six (36) feet in width. 
 
c. Curbs need not be painted red nor stenciled when the fire lane is more than 
thirty-six (36) feet in width. 
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SECTION 505.1 Address Identification. AMENDED  
 
505.1 Address Identification. New and existing buildings shall have approved address numbers, 
building numbers or approved building identification placed in a position that is plainly legible 
and visible from the street or road fronting the property. These numbers shall contrast with their 
background. Address numbers shall be Arabic numerals or alphabet letters. Said numbers shall be 
either internally or externally illuminated in all new construction and in all alterations greater than 
50% of the original structure.  Numbers shall be as follows: 

 
1.   Minimum of one-half inch (1/2″) stroke by six inches (6″) high. 
 
2.   When the structure is thirty-six (36) to fifty (50) feet from the street or fire 
department access a minimum of one-half inch (1/2″) stroke by nine inches (9″) high is 
required. 
 
3.   When the structure is more than fifty (50) feet from the street or fire apparatus access, 
a minimum of one-inch (1”) stroke by twelve inches (12″) high is required. 

 
SECTION 505.1.1 Multi-Tenant Buildings. ADDED  

 
505.1.1 Multi -Tenant Buildings. Numbers or letters shall be designated on all occupancies within 
a building. Size shall be one-half inch (1/2″) stroke by four inches (4″) high and on a contrasting 
background.  Directional address numbers or letters shall be provided.  Said addresses or numbers 
shall visible from the street posted at a minimum height of 5 feet, 6 inches (5′ 6″) above the 
finished floor, shall be visible from the street and shall be either internally or externally 
illuminated in all new construction. 

 
SECTION 505.1.2 MULTIPLE BUILDINGS ON ONE SITE. ADDED 
 
505.1.2 Multiple buildings on one site. Where multiple buildings on one property are accessed by 
the means of a private road, and the buildings cannot be viewed from the public way, a 
monument sign, or other signs or other approved means shall be used to identify the structure. 
Address identification shall be maintained on each of the buildings within the site. 

 
SECTION 505.1.3 REAR ADDRESSING. ADDED 
 
 
505.1.3 Rear Addressing. When required by the chief, approved numbers or addresses shall be 
placed on all new and existing buildings in such a position as to be plainly visible and legible 
from the fire apparatus road at the back of a property or where rear parking lots or alleys provide 
an acceptable vehicular access. Number stroke and size shall comply with 505.1. 

 
SECTION 506.1.1.1 KEY BOX CONTENTS REQUIREMENTS. ADDED 
 
506.1.1.1 Key box contents requirements. Master keys shall be provided to all spaces 
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including multi-tenant spaces. Additional keys shall be included as determined by the fire code 
official or his designee and may include card access, elevator controls, fire alarm control panels 
and devices, and for fire sprinkler control valve access. If the business/operation is required to 
have a Hazardous Material Inventory Statement (HMIS), the HMIS shall be included in the key 
box or other approved location. The number of keys to be provided shall be determined by the 
inspector. 
 

Exceptions: 
1. Multi-tenant spaces which provide a key box for each tenant and installed per 
Section 506.1. Electronic card keys and codes to individual spaces may not be 
utilized as a substitute for manual keys. 
 
2. When electronic locks release upon loss of electrical power or fire alarm 
activation a manual key need not be provided. 

 
SECTION 506.1.1.2 GATES. ADDED 

 
506.1.1.2 Gates. Where a new gate or barrier is installed on a fire access roadway, the fire 
department shall have emergency access by means of a padlock, key switch or other approved 
means.  
 
Exception: 
 

1. Driveways serving a single R-3 occupancy 
 

SECTION 508.2 FIRE CONTROL ROOM.  ADDED 
 

508.2 Fire control room. An approved fire control room shall be provided for all new buildings or 
occupancies with a change of use, requiring protection by an automatic fire sprinkler system. The 
room shall only contain all main system control valves, fire alarm control panels ERRCS 
equipment, and other fire equipment required by the Fire Chief. Fire control rooms shall be 
located within the building at a location approved by the Fire Chief, and shall be provided at 
grade with a means to access the room directly from the exterior. Durable signage shall be 
provided on the exterior side of the access door to identify the fire control room. Fire Control 
Rooms shall not be less than 35 square feet. 
Exceptions: 

1. Group R, Division 3 Occupancies. 
2. Occupancies with a fire pump shall have a fire control room that is a minimum of 200 
square feet. 
3. In high-rise buildings, the fire control room shall not be less than 200 square feet. 

 
SECTION 510.4.2 SYSTEM DESIGN. MODIFIED 
 
510.4.2 System design. The emergency responder radio coverage system shall be designed in 
accordance with sections 510.4.2.1 through 510.4.2.9 and NFPA 1221. 
 
SECTION 510.4.2.9 SYSTEM DESIGN SPECIFICATIONS. ADDED 
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510.4.2.9 System design specifications. Additional system design specifications as specified in 
the San Mateo County Fire Chiefs Association Policy and Guideline Manual policy on ERRCS. 
Submittal shall include the information sheets attached to that policy. 

 
SECTION 510.5.2-510.2.2.3 MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS OF PERSONNEL. ADDED 
 
510.5.2 Minimum qualifications of personnel.  
 
510.2.1 Designers. The minimum qualifications of the system designer for both new and existing 
buildings shall be all of the following: 
 
 1. A valid FCC issued general radio operators license. 
 

2. Certification of in building system training issued by an approved organization or 
approved school, or a certificate issued by the manufacturer of the equipment being 
installed. 
 
3. A professional engineer (P. E.) Licensed in the state of California shall approve 
drawings by affixing their seal to the design documents. 

 
510.2.2 Installing personnel. Installation of approved ERRC systems shall be conducted by a 
State Licensed C-7, C-10, or C-16 contractor. 
 
510.2.3 Testing personnel. For system acceptance and annual testing, personnel shall be certified 
with an IEEE-WCET (Institute of electrical and electronics engineers-wireless communications 
engineering technology certification) or other approved professional certification approved by the 
authority having jurisdiction. 
 
SECTION 510.5.3.1 TEST SPECIFICATION. ADDED 
 
510.5.3.1 Test bands and frequencies. Acceptance and annual testing of ERRC systems shall 
incorporate all bands and frequencies accounted for in the design of the system. 
 

Chapter 9 is adopted in its entirety as amended below. 
  

SECTION 901.6.3.2 RECORDS REPORTING. ADDED 
 

901.6.3.2 Records Reporting. Fire detection, alarm and extinguishing systems, shall be 
maintained in an operative condition at all times, and shall be replaced or repaired where 
defective. Non-required fire protection systems and equipment shall be inspected, tested, and 
maintained or removed.  All inspection, testing and maintenance reports shall be forwarded to the 
Fire Department using electronic media to the designated third party as assigned in the Policy 
Manual. Paper (hard copy) reports are not permitted.  

 
SECTION 903.2 AUTOMATIC SPRINKLER SYSTEMS - WHERE REQUIRED. 
AMENDED 
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903.2 Where required.  Approved automatic sprinkler systems shall be installed throughout all 
new buildings unless the structure does not require a building permit. 
 
Exception: Detached Group U occupancies or carports less than 400 square feet. 

 
SECTIONS 903.2.1 THROUGH 903.2.10 ARE DELETED 

 
SECTION 903.3.1.2 NFPA 13R SPRINKLER SYSTEMS. AMENDED  
 
903.3.1.2 NFPA 13 sprinkler systems.  Automatic sprinkler systems in Group R occupancies shall 
be installed throughout in accordance with 903.3.1.1.  

Exception: R-3 occupancies shall have an automatic sprinkler system installed in 
accordance with NFPA 13D 

 
SECTION 903.2.20   AUTOMATIC SPRINKLER SYSTEMS - EXISTING BUILDINGS 
AND STRUCTURES.  ADDED  

 
903.2.20 Existing Buildings and Structures.  Proposed addition, alterations or fire repairs in 
existing non-sprinklered buildings over a three-year period exceeding 50% of the original gross 
floor area square footage shall require the entire building to be installed with an automatic fire 
sprinkler system.  Buildings in existence as of January 1, 2017 shall install an automatic fire 
sprinkler system in existing buildings and structures, as follows; 
 

1. Any additions that increase the existing gross floor area by more than 50% require the 
entire building to be installed with an automatic fire sprinkler system. 
 
2. Any combination of additions, alterations and/or fire repairs to more than 50% of the 
existing gross building area requires the entire existing building to be installed with an 
automatic fire sprinkler system. For purposes of this section, alterations shall only apply 
to the building area if they increase the size of the fire area of the room or space. See the 
Policy Manual for further guidance. 
 
3. Any addition, alteration and/or repair within a building that contains an automatic fire 
sprinkler system shall have the automatic fire sprinkler system extended/modified to the 
area of proposed work. 
 
4. Any change in use or occupancy creating a more hazardous fire/life safety condition, 
as determined by the Fire Code Official requires that an automatic fire sprinkler system 
be installed. For purposes of this section, the relative hazard category shall be in 
accordance with table 903.2.20 based on table 1012.4 of the International Existing 
Building Code. 
 

Table 903.2.20 
Relative Hazard Occupancy Class 

1 (Highest Hazard) H, L 
2 I-2, I-2.1, I-3, I-4 
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3 A, C, E, M, R-1, R-2, R-2.1, R-4 
4 B, F-1, M, S-1, R-3, R-3.1 

5 (Lowest Hazard) F-2, S-2, U 
 
 
Exceptions: 

1.   Seismic or accessibility improvements 
2.   Any exemption otherwise allowable under the Fire Code, as adopted by the 
San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department at the discretion of the Fire Chief. 
3.   Exterior improvements and work not requiring permits as provided in the 
Building Code. 
4.   Detached Group U occupancies or detached carports less than 400 square 
feet. 
5.   Work requiring only a mechanical, electrical, plumbing and/or demolition 
permit. 
6.  Group R-3.1 occupancies unless already containing a fire sprinkler system. 

 
SECTION 903.3.1.3 NFPA 13D SPRINKLER SYSTEMS. AMENDED 
 
903.3.1.3 NFPA 13D sprinkler systems. Automatic Sprinkler systems installed in one-and two-
family dwellings; Group R-3; and townhouses shall be permitted to be installed throughout in 
accordance with NFPA 13D as amended in Chapter 80. NFPA 13D sprinkler systems shall also 
comply with section 903.4.2 Alarms. 
 
SECTION 903.4.2 ALARMS. AMENDED 
 
903.4.2 Alarms. One approved audible and visual devices shall be connected to every automatic 
sprinkler system at an approved location. Such sprinkler water-flow alarm devices shall be 
activated by waterflow equivalent to the flow of a single sprinkler of the smallest orifice size 
installed in the system. Where a fire alarm system is installed, actuation of the automatic sprinkler 
system shall actuate the building fire alarm system. 
 
SECTION 905.3.1 HEIGHT. AMENDED 

 
905.3 [No Change] 
 
1. [No Change] 
2. Buildings that are more than 2 stories in height. 
3. [No Change] 
4. [No Change] 

 
SECTION 907.1.6 FIRE ALARM CERTIFICATION. ADDED 
 
907.1.6 Certification. New fire alarm systems shall be UL-Certified.  A Certificate of Completion 
and other documentation as listed in NFPA 72 shall be provided for all new fire alarm system 
installations.  It is the responsibility of the building owner or owner's representative to obtain and 



Page 13 of 18 
Ordinance No. ORD-2019-002 
California Fire Code 
 

maintain a current and valid Certificate. The protected premise shall be issued a UUFX type 
certification from Underwriters Laboratories (UL).  
 
SECTION 907.1.6.1 POSTING OF CERTIFICATE. ADDED 
 
907.1.6.1 Posting of Certificate. The UL certificate required in section 907.1.6 shall be posted in 
a durable transparent cover within 3 feet of the fire alarm control panel within 45 days of the final 
acceptance test/inspection. 

 
Chapter 10 is adopted in its entirety as amended below. 
 

SECTION 1009.3.1 CONVENIENCE STAIR. ADDED 
 
1009.3.1 Convenience Stair. Convenience stairs (in buildings 4 or more stories in height) that are 
not required as exits shall be limited to connect only two (2) floors. 

  
Chapter 26 is adopted in its entirety without amendment 
 
Chapter 56 is adopted in its entirety as amended below 
 
 SECTION 5601.1.3 FIREWORKS. AMENDED 
 

Section 5601.1.3 Fireworks. The possession, manufacture, storage, sale, handling and use of 
fireworks are prohibited within the jurisdiction of the department. 

  Exceptions: 
   1. Storage and handling of fireworks has allowed in section 5604. 

2. The use of fireworks for fireworks displays, pyrotechnics before proximate 
audience, pyrotechnic special effects in motion pictures, television, theatrical, or 
group entertainment productions as allowed by title 19, Division I, chapter 6 
fireworks reprinted in section 5608 and the Health & Safety Code division 11. 
3. Snap caps and party poppers classified by the state fire marshal as pyrotechnic 
devices. 

   
SECTION 5601.1.3.1 FIREWORKS – SEIZURE. ADDED 
 
5601.1.3.1 Fireworks-seizure. The Chief shall seize, remove or cause to be removed at the 
expense of the owner all stocks of fireworks offered or exposed for sale, stored or held in 
violation of this code. 
 
5601.2 .4 FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY. AMENDED 
 
5601.2 .4 Financial responsibility. Before a permit is issued pursuant to section 5601.2, the 
applicant shall file with the jurisdiction a corporate surety bond in the principal sum of $2 million 
or a public liability insurance policy for the same amount, for the purpose of the payment of all 
damages to persons or property which arise from, or are caused by, the conduct of any act 
authorized by permit upon which any judicial judgment results. The fire code official is 
authorized to specify a greater or lesser amount when, in his or her opinion, conditions at the 
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location of use indicate a greater or lesser amount is required. Government entities shall be 
exempt from this bond requirement. 

Exception: fireworks in accordance with California code of regulations, title 19, Division 
I, chapter 6, see section 5608. 
 

SECTION 5601.9 PROHIBITED AND LIMITED ACTS. ADDED 
 

5601.9 Prohibited and limited acts. The storage of explosive materials is prohibited in all zoning 
districts except district zone for industrial or agricultural uses. In districts where the storage of 
explosive materials is permitted, the quantities of explosives and distances shall be in accordance 
with California fire code section 5601.8 

 
Chapter 57 is adopted in its entirety as amended below. 
 

SECTION 5704.2.9.6.1 LOCATIONS WHERE ABOVE GROUND TANKS ARE 
PROHIBITED. AMENDED  
 
5704.2.9.6.1 Locations where above-ground tanks are prohibited. Storage of class I and 2 liquids 
in above-ground tanks is prohibited in all zoning districts except districts zoned for commercial, 
industrial, or agricultural use. 
 
SECTION 5706.2.4.4 LOCATIONS WHERE ABOVE-GROUND TANKS ARE 
PROHIBITED. AMENDED 
 
5706.2.4.4 Locations where above-ground tanks are prohibited. Locations where above-ground 
tanks are prohibited. Storage of class I and 2 liquids in above-ground tanks is prohibited in all 
zoning districts except districts zoned for commercial, industrial, or agricultural use 
 

Chapter 58 is adopted in its entirety as amended below. 
 
SECTION 5806.2 LIMITATIONS. AMENDED 
 
5806.2 Limitations. The storage of flammable cryogenic fluids in stationary containers outside of 
buildings is prohibited in any area which is zoned for other than industrial use. 
 
Exception: Hydrogen fuel systems in compliance with section 5806.3 or 5806.4.  
 

Chapter 61 is adopted in its entirety as amended below. 
 

SECTION 6104.2 MAXIMUM CAPACITY WITHIN ESTABLISHED LIMITS. 
AMENDED 
 
6104.2 Maximum capacity within established limits. The storage of liquefied petroleum gases 
prohibited in any central business district and in all zoning districts except districts zoned for 
commercial, industrial, rural, or agricultural uses. The aggregate capacity of any one installation 
used for the storage of liquefied petroleum gas shall not exceed a water capacity of 2000 gallons 
(7570 L). 
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Appendix B fire flow requirements for buildings is adopted in its entirety as amended below. 
 

TABLE B105.2 REQUIRED FIRE FLOW FOR BUILDINGS OTHER THAN ONE AND 2 
FAMILY DWELLINGS, GROUP R-3 AND R-4 BUILDINGS AND TOWNHOMES. 
AMENDED. 
 

Table B105.2 
REQUIRED FIRE FLOW FOR BUILDINGS OTHER THAN ONE AND 2 FAMILY 

DWELLINGS, GROUP R-3 AND R-4 BUILDINGS AND TOWNHOUSES 
 

Automatic Sprinkler System  
(Design Standard) 

Minimum Fire Flow 
(Gallons Per Minute) 

Flow Duration 
(Hours) 

No automatic sprinkler system Value in Table B 105.1 (2) Duration in Table B 105.1 (2) 
Section 903.3.1.1 of the 

California Fire Code 
50% of the value in table B105.1 

(2)a 
Duration in table B105.1 (2) at 

the reduced flow rate 
Section 903.3.1.2 of the 

California Fire Codec 
50% of the value in table B105.1 

(2)b 
Duration in table B105.1 (2) at 

the reduced flow rate 
For SI: 1 gallon per minute equals 3.785 L per minute 

a. The reduced fire flow shall not be less than 1000 gallons per minute. 
b. The reduced fire flow shall not be less than 1500 gallons per minute. 
c. Section 903.3.1.2 of the California Fire Code has been amended by the San Mateo Consolidated Fire 

Department 
 

 
 
Appendix C number and distribution of fire hydrants is adopted in its entirety as amended below. 
 

TABLE C 102.1 OF APPENDIX C. AMENDED 

 TABLE NO. C102.1 

NUMBER AND DISTRIBUTION OF FIRE HYDRANTSf 

FIRE FLOW 
REQUIREMENT 

(GPM) 

MINIMUM 
NUMBER OF 
HYDRANTS 

AVERAGE 
SPACING 

BETWEEN 
HYDRANTS a, b, c,  

d, e  
(Ft.) 

MAXIMUM DISTANCE 
FROM  

HYDRANT TO ANY POINT 
ON STREET OR 

ROADWAY FRONTAGE 
(Ft.) 

1750 or less 1 250 150 
2000-2250 2 250 150 
2500-3250 3 250 150 
3500-4250 4 250 150 
4500-5250 5 250 150 
5500-5750 6 250 150 
6000-6250 6 250 150 
6500-7250 7 250 150 
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7500 or more 8 or morec 200 120 
For SI: 1 foot equals 304.8 mm, 1 gallon per minute equals 3.785 L per minute. 
 
a. Reduce by 100 feet for dead-end streets or roadways. 

 b. Hydrants shall be required on both sides of the street whenever one or more of the following conditions exist: 
i. Street has a median center divider that makes access to hydrants difficult, causes a time delay or creates an undue 
hazard; 
ii. There are four or more lanes of traffic; 

  iii. Width of the street is in excess of 88 feet; or 
 iv. The existing street will be widened or will have a raised median center divider installed in the future pursuant to the 

General Plan Roadway Improvement Plans. 
 c. One hydrant for each 1,000 GPM or fraction thereof. 
 d. Where new water mains are extended along streets where hydrants are not needed for protection of structures or similar fire 

problems, fire hydrants should be provided every 1,000 feet of street to provide for transportation hazards. In addition, there shall 
be at least one hydrant at each intersection. 

 e. Average spacing between hydrants may be extended to 500 feet on streets serving one- and two-family dwellings. 
 f. The fire code official is authorized to modify the location, number and distribution of fire hydrants based on site-specific 

constraints and hazards. 
 
 

Appendix D Fire Apparatus Access Roads is adopted in its entirety. 
 

 
Appendix O temporary haunted houses, ghost walks and similar amusement uses is adopted in its 
entirety 

 
 
 
PART IV- VIOLATIONS.   
 
It is unlawful to violate or fail to comply with any provisions of this Code, or violate or fail to comply 
with any order made under this Code or to build in violation of any detailed statement of specification or 
plans submitted and approved under this Code, or any certificate or permit issued under this Code. 
 
PART V- FIRE AND LIFE SAFETY INSPECTIONS.   
 
Inspections by the Fire Department shall periodically be made of buildings and structures that are used for 
residential or non-residential purposes as follows: 

a)  The time and frequency of inspections shall be determined by the Fire Chief.  No buildings 
shall be inspected for a fee more than annually except for re-inspections to assure that code 
corrections have been made or hazards have been corrected. 
b)  A fee for inspections shall be established in the adopted Master Fee Schedule to offset costs of 
the regulatory inspection program and shall be collected upon inspection from each property 
subject to this ordinance.  Revenues shall be used for the inspection and enforcement program. 
c)  All properties shall be subject to inspection fees. 
d)  Nothing in this section is intended to prevent inspections of property under nuisance 
abatement or other laws. 

 
PART VI- ENVIRONMENTAL DETERMINATION.   
 
The Department Board of Directors finds that the modifications to California building standards, adopted 
by reference by the proposed ordinance, are enacted to provide a safer, more protected environment in 
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response to local conditions, including local climatic, geological, and topographical conditions.  The 
adoption of this ordinance is exempt from review under the California Environmental Quality Act (Public 
Resources Code section 21000 et seq., “CEQA”) as the Ordinance is not a “project” as defined under 
CEQA. Moreover, the Ordinance is exempt from review pursuant to the CEQA Guidelines (California 
Code of Regulations Title 14, Chapter 3) consistent with, among other things, CEQA Guidelines Section 
15061(b)(3), Section 15308, and Section 15321.  
 
PART VII- NOTICE PROVIDED.   
 
This Ordinance shall be published in summary in the San Francisco Examiner, posted in the Departments 
administrative offices, and posted on the Department’s Website, and shall be effective on January 1, 
2020. 
 



Attachment 1 

  
 

San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department 
 

FINDINGS IN SUPPORT OF LOCAL AMENDMENTS TO THE 2019 CALIFORNIA FIRE CODE  
AS ADOPTED BY THE SAN MATEO CONSOLIDATED FIRE DEPARTMENT 

THAT IMPLEMENT ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
DUE TO LOCAL CLIMATIC, GEOLOGICAL, AND TOPOGRAPHICAL CONDITIONS  

  
WHEREAS, pursuant to Sections 17958.5, 17958.7, and 18941.5 of the State of California 

Health and Safety Code, the Board of Directors for the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department 
(“Department”) has determined and finds that the attached changes or modifications to the 2018 
International Fire Code with the 2019 California Amendments are needed and are reasonably 
necessary because of local climatic, geological, and topographical conditions.   
 

WHEREAS, based upon information provided by staff in support of these proposed 
amendments to the Fire Code and similar information provided in support of prior amendments 
and facts on which a local court could take judicial notice documenting the unique conditions 
found in the Board of Directors for the  Department, it is expressly found by the Department Board 
of Directors that the following unique conditions are undisputed and do exist in the jurisdiction 
and that as a result, modifications to the 2019 California Fire Code are reasonably necessary for 
the Department. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR THE SAN MATEO CONSOLIDATED 
FIRE DEPARTMENT HEREBY ORDAINS THAT: 
 
1. Climatic 
The weather patterns within the Department are considered to be moderately affected by 
westerly winds that can average from 10-15 mph and gusts that can exceed 40 mph which are 
experienced almost year-round.  Fog is a common occurrence in the jurisdiction, becoming quite 
dense at times. An average year’s rainfall is approximately 22.95 inches, while summer conditions 
are hot and dry.  These summer conditions create hazardous fuel situations that have caused 
grassland and brush land fires in recent years.  Year-round average temperatures range from 58 
in the winter to 81 degrees during the summer, however high temperatures have ranged from 75 
in the winter to 110 degrees in the summer.  Low humidity, high temperatures and gusting winds 
can move a fire quickly in the hillsides and canyon areas of the Department and can tax the 
capabilities of its urban designed fire department. Lower water pressure in these areas also affects 
the abilities to quickly suppress any fires. Climate Change is expected to adversely affect these 
conditions, moving the weather towards more extremes in the coming years. 
 
Because of the unpredictable weather patterns, intermittent drought and water rationing can be 
expected, causing dry vegetation and hazardous fire conditions.  Weather patterns can go to the 
other extreme with heavy rains creating higher fuel load in the hillsides.  A heavy rain pattern 
would also impact a flood plain area located in the northeast portion of the Department.  This 
condition has the potential of causing additional barriers in this area when flooding blocks streets 
and underpasses.   
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The conditions described in this section make it reasonably necessary for the Department to adopt 
the following ordinance sections as modifications to the 2019 California Fire Code and these 
findings are specifically intended to satisfy the requirements of California Health and Safety Code 
Section 17958.7 in that regard:    
 
San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department Ordinance Part I (Adoption), Part II (Applicability), Part 
3 amending CFC Sections 108, 202, 303, 304, 305, 306, 307, 308, 309, 310, 501.1, 503.1.1, 503.3.1, 
505.1, 505.1.1, 505.1.2, 505.1.3, 506.1.1.1, 506.1.1.2, 508.2, 901.6.3.2, 903.2, 903.3.1.2, , 
903.2.20, 903.3.1.2, 903.4.2, 905.3.1, Chapter 49, 5601.1.3, 5601.1.3.1, 5601.2.4, 5601.9, 
5704.2.9.6.1, 5706.2.4.4, 5806.2, 6104.2, Table B105.2, Table C102.1, Appendix D, section D106.1, 
D107.1, Part IV (Violations), and Part V (Fire and Life Safety Inspections). 
  
 
2. Geographical 
The jurisdiction’s geography is diverse, with scenic hillsides to the west and north and the San 
Francisco Bay shoreline and in-land lagoons to the northeast.  Certain eastern portions of the 
Department is built on landfill.  These geographic features establish roadways, waterways and 
building sites and create barriers for accessibility for fire suppression forces.  Such geological 
barriers increase fire emergency response time.  
 
The cities in the Department’s jurisdiction lie near several potentially active seismic hazards, 
including the San Andreas and San Mateo Faults.  Seismic activity within the Department occurs 
yearly with little or no damage, although in 1989 the Loma Prieta Earthquake caused substantial 
damage (building collapses, fires, closure of main travel arteries, medical emergencies, etc.) from 
San Francisco to Santa Cruz.  Within minutes of the quake all emergency services were exhausted.  
Additionally, a large quake, greater than 6.7 magnitude is predicted along one of the major Bay 
Area Earthquake Faults before 2030. Landslide areas become a critical concern with seismic 
activity due to the possibility of liquefaction.  The northern hillsides create slopes in excess of 60% 
with an average of between 5-10%.  The Department continues to see building on these hillside 
areas.  Such sites are prone to landslide activity during the rainy season and during seismic activity. 
 
The Department is located in a nationally recognized earthquake prone area which caused unique 
challenges for fire and disaster relief agencies.  Because the problem is regional and potentially 
suffocating in scope, tailored response programs with other agencies are essential.  Seismic 
considerations, elsewhere not applicable, must be recognized in all construction projects. 
 
The conditions described in this section make it reasonably necessary for the Department to adopt 
the following ordinance sections as modifications to the 2019 California Fire Code and these 
findings are specifically intended to satisfy the requirements of California Health and Safety Code 
Section 17958.7 in that regard:   
 
San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department Ordinance Part I (Adoption), Part II (Applicability), Part 
3 amending CFC Sections 108, 202, 303, 304, 305, 306, 307, 307.1.1, 307.4.1, 307.4.2, 308, 309, 
310, 311, 501.1, 503.1.1, 503.3.1, 505.1, 505.1.1, 505.1.2, 505.1.3, 506.1.1.1, 506.1.1.2, 508.2, 
510.4.2, 510.4.2.9, 510.5.2, 510.5.2.1, 510.5.2.2, 510.5.2.3, 510.5.3.1, 405, 406, 901.6.3.2, 903.2, 
903.3.1.2, , 903.2.20, 903.3.1.2, 903.4.2, 905.3.1, 907.1.6, 907.1.6.1, 1009.3.1, Table B105.2, Table 
C102.1, Appendix D, section D106.1, D107.1, Part IV (Violations), and Part V (Fire and Life Safety 
Inspections). 
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3. Topographical 
The topographical element is associated closely with the geographical element noted above.  The 
Department’s water supply (domestic and fire flow) system is directly affected by the 
topographical layout of the member cities comprising the Department.  The distribution system 
consists of “lift-zones,” which carry the water to the public via conduits of water pipes from 
various reservoirs, storage tanks, and dammed areas.  In these “lift-zones” the pressure and flows 
are adequate at the lower elevations of the zone, but as the elevation increase water flow can 
vary greatly.  Such variations create predictable problems for fire suppression units.    
 
The roadway system through the Department is, by and large, designed around the topographical 
lay of the land with narrow, steep grades, large highway over-passes and roadways inefficient to 
handle current traffic demands.  This creates “barriers” that increase the fire department 
response time. 
 
Additionally, developers are creating denser residential developments in many areas throughout 
the Department.  There is a trend to develop more concentrated structures such as “podium” 
buildings which are residential, or business occupancies built over parking structures. These 
structures are generally built with reduced access around the building because they are being 
constructed in a “Built-out” environment, replacing existing structures. These larger, denser 
developments generally add 3+ minutes to response times by creating unique challenges to 
accessing and suppressing fires.  The additional time could allow “flashover” to occur (“Flashover” 
occurs when a fire can burn freely without any suppression intervention, causing the structure or 
room to become completely engulfed with fire in a short time).  These “podium” buildings are 
generally designed to support a higher occupancy load.  Mid-rise buildings also pose unique 
suppression challenges because of the size and complexity of the building footprint that adds to 
the time needed to locate a fire. The height of these structures, and the combustible nature of 
the buildings built above the podium present additional challenges when it comes to fire 
extinguishment and rescue. The higher density of buildings in the jurisdiction, along with the hills 
of the jurisdiction pose challenges for the radio systems used by the department for emergency 
communications. Inadequate communications pose a direct threat to the health and wellbeing of 
responders.  
 
The remaining structures (those not redeveloped into larger, denser structures) pose another 
concern in that they lack adequate fire protection like firewalls, fire extinguishing systems, fire 
alarm system, etc.  Historical buildings also create cause for concern in that they were built under 
less stringent building codes and with narrower setback requirements, creating further “barriers” 
that firefighters must work around.  Some of these buildings date as far back as 100 years and are 
irreplaceable, holding significant historical. 
 
The western hills of the jurisdiction are steep, and are covered in many different kinds of 
vegetation. There are structures built in and bordering densely vegetated areas, making the 
spread of vegetation fires to structures more likely. 
 
The conditions described in this section make it reasonably necessary for the Department to adopt 
the following ordinance sections as modifications to the 2019 California Fire Code and these 
findings are specifically intended to satisfy the requirements of California Health and Safety Code 
Section 17958.7 in that regard:   
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San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department Ordinance Part I (Adoption), Part II (Applicability), Part 
3 amending CFC Sections 108, 202, 303, 304, 305, 306, 307, 308, 309, 310, 311, 318, 319.1.1, 
501.1, 503.1.1, 503.3.1, 505.1, 505.1.1, 505.1.2, 505.1.3, 506.1.1.1, 506.1.1.2, 508.2, 510.4.2, 
510.4.2.9, 510.5.2, 510.5.2.1, 510.5.2.2, 510.5.2.3, 510.5.3.1, 405, 406, 901.6.3.2, 903.2, 
903.3.1.2, , 903.2.20, 903.3.1.2, 903.4.2, 905.3.1, 907.1.6, 907.1.6.1, 1009.3.1, Table B105.2, Table 
C102.1, Appendix D, section D106.1, D107.1, Part IV (Violations), and Part V (Fire and Life Safety 
Inspections). 
 
 
 



 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 
 
 
To:   San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department Board of Directors 
  
From:  John Healy, Fire Chief 
  
Date:  October 8, 2019 
 
Subject: Revised Salary Schedule for Fire Chief Classification    

 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
Adopt a resolution approving the revised Merit Salary Schedule to reflect the hourly, monthly and annual 
ranges for the Fire Chief classification. 
 
BACKGROUND 
At the September 11, 2019 Fire Board meeting, the Board of Directors approved a 2% salary increase for 
the Fire Chief position to be effective retroactively on July 14, 2019.  
 
Title 2 of the California Code of Regulations (CCR), Section 570.5, requires the Fire Board to adopt a full 
salary schedule as a standalone document detailing the rates of pay for each department classification, 
and to maintain this salary schedule as a publicly available document for at least five years. The California 
Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) uses this salary schedule to determine the “compensation 
earnable” when calculating the monthly pension an individual will receive when they retire. 
“Compensation earnable” is defined by the Public Employees Retirement Law (PERL) Government Code 
Sections 20636, and 20636.1 as pay rates and special compensation as defined in the statutes.  
      
The Fire Chief position of the Merit Salary Schedule has been revised to include monthly, hourly, and 
annual ranges based on this change, and conform to the California Public Employees Retirement System’s 
(CalPERS) reporting requirements.         
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
There is no fiscal impact related to the adoption of this Resolution.   
 
ATTACHMENTS  
A. Resolution 
B. Merit Salary Schedule 
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RESOLUTION NO.   
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SAN MATEO 
CONSOLIDATED FIRE DEPARTMENT APPROVING THE REVISED MERIT 

SALARY SCHEDULE TO REFLECT THE HOURLY, MONTHLY AND ANNUAL 
RANGES FOR THE FIRE CHIEF CLASSIFICATION 

 
 WHEREAS, at the September 11, 2019 meeting, the San Mateo Consolidated Fire 
Department Board of Directors (“Fire Board”) approved a 2% salary increase for the Fire Chief 
position to be effective retroactively on July 14, 2019; and,   
 
 WHEREAS, Title 2 of the California Code of Regulations (CCR), Section 570.5, requires 
the Fire Board to adopt a full salary schedule as a standalone document detailing the rates of pay 
for each department classification, and to maintain this salary schedule as a publicly available 
document for at least five years; and,  
 
 WHEREAS, the California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) uses this 
salary schedule to determine the compensation earnable when calculating the monthly pension an 
individual will receive when they retire; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Fire Chief position on the Merit Salary Schedule has been revised to 
include monthly, hourly, and annual ranges based on this change, and conform to the CalPERS 
reporting requirements.  
 
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, the Board of Directors of the San Mateo Consolidated Fire 
Department resolves as follows:  
 

1. Approve the revised Merit Salary Schedule to reflect the hourly, monthly and annual 
ranges for the Fire Chief classification.  
  

 
*** 

 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED as a resolution of the Board of Directors of the San Mateo 
Consolidated Fire Department at the regular meeting held on the 8th day of October, 2019, by the 
following vote:  
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AYES:   

  

 
NOES:  

  

 
ABSENT:   

  

 
ABSTAIN:   

  

  
 

ATTEST: 

  

Board Secretary 

  

Board President 

 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

  

William D. Ross, General Counsel 

 
  
 

 



San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department
 Merit Salary Schedule

Effective Date: 09/11/2019 *

TITLE
E=Exempt

NE=Non Ex

JOB 

CODE STEPS HOURLY BI-WEEKLY MONTHLY ANNUAL

5340 ADMINISTRATIVE 

ASSISTANT

NE  30.96STEP 1  64,402.80 2,477.03  5,366.90

 32.36STEP 2  67,317.96 2,589.15  5,609.83

 33.80STEP 3  70,306.80 2,704.11  5,858.90

 35.32STEP 4  73,467.96 2,825.69  6,122.33

 36.92STEP 5  76,788.96 2,953.42  6,399.08

5025 ADMINISTRATIVE 

TECHNICIAN

NE  37.46STEP 1  77,920.56 2,996.94  6,493.38

 39.12STEP 2  81,376.80 3,129.88  6,781.40

 40.90STEP 3  85,066.80 3,271.80  7,088.90

 42.77STEP 4  88,953.60 3,421.29  7,412.80

 44.66STEP 5  92,901.96 3,573.15  7,741.83

2106 BUSINESS MANAGER E  56.36STEP 1  117,219.00 4,508.42  9,768.25

 58.89STEP 2  122,483.88 4,710.92  10,206.99

 61.54STEP 3  128,004.60 4,923.25  10,667.05

 64.31STEP 4  133,758.48 5,144.56  11,146.54

 67.20STEP 5  139,770.84 5,375.80  11,647.57

2410 DEPUTY FIRE CHIEF E  100.10STEP 1  208,197.72 8,007.60  17,349.81

 105.10STEP 2  218,607.60 8,407.98  18,217.30

 110.35STEP 3  229,538.04 8,828.39  19,128.17

3160 DEPUTY FIRE MARSHAL NE  61.97STEP 1  128,893.80 4,957.45  10,741.15

 64.71STEP 2  134,598.36 5,176.86  11,216.53

 67.69STEP 3  140,791.08 5,415.04  11,732.59

 70.73STEP 4  147,112.56 5,658.18  12,259.38

 73.89STEP 5  153,690.96 5,911.19  12,807.58

2482 EMERGENCY SERVICES 

MANAGER

E  48.98STEP 1  101,879.52 3,918.44  8,489.96

 51.19STEP 2  106,467.12 4,094.89  8,872.26

 53.48STEP 3  111,230.88 4,278.11  9,269.24

 55.89STEP 4  116,246.40 4,471.02  9,687.20

 58.43STEP 5  121,539.72 4,674.60  10,128.31

5345 EMERGENCY SERVICES 

SPECIALIST

NE  30.96STEP 1  64,402.80 2,477.03  5,366.90

 32.36STEP 2  67,317.96 2,589.15  5,609.83

 33.80STEP 3  70,306.80 2,704.11  5,858.90

 35.32STEP 4  73,467.96 2,825.69  6,122.33

 36.92STEP 5  76,788.96 2,953.42  6,399.08

2141 EMS CLINICAL 

EDUCATION SPECST

E  48.98STEP 1  101,879.52 3,918.44  8,489.96

 51.19STEP 2  106,467.12 4,094.89  8,872.26

 53.48STEP 3  111,230.88 4,278.11  9,269.24

 55.89STEP 4  116,246.40 4,471.02  9,687.20

 58.43STEP 5  121,539.72 4,674.60  10,128.31

* Fire Board Action 9/11/19, applied retroactive 2% inc. eff. 7/14/19 for Fire Chief. All Classifications 40hr/wk unless 
noted.
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San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department
Merit Salary Schedule

Effective Date: 09/11/2019 *

TITLE
E=Exempt

NE=Non Ex

JOB 

CODE STEPS HOURLY BI-WEEKLY MONTHLY ANNUAL

2085 FIRE BAT CHIEF-40 E  78.32STEP 1  162,904.80 6,265.57  13,575.40

 82.24STEP 2  171,050.04 6,578.85  14,254.17

 86.35STEP 3  179,603.16 6,907.81  14,966.93

 90.66STEP 4  188,576.52 7,252.94  15,714.71

 95.20STEP 5  198,007.20 7,615.66  16,500.60

2086 FIRE BAT CHIEF-56 E  55.94STEP 1  162,904.80 6,265.57  13,575.40

 58.74STEP 2  171,050.04 6,578.85  14,254.17

 61.68STEP 3  179,603.16 6,907.81  14,966.93

 64.76STEP 4  188,576.52 7,252.94  15,714.71

 68.00STEP 5  198,007.20 7,615.66  16,500.60

3121 FIRE CAPTAIN-40 (LT 

DUTY)

NE  63.23STEP 1  131,525.16 5,058.66  10,960.43

 66.12STEP 2  137,532.84 5,289.72  11,461.07

 69.10STEP 3  143,720.52 5,527.71  11,976.71

3120 FIRE CAPTAIN-56 NE  45.17STEP 1  131,525.16 5,058.66  10,960.43

 47.23STEP 2  137,532.84 5,289.72  11,461.07

 49.35STEP 3  143,720.52 5,527.71  11,976.71

1150 FIRE CHIEF E  116.64STEP 1  242,602.68 9,330.87  20,216.89

 122.47STEP 2  254,732.76 9,797.41  21,227.73

 128.59STEP 3  267,469.44 10,287.29  22,289.12

2430 FIRE MARSHAL E  78.32STEP 1  162,904.80 6,265.57  13,575.40

 82.24STEP 2  171,050.04 6,578.85  14,254.17

 86.35STEP 3  179,603.16 6,907.81  14,966.93

 90.66STEP 4  188,576.52 7,252.94  15,714.71

 95.20STEP 5  198,007.20 7,615.66  16,500.60

3175 FIRE PREV INSPECT I NE  48.97STEP 1  101,860.92 3,917.73  8,488.41

 51.17STEP 2  106,435.20 4,093.66  8,869.60

 53.51STEP 3  111,291.60 4,280.45  9,274.30

 55.91STEP 4  116,302.32 4,473.17  9,691.86

 58.42STEP 5  121,518.72 4,673.80  10,126.56

3178 FIRE PREV INSPECT II NE  53.88STEP 1  112,062.72 4,310.10  9,338.56

 56.30STEP 2  117,099.12 4,503.81  9,758.26

 58.82STEP 3  122,341.20 4,705.43  10,195.10

 61.46STEP 4  127,840.20 4,916.93  10,653.35

 64.24STEP 5  133,621.80 5,139.30  11,135.15

3142 FIREFIGHTER 

TRAINEE-40

NE  40.22STEP 1  83,664.12 3,217.85  6,972.01

 42.04STEP 2  87,452.40 3,363.55  7,287.70

* Fire Board Action 9/11/19, applied retroactive 2% inc. eff. 7/14/19 for Fire Chief. All Classifications 40hr/wk unless 
noted.
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San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department
Merit Salary Schedule

Effective Date: 09/11/2019 *

TITLE
E=Exempt

NE=Non Ex

JOB 

CODE STEPS HOURLY BI-WEEKLY MONTHLY ANNUAL

3143 FIREFIGHTER 

TRAINEE-56

NE  28.73STEP 1  83,664.12 3,217.85  6,972.01

 30.03STEP 2  87,452.40 3,363.55  7,287.70

3144 FIREFIGHTER-40 (LT 

DUTY)

NE  47.59STEP 0  98,981.16 3,806.97  8,248.43

 49.60STEP 1  103,176.60 3,968.33  8,598.05

 51.78STEP 2  107,709.72 4,142.68  8,975.81

 54.14STEP 3  112,602.36 4,330.86  9,383.53

 56.61STEP 4  117,746.52 4,528.71  9,812.21

 59.15STEP 5  123,034.80 4,732.11  10,252.90

3140 FIREFIGHTER-56 NE  33.99STEP 0  98,981.16 3,806.97  8,248.43

 35.43STEP 1  103,176.60 3,968.33  8,598.05

 36.99STEP 2  107,709.72 4,142.68  8,975.81

 38.67STEP 3  112,602.36 4,330.86  9,383.53

 40.43STEP 4  117,746.52 4,528.71  9,812.21

 42.25STEP 5  123,034.80 4,732.11  10,252.90

2078 FLEET & FACILITIES 

MANAGER

E  58.33STEP 1  121,331.40 4,666.59  10,110.95

 61.04STEP 2  126,767.64 4,875.68  10,563.97

 63.69STEP 3  132,476.04 5,095.23  11,039.67

 66.55STEP 4  138,431.28 5,324.28  11,535.94

 69.56STEP 5  144,683.28 5,564.74  12,056.94

2023 MGMT ANALYST I NE  40.56STEP 1  84,362.16 3,244.70  7,030.18

 42.40STEP 2  88,193.16 3,392.04  7,349.43

 44.28STEP 3  92,100.00 3,542.31  7,675.00

 46.28STEP 4  96,258.96 3,702.27  8,021.58

 48.34STEP 5  100,544.04 3,867.08  8,378.67

2022 MGMT ANALYST II E  44.53STEP 1  92,629.56 3,562.68  7,719.13

 46.56STEP 2  96,838.80 3,724.57  8,069.90

 48.63STEP 3  101,149.08 3,890.35  8,429.09

 50.82STEP 4  105,711.00 4,065.81  8,809.25

 53.09STEP 5  110,424.12 4,247.08  9,202.01

5230 OFFICE ASSISTANT I NE  23.51STEP 1  48,892.56 1,880.48  4,074.38

 24.55STEP 2  51,069.60 1,964.22  4,255.80

 25.62STEP 3  53,295.96 2,049.84  4,441.33

 26.80STEP 4  55,743.60 2,143.98  4,645.30

 28.00STEP 5  58,240.56 2,240.02  4,853.38

* Fire Board Action 9/11/19, applied retroactive 2% inc. eff. 7/14/19 for Fire Chief. All Classifications 40hr/wk unless 
noted.
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San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department
Merit Salary Schedule

Effective Date: 09/11/2019 *

TITLE
E=Exempt

NE=Non Ex

JOB 

CODE STEPS HOURLY BI-WEEKLY MONTHLY ANNUAL

5430 OFFICE ASSISTANT II NE  28.34STEP 1  58,953.96 2,267.46  4,912.83

 29.76STEP 2  61,893.60 2,380.52  5,157.80

 31.25STEP 3  64,993.20 2,499.74  5,416.10

 32.81STEP 4  68,240.40 2,624.63  5,686.70

 34.45STEP 5  71,659.80 2,756.15  5,971.65

* Fire Board Action 9/11/19, applied retroactive 2% inc. eff. 7/14/19 for Fire Chief. All Classifications 40hr/wk unless 
noted.
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STAFF REPORT 
 
 
 
To:   San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department Board of Directors 
  
From:  John Healy, Fire Chief 
  
Date:  October 8, 2019 
 
Subject: Public Education Class Refund Policy    

 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
Adopt a resolution approving the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department’s Public Education Class 
Refund policy. 
 
BACKGROUND 
Following the commencement of operations on January 13, 2019, staff from the Community Risk 
Reduction Division (CRRD) recognized the need to develop a policy to address refunds associated with 
student registration fees for public education classes.         
 
ANALYSIS 
CRRD staff reviewed refund policies from the cities of San Mateo, Foster City and Belmont’s Park & 
Recreation departments and developed a department policy, the purpose of which is to establish a 
procedure that will provide guidance to staff and the public regarding specific circumstances that qualify 
for the issuance of a refund of student registration fees. This policy was reviewed & approved at the Fire 
Action Consensus Team (FACT) Committee meeting on September 24, 2019.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
It is anticipated these refunds will have a minimal impact to the CRRD budget, however staff will be 
monitoring them throughout the year.   
 
ATTACHMENTS  
A. Resolution 
B. Refund Policy 
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RESOLUTION NO.   
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SAN MATEO 
CONSOLIDATED (SMC) FIRE DEPARTMENT APPROVING THE PUBLIC 

EDUCATION CLASS REFUND POLICY 
 
 WHEREAS, following commencement of operations on January 13, 2019, staff from the 
Community Risk Reduction Division (CRRD) recognized the need to develop a policy to address 
refunds associated with student registration fees for public education classes; and,   
 
 WHEREAS, CRRD staff reviewed refund policies from the cities of San Mateo, Foster 
City and Belmont’s Parks & Recreation Departments; and,  
 
 WHEREAS, the purpose of the policy is to establish a procedure that will provide 
guidance to staff and the public regarding specific circumstances that qualify for the issuance of 
a refund of student registration fees.  
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, the Board of Directors of the San Mateo Consolidated Fire 
Department resolves as follows:  
 

1. Approve the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department’s Public Education Class 
Refund policy.  
  

 
*** 

 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED as a resolution of the Board of Directors of the San Mateo 
Consolidated Fire Department at the regular meeting held on the 8th day of October, 2019, by the 
following vote:  
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AYES:   

  

 
NOES:  

  

 
ABSENT:   

  

 
ABSTAIN:   

  

  
 

ATTEST: 

  

Board Secretary 

  

Board President 

 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

  

William D. Ross, General Counsel 
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ARTICLE   C:  ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE 

 

SECTION   20: PUBLIC EDUCATION CLASS REFUND POLICY 

 

POLICY 

 

To define and implement procedural guidance for processing refunds for public education 

programs. 

 

PURPOSE 

 

The purpose of the public education class refund policy is to establish a procedure that will 

provide guidance to staff and the public regarding specific circumstances that qualify for the 

issuance of a refund of student registration fees. 

 

PROCEDURE 

 

9.1 Refunds 

  

The following conditions apply to all requests for the refund of fees paid to register for any 

public education class offered by the department: 

 

A. To qualify for a refund, all refund requests must be received by the department in writing/ 

via email 7 days before the class begins.  

B. A $10 cancellation fee will be deducted from all refunds.  

C. No refund/credit will be given for the processing fee, as this is charged by a third party 

for the convenience of using the online registration service.   

D. No refund/credit will be issued after the class begins.  

E. Medical emergencies may be exempt from this policy with certification from a doctor. 

F. All refunds will be given in the form of a check. Please allow 4 - 6 weeks to receive the 

check.  

G. Certain classes may have specific refund policies that will be clearly stated on 

registration materials for those classes. 

 

9.2 Transfers/Substitutions   

 

The following conditions apply to all requests to transfer an individual registration from one 

class to a future class, or to substitute a named individual registration for any public education 

class offered by the department: 

 

A. Make-up classes are not always available and are at the departments discretion.  

B. If the department offers a make-up opportunity, a registration may be transferred to 

another class when the request is made in writing/via email 7 days before the 

commencement of the original class. 

C. A new individual may be substituted for an original registrant when the request is made 

in writing/via email 7 days before the commencement of the original class. 
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9.3 Waitlists 

 

The following conditions apply to all public education classes offered by the department: 

 

A. A wait list is established if a class is full.  

B. If a space becomes available, staff will notify the participant via telephone and email; 

payment will not be charged until attendance is confirmed. 

C. Openings will be filled on a first come, first served basis. 

 

9.4 Cancelled Classes 

 

The following conditions apply to all public education classes offered by the department: 

 

A. Classes that don’t meet the minimum enrollment one week before the class starts will be 

cancelled.  

B. If a class is cancelled, participants are notified via phone and email of two options: 

a. Registrant may transfer to another available class 

b. Registrant may receive a full refund less the processing fee, as this is charged by a 

third party for the convenience of using the online registration service. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Created: 9/24/2019 

FACT approved: 9/24/2019 

Review: 9/2022 



   
 

   
 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 
 
 
To:    San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department Board of Directors    
  
From:  John Healy, Fire Chief 
   
Meeting Date: October 8, 2019 
 
Subject:   Department Job Descriptions  

 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
Adopt a resolution approving the Department’s Job Descriptions.   
 
BACKGROUND  
Since the commencement of operations of San Mateo Consolidated (SMC) Fire on January 13, 2019, 
staff has had the opportunity to evaluate all positions and associated roles & responsibilities within each 
division based on the current organizational structure.   

ANALYSIS  
In cooperation with City of San Mateo Human Resources personnel, SMC Fire staff have developed job 
descriptions for each position within the organization. Each entry includes Definitions, Distinguishing 
Characteristics, Examples of Duties and Qualifications for every position.    

ATTACHMENTS 
A. Resolution 
B. Job Descriptions 
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RESOLUTION NO.   
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SAN MATEO 
CONSOLIDATED (SMC) FIRE DEPARTMENT APPROVING THE DEPARTMENT’S 

JOB DESCRIPTIONS 
 
 WHEREAS, SMC Fire commenced operations on January 13, 2019; and,  
 
 WHEREAS, following the commencement of operations, staff has had the opportunity to 
evaluate all positions and associated roles & responsibilities within each division of the 
organization; and,  
 
 WHEREAS, based on this evaluation, staff has developed job descriptions for each 
position within the organization.  
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, the Board of Directors of the San Mateo Consolidated Fire 
Department resolves as follows:  
 

1. Approve the Departmental Job Descriptions.  
  

 
*** 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED as a resolution of the Board of Directors of the San Mateo 

Consolidated Fire Department at the regular meeting held on the 8th day of October, 2019, by the 
following vote:  
  
AYES:  

  

 
NOES:  

  

 
ABSENT:   

  

 
ABSTAIN:   
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ATTEST: 

  

Board Secretary 

  

Board President 

 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

  

William D. Ross, General Counsel 

 
  
 

 



   
  

 
 

 
 
 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT 

 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To perform a wide variety of complex and difficult clerical and secretarial duties within Fire 
Administration; and to do related work as required. 
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
Positions at this level are distinguished from other classes within the series by the difficulty and 
complexity of duties assigned.  Employees perform some of the more difficult and responsible 
types of duties assigned to classes within this series including sole clerical support of a division 
or the supervision of lower level clerical positions in the management of a major department 
function.  Employees at this level are required to be fully trained in all procedures related to 
assigned area of responsibility.  Work requires a thorough knowledge of a body of technical 
information beyond standard policies and procedures, the use of independent judgment in 
applying the body of technical information in the performance of an important department 
function and complete responsibility for the function with review by management only on 
overall results. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general supervision from professional or management personnel, or a higher-level 
clerical position. 
 
May exercise direct or functional and technical supervision over lower level clerical positions. 
 
EXAMPLES OF DUTIES - Depending upon assignment, duties may include, but are not 
limited to, the following: 
 
Type and proofread a wide variety of reports, letters, memos and statistical charts, typing from 
rough draft. 
 
Independently compose correspondence related to responsibilities assigned. 
 
Apply applicable policies and procedures in determining completeness of applications, records 
and reports; provide information and forms to the public; collect and process appropriate 
information. 
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Respond to complaints and requests for information on regulations, procedures, systems and 
precedents relating to responsibilities assigned; issue, receive, type and process various 
applications, permits and other forms. 
 
Implement and assist in developing procedures and policies related to functions assigned. 
 
Research, compile, assemble and analyze data for special projects and a variety of statistical, 
financial and narrative reports. 
 
Research, compile and analyze data for special projects and a variety of statistical, financial and 
narrative reports; compile budget requests. 
 
May plan and assign the work of several clerical personnel in the performance of one or more 
important department functions or independently perform all the clerical work of a department 
function; review work upon completion for conformance to established requirements. 
 
Coordinate and participate in the preparation and processing of Fire Board agendas and 
coordinate the distribution and on-line posting of agenda packets. 
 
Sort and file documents and records, maintaining alphabetical, index, and cross-reference files. 
 
Act as receptionist; answer the telephone and wait on the general public, giving information on 
department policies and procedures as required. 
 
Maintain a variety of statistical records; input, format, and process statistical data; check and 
tabulate data; prepare simple statistical reports. 
 
Maintain personnel and payroll records of departmental personnel; process a variety of forms to 
initiate changes in records. 
 
Maintain inventory records; process purchase requisitions; maintain purchase records; resolve 
errors in orders received and invoices. 
 
Order office supplies; submit expense claims. 
 
Receive, sort and distribute incoming and outgoing correspondence. 
 
Perform general clerical work including filing, scheduling appointments, and processing 
personnel, payroll and purchasing information. 
 
QUALIFICATIONS 
 
 Knowledge of: 
 
 Basic principles of supervision and training. 
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 Business letter writing and basic report preparation. 
 
 English usage, spelling, grammar and punctuation. 
 
 Modern office methods, procedures, practices and computer equipment. 
 
 Principles and procedures of record keeping. 
 
 General statistical procedures. 
 
 Ability to: 
 
 Perform responsible and difficult secretarial work involving the use of independent 

judgment. 
 
 Type at a speed necessary for successful job performance. 
 
 Transcribe dictation at a speed necessary for successful job performance. 
 
 Learn department policies, procedures, organization and operating details. 
 
 Understand the organization and operation of City government and of outside agencies as 

necessary to assume assigned responsibilities. 
 
 Learn, understand, interpret and apply a body of technical information beyond normal 

department policies and procedures. 
 
 Plan and assign work and train other clerical employees. 
 
 Independently prepare correspondence and memorandums. 
 
 Operate a variety of office equipment including a computer terminal. 
 
 Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
 Understand and carry out oral and written directions. 
 
 Establish and maintain cooperative working relationships with those contacted in the course 

of work. 
 
EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING GUIDELINES 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would likely provide the required knowledge  
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the knowledge and abilities would be: 
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 Experience: 
 
 One year of general clerical experience comparable to that of an Administrative Assistant. 
 
  
 Education: 
 
 Equivalent to the completion of the twelfth grade supplemented by specialized clerical  
 training. 
 
 
ADA SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS: 
Essential duties require the following physical abilities and work environment: 
 
Ability to work in a standard office environment. 
 
 
Adopted Fire Board:  
Employee Group: General 
FLSA: Non-Exempt 
Pre-Appt. Medical: No 
Safety Sensitive: No 
Form 700: No 
Job Code: 5340 



   
  

 
 

 
 
 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE TECHNICIAN 

 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To perform technical level administrative duties in support of a City department or program; to 
research, collect, and analyze data and prepare draft reports; to track and report operational 
statistics; and to provide technical assistance to management. 
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
Positions at this level are distinguished from other classes within the series by the difficulty and 
complexity of duties assigned.  Employees perform some of the more difficult and responsible 
types of duties assigned to classes within this series including sole clerical support of a division 
or the supervision of lower level clerical positions in the management of a major department 
function.  Employees at this level are required to be fully trained in all procedures related to 
assigned area of responsibility.  Work requires a thorough knowledge of a body of technical 
information beyond standard policies and procedures, the use of independent judgment in 
applying the body of technical information in the performance of an important department 
function and complete responsibility for the function with review by management only on 
overall results. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general supervision from assigned supervisory personnel.  
 
May exercise direct supervision over administrative support personnel. 
 
 
EXAMPLES OF DUTIES - Depending upon assignment, duties may include, but are not 
limited to, the following: 
 
Develop, coordinate, and implement program activities of a technical area of assignment related 
to department activities and programs. 
 
Respond to requests for documentation related to assigned area of responsibility; explain and 
interpret assignment area policies and procedures to internal or external customers. 
 
Perform technical and paraprofessional duties related to area of assignment including 
interpreting, analyzing, and determining compliance or acceptance of information and materials; 
prepare reports to document results of duties performed. 
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Assist professional staff in performing and conducting studies, special projects, administrative 
and technical functions; perform data collection, research and analysis; prepare draft reports and 
technical documents; provide project oversight for the less complex or political projects. 
 
Assist with the development of Requests for Proposals and contract administration. 
  
Plan, prioritize, assign, supervise and review the work of administrative support staff involved in 
duties related to area of assignment. 
 
Establish and maintain systems related to assigned technical area of responsibility; monitor area 
activities and report progress as required. 
 
Ensure areas of responsibilities are in compliance with related laws, codes, ordinances, and 
legislation; advise staff of any irregularities in compliance. 
 
Review, verify and process documents related to department activities including budgets, 
contracts, grants, claims, legislation, purchasing, and other specialized documents based on area 
of assignment. 
 
Establish and maintain a wide variety of filing and reporting systems as necessary; develop 
record keeping procedures; provide relevant information to relevant parties prepare and type 
correspondence and compile and type reports. 
 
Compile and develop information for special studies and reports from a variety of resources; 
collect, compile and report findings and recommendations. 
 
Assist with the testing, implementation and maintenance of new/upgraded software technologies 
and systems; maintain a variety of databases. 
 
Assist supervisor and managers with a variety of administrative operations; prepare, recommend 
and implement procedural modifications. 
 
Coordinate and assist in the development and administration of a department budget; prepare 
budget reports; compile annual budget requests; monitor and classify expenditures; track and 
reconcile bills; produce budget reports; research and resolve discrepancies. 
 
Independently respond to letters, e-mail and general correspondence based on areas of 
assignment. 
 
Coordinate, compile and draft City Council communications, as requested. 
 
May perform a wide variety of complex, responsible, secretarial and administrative duties for 
executive staff and other management personnel including providing routine analytical support. 
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Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, other City employees and 
the public using principles of good customer service. 
 
Perform related duties as assigned. 
 
QUALIFICATIONS 
 
 Knowledge of: 
 
Principles and practices of administrative and/or technical area to which assigned.  
 
Principles and practices of intermediate analytical research and project coordination.  
 
Modern office equipment, methods, procedures, and computer hardware and software.  
 
Principles of budget monitoring. 
 
Principles and practices of project management. 
 
Techniques and principles of effective interpersonal communication.  
 
Principles and methods of business letter and report writing. 
 
Principles and practices of safety management. 
 
Pertinent local, State and Federal laws, codes, ordinances, City functions, policies, rules and 
regulations. 
 
General functions and objectives of municipal government.  
 
Research methods and techniques. 
 
Computer  software,  including word  processing, data  base,  spreadsheet  and  accounting 
applications. 
 
English  usage,  spelling,  punctuation  and  grammar;  and  arithmetic,  basic  mathematical 
calculations and statistics and statistical methods. 
 
Report writing techniques. 
 
 Ability to: 
 
 Independently perform a variety of technical duties including research, compilation and 

report development in support of assigned department or program. 
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 On a continuous basis, sit at a desk. Intermittently twist and reach office equipment; write 

and use keyboard to communicate through written means; run errands; lift or carry weight of 
10 pounds or less. 

  
 Intermittently review documents related to department operations; observe, identify and 

problem solve office operations and procedures; understand, interpret and explain department 
policies and procedures; explain operations and problem solve office issues for the public 
and with staff. 

 
 Operate a personal computer utilizing spreadsheet, word processing and database software at 

an intermediate to advanced level. 
 
 Collect, compile, analyze and present a variety of data in a meaningful way.  
 
 Develop and implement various data collection and reporting systems. 
 
 Interpret, apply and explain laws, rules, code and City policies and procedures.  
 
 Review budget submissions and revisions for mathematical and accounting accuracy. 
 
 Understand and translate City policies and practices into everyday working practices; make 

sound decisions with solid problem solving methods. 
 
 Supervise, train and evaluate assigned administrative support staff.  
 
 Understand and interpret complex policies, procedures and regulations. 
 
 Review documents and operational procedures; interpret, identify, explain and problem solve 

issues and recommend corrective action. 
 
 Obtain information through interview; handle multiple project assignments; and deal firmly 

and courteously with the public. 
 
 Analyze situations quickly and objectively to determine proper course of action. 
 
 Understand the organization and operations of the City and of outside agencies as necessary 

to assume assigned technical responsibilities. 
 
 Coordinate the development and monitoring of an assigned program project budget; project, 

track and reconcile expenses. 
 
 Compose professional quality correspondence and letters; write highly technical, detailed and 

analytical reports. 
 
 Maintain a high level of confidentiality of a wide range of sensitive information when 

involved with human resource, payroll or other confidential issues. 
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 Use principles of effective office safety including use of equipment in a proper and safe 

manner, use of preventative personal ergonomic techniques, and maintenance of safe 
housekeeping in personal and common workspaces. 

 
 Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation and communication. 
 
 Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the course of 

work. 
 
 Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING GUIDELINES 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would likely provide the required knowledge  
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the knowledge and abilities would be: 
 
 
 Experience: 
 Three years of responsible administrative support or technical experience preferably in the 

subject area to which assigned. One year of lead supervisory experience is highly 
desirable. 

 
  
 Education: 
 
 Equivalent to Associate’s degree from an accredited college with course work in public 

administration, business administration, accounting, biology or related field based on area 
of assignment. 

 
 
ADA Special Requirement: 
Essential duties require the following physical abilities and work environment: 
 
Ability to work in a standard office environment. 
 
 
Adopted Fire Board:  
Employee Group: General 
FLSA: Non-Exempt 
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BUSINESS MANAGER 

 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To plan, organize, direct and coordinate the activities of the administrative division within the 
department including finance and budget administration, inter-divisional projects and operations, 
and grant administration; to coordinate department administrative and project activities with 
other divisions; and to provide highly complex staff assistance to their department head.  
 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general direction from their department head.  
 
Exercises direct supervision over assigned supervisory, professional and administrative support staff.  
 
EXAMPLES OF DUTIES -Depending upon assignment, duties may include, but are not 
limited to, the following: 
 
Develop and implement divisional goals, objectives, policies and procedures.  
 
Plan, organize and direct administrative division activities including finance and budget 
administration, inter-divisional projects and operations, and grant administration.  
 
Direct, oversee and participate in the development of the administrative division work plan; 
assign work activities, projects, and programs; monitor workflow; review and evaluate work 
products, methods and procedures.  
 
Develop, prepare, administer and update the department budget and various operational 
department related budgets; provide technical assistance to departmental managers in preparation 
of their budget requests; compile and finalize budget document information such as budget 
narratives, key initiatives and key accomplishments.  
 
Recommend the appointment of personnel; provide or coordinate staff training; conduct 
performance evaluations; implement discipline procedures as required; maintain discipline and 
high standards necessary for the efficient and professional operation of the department.  
 
Identify, recommend and develop department policy changes which are submitted to the Fire 
Chief for final review; review and analyze operating procedures to determine if opportunities 
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exist to streamline processes or better serve our customers and make recommendations as 
necessary. 
  
Develop and maintain a standardized public records filing and retention system for the 
department; perform periodic review, evaluation, and modification of internal control 
procedures.  
 
Manage cross divisional programs, projects and initiatives; plan, organize, and administer 
critical, time sensitive projects and priority initiatives of the department; assist the department 
head in planning, organizing, directing, and coordinating the various divisions of the department.  
 
Manage multiple funding sources, each with its own set of rules and limitations; provide revenue 
forecasting; prepare fund balance projections for various funding sources; prepare and submit 
reimbursement requests.  
 
Oversee organizational activities such as performance measurements, goals, objectives and 
priorities, accounts payable / receivable and bond accounting requirements; develop and pursue 
inter-agency service and shared revenue opportunities.  
 
Direct the preparation of special projects, accounting and financial reports; oversee the efforts to 
develop rates; perform utility rate studies, ensure compliance, prepare revenue and expenditures 
forecasts.  
 
Develop, implement and oversee financial internal controls within the department, including 
monitoring and approving expenditures; provide financial and administrative services for 
maintenance and special assessment districts. 
  
Coordinate, review and make recommendations to division heads regarding department 
personnel matters, including recruitment, hiring, discipline, investigations, and personnel actions.  
 
Oversee and direct department efforts of public outreach webpage and social media presence that 
promotes the work of the department and inform the public about programs.  
 
Interpret Federal, State and local regulations; coordinate their application to the department’s 
operations; monitor and analyze legislative and other intergovernmental activities including grant 
opportunities.  
 
Represent the division and department to outside agencies and organizations; participate in 
outside community and professional groups and committees; provide technical assistance as 
necessary.  
 
Research and prepare technical and administrative reports; prepare written correspondence.  
 
Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers, Department employees and 
the public using principles of good customer service.  
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Foster an environment that embraces diversity, integrity, trust, and respect.  
 
Be an integral team player, which involves flexibility, cooperation, and communication.  
 
Perform related duties as assigned.  
 
QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
Principles and practices of budget, fiscal and grant administration relevant to municipal 
government.  
 
Principles and practices of leadership, motivation, team building and conflict resolution.  
 
Principles and practices of program management including accepted procedures for monitoring 
expenditures, project status and contractor performance.  
 
Principles and practices of public outreach and social media.  
 
Pertinent local, state and federal rules, regulations and laws.  
 
Modern office procedures and computer equipment.  
 
Principles and practices of organizational analysis and management.  
 
Budgeting procedures and techniques.  
 
Principles and practices of supervision, training and personnel management.  
 
Ability to: 
 
Effectively oversee and coordinate a variety of programs and projects.  
 
Acquire a thorough knowledge of department programs, policies and procedures, and of 
applicable department policies and procedures.  
 
Acquire a thorough knowledge of applicable Federal, State and local laws and regulations. 
  
Analyze a variety of diverse operations, programs and work methods, and develop feasible 
means for improvements or alternatives for service delivery.  
Prepare clear and concise reports.  
 
Supervise, train and evaluate personnel.  
 
Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the course of 
work.  
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Work with various cultural and ethnic groups in a tactful and effective manner.  
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing.  
 

 
EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING GUIDELINES 
Any combination equivalent to experience and education that would provide the required 
knowledge and abilities would be qualifying. A typical way to obtain the knowledge and 
abilities would be:  
 
Experience:  
Six years of progressively responsible experience in the management of administrative and 
fiscal programs in a local government agency, including at least two years of direct supervisory 
experience.  
 
Education:  
Equivalent to possession of a Bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or university with 
major course work in Public Administration, Business Administration or a closely related field. 
A Master’s Degree is desirable.  

 
ADA SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS: 
Essential duties require the following physical abilities and work environment: 
 
Ability to work in a standard office environment; ability to travel to different sites and locations. 
 
 
Adopted Fire Board:  
Employee Group: Management 
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DEPUTY FIRE CHIEF 

 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To plan, direct, supervise, and coordinate the activities of the Field Operations and Training 
Division, or the Community Risk Reduction (CRR) Division; to provide highly responsible and 
technical staff assistance; to demonstrate a strong commitment to high quality customer service, 
community investment and participative management; and to do related work as required.  
 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general direction from the Fire Chief.  
 
Responsibilities include direct supervision of sworn and non-sworn professional, technical and 
support personnel.  
 
EXAMPLES OF DUTIES- Depending upon assignment, duties may include, but are not 
limited to, the following: 
 
Assist in the development of goals, objectives, policies and priorities. Recommend contemporary 
practices.  
 
Plan, direct, supervise and coordinate the activities of sworn and non-sworn personnel in 
providing an acceptable level of fire protection, emergency medical care, hazardous release 
containment, rescue and related emergency services.  
 
Formulate, interpret, implement and enforce rules, procedures, practices and policies.  
 
Research and evaluate modern fire protection methods.  
 
Direct the implementation of in-service training programs for assigned personnel.  
 
Review employee performance evaluations and take appropriate action where necessary.  
 
Prepare and administer a Fire Department budget.  
 
Confer with citizens and City officials on fire protection and emergency service issues and assist 
in the development of innovative fire service practices.  The Deputy Fire Chief assists in 
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coordinating fire protection activities with the activities of other City departments and other 
emergency services agencies.  
 
Supervise, train, and evaluate staff.  
 
Oversee personnel actions including investigations, discipline, recruitment and labor relations 
activities.  
 
Serve as Acting Fire Chief.  
 
QUALIFICATIONS  
 
 Knowledge of: 
 

Modern principles and practices of fire protection, hazardous materials, inspection and 
suppression program development and administration.  
 
Organizational and management practices as applied to the analysis and evaluation of 
programs, policies and operational needs.  
 
Operation, maintenance and uses of firefighting apparatus and equipment.  
 
Principles and practices of organization, administration, budget, and personnel management.  
 
Pertinent Federal, State and local laws, codes and regulations including those pertaining to 
fire prevention, inspection, and suppression.  
 
Modern and advanced technology used in municipal government. 
 

 Ability to: 
 

Plan, direct and organize fire suppression, fire training and support activities.  
 
Develop and implement fire loss management policies and procedures.  
 
Analyze problems, identify alternative solutions, project consequences of proposed actions 
and implement recommendations in support of department goals.  
 
Interpret and apply Federal, State and local policies, procedures, laws and regulations.  
 
Prepare and administer a budget.  
 
Formulate and recommend sound departmental policy.  
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing.  
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Prepare and deliver presentations to elected and appointed officials as well as fire department 
employees and members of the community.  
 
Establish and maintain cooperative-working relationships with those contacted in the course 
of work.  
 
Understand that every problem can be resolved more than one way and demonstrate a 
willingness to listen for other solutions.  
 
Evaluate current technology and methodology and make recommendations for change as 
needed.  
 
Provide direction and leadership to ensure consistent application of policies and coordination 
of activities within and external to division.  

 
EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING GUIDELINES 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would likely provide the required knowledge  
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the knowledge and abilities would be: 
 
 Experience: 
 
 Two years as a Battalion Chief or higher position or six years as a fire captain.  
 
 Education: 
 

A Bachelor’s Degree from an accredited college or university with a major in either 
management, public administration, psychology or labor relations or a closely related field.  

 
 
ADA Special Requirement: 
Essential duties require the following physical abilities and work environment: 
 
Ability to work in a standard office environment with some ability to sit, stand, walk, kneel, 
crouch, squat, stoop, reach, twist, climb, and lift 25 pounds; some exposure to cold, extreme 
noise, outdoors, confining work space, electrical hazards, vibration, chemicals, dust, toxic waste, 
mechanical hazards, and explosive materials. 
 
 
Adopted Fire Board:  
Employee Group: Deputy Fire Chiefs 
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 DEPUTY FIRE MARSHAL 

 
DEFINITION 
 
To perform supervisory and technical work in implementing a comprehensive Community Risk 
Reduction (CRR) program; to provide responsible technical staff assistance; and to do related 
work as required. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
General supervision is provided by the Fire Marshal.  Indirect technical and functional 
supervision may be provided by other Fire Department personnel. 
 
Responsibilities include assuming the duties of Fire Marshal in his/her absence and providing 
direct and indirect supervision of Fire Inspectors I and II. 
 
EXAMPLES OF IMPORTANT AND ESSENTIAL DUTIES 
 
Assist in budget preparation and administration. 
 
Supervise, train and evaluate subordinates. 
 
Interpret and enforce provisions of fire prevention and fire safety laws, ordinances and other  
regulations. 
 
Perform periodic inspections of new and existing buildings, structures and installations requiring  
fire clearances; identify fire hazards; recommend corrective actions; perform follow-up inspections  
to see that corrective actions have been taken. 
 
Investigate complaints pertaining to violation of fire prevention laws; issue correction orders as  
necessary. 
 
Investigate fires; secure fire scenes; identify types of fires; investigate causes of fire; collect,  
prepare and present evidence; interview witnesses and suspects; write fire investigations; testify in  
court when required. 
 
Provide information to the public concerning the fire prevention practices and procedures; develop  
and conduct training programs and group presentations relative to fire prevention and fire  
investigation. 
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Instruct fire suppression crews about code interpretation and inspection techniques regarding fire  
prevention. 
 
Draw and prepare diagrams of buildings for pre-fire planning and fire inspections. 
 
Check building plans for code compliance and consult with architects and developers regarding  
problems. 
 
Perform tests on water flow, sprinkler and fire alarms and elevator return systems; certify smoke  
detectors. 
 
Prepare records and reports. 
 
Develop and maintain a variety of records and reports 
 
JOB RELATED AND ESSENTIAL QUALIFICATIONS 
 
          Knowledge of: 
 
 Principles, methods, and practices of modern fire prevention and inspection work. 
 
 Mechanical, chemical and related characteristics of a wide variety of flammable and 

explosive materials and objects. 
 
 Principles of supervision and training, including principles of organizational management. 
 
 Ability to: 
 
 Work in a participatory management environment. 
 
 Inspect structures and determine the adequacy of fire safety systems. 
 
 Investigate fires and determine their origin and cause. 
 
 Prepare and maintain a variety of records and reports. 
 
 Read and interpret construction plans and specifications. 
 
 Represent the Fire Department with contractors, engineers, and developers and in public 

meetings. 
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 Work cooperatively with others. 
 
 Supervise, train and evaluate assigned subordinates. 
 
 Perform annual maintenance inspections of commercial occupancies and assist Field 

companies with more difficult commercial inspections. 
  
 
EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING GUIDELINES: 
 
Any combination of education, training and work experience that would likely provide the required  
Knowledge skills and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the knowledge skills and 
abilities would be:  
 
 Experience: 
 
 Three (3) years of firefighting experience comparable to that of a Firefighter/Engineer or 

Fire Inspector involving the inspection of structures for conformance to fire safety 
standards and systems including some supervisory experience. 

 
 Training: 
   
 Equivalent to completion of 30 semester units in Fire Science or related field.  Additional 

years of experience may be substituted on a year to year basis for education. 
 
 Completion of three California State Fire Officer or Prevention Officer Certification 

Courses  
 
 An Associate of Arts Degree in Fire Science or related field is desirable 
   
License or Certificate: 
 
Possession of a valid California Driver’s license. 
  
ADA Special Requirement: 
Essential duties require the following physical abilities and work environment: 
 
Ability to sit, stand, walk, kneel, stoop, reach, crawl, climb, travel to different locations, and lift 50 
pounds; exposure to noise, outdoors, confining work space, electrical hazards, chemicals, dust, and 
hazardous materials. 
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EMERGENCY SERVICES MANAGER 
 
 

 
DEFINITION 
 
Under general direction, plans, organizes, and directs the work of implementing and maintaining 
a comprehensive risk based emergency management program for the communities served by the 
San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department; provides expert professional assistance to municipal 
staff in areas of responsibility and performs related work as required. 
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
This is a non-safety management level classification reporting to the Deputy Fire Chief and has 
responsibility for the direction and administration of the emergency management program, 
including a special emphasis on disaster preparedness and community risk reduction. The 
incumbent is responsible for all four phases (mitigation, preparedness, response, and recovery) of 
emergency management, including formulating policy, developing goals and objectives, 
supervising staff, administering the division's budget and directing the day-to-day operations. 
Assignments allow for a high degree of administrative direction in their execution with the goal of 
a proactive emergency management program, which will reduce the risk of injury and loss of life 
and will support sustainable recovery from a natural or man-made disaster. The incumbent confers 
with representatives of all municipal departments and of varied external resources and services to 
accomplish program goals and objectives. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Direction is provided by the Deputy Fire Chief. Exercises direct supervision of Emergency Services 
Specialist, support staff, and volunteers on a project or ongoing basis. 
 
EXAMPLES OF DUTIES - Depending upon assignment, duties may include, but are not limited 
to, the following: 

1. Perform a variety of complex administrative and technical duties related to the 
management of staff engaged in the development and implementation of projects and/or 
programs; track performance measures and prepare periodic status reports. 

2. Continually monitor and evaluate the emergency management program and develop 
strategies to meet identified program needs, emergency activities, and SMCFD goals.  

3. Draft emergency management policies and procedures, oversee the development of 
checklists, forms, logs and resource lists for the Emergency Operations Center (EOC); 
develop and update plans and standard operating procedures for the EOC. 

4. Maintain EOC operational readiness; oversee the schedule of regular testing procedures to 
ensure operational efficiency; activate sections of the emergency operations plan at the 
direction of the Fire Chief. 

5. Respond to the EOC to provide liaison and coordinative support to the Director of 
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Emergency Services or his/her designees in emergency or disaster situations. 
6. Represent the agency as emergency management subject matter expert and liaison with 

various organizations and committees, including inter-jurisdictional groups; coordinate the 
activities of the programs with other divisions, departments and agencies concerned with 
emergency management; attend and participate in group meetings and activities as 
appropriate.  

7. Provide for the training of various municipal personnel to establish and fulfill roles and 
responsibilities for emergency preparedness.  

8. Plan and direct the development of a Training and Exercise Plan that addresses and ensures 
execution of various disaster training exercises designed to test elements of the 
municipalities’ emergency capabilities according to Homeland Security Exercise and 
Evaluation Program guidance. 

9. Facilitate planning meetings and processes involving municipal staff and whole 
community members to develop relevant emergency response, mitigation, continuity, 
recovery, and training plans. 

10. Oversee the preparation of and/or prepare municipal Emergency Operations Plans and 
recommend and implement modifications to such Plans. 

11. Develop effective liaison with representatives of municipal departments, public and private 
support and relief agencies, business, educational, homeowners' and other groups regarding 
municipal emergency services; prepare specialized plans designed to integrate the needs of 
various sectors of the community. 

12. Confer with and facilitate development of agreements with public, non-profit and private 
sector-resource agencies for support to the municipalities before, during and after a 
proclaimed emergency.  

13. Confer with State and Federal emergency management representatives in supporting 
emergency management activities; review legislation, regulations and other documentation 
to assure conformity of emergency management programs with Federal and State 
requirements. 

14. Research and develop proposals for grant funding to support emergency management 
goals; implement grants, monitor results, and prepare reports as needed.  

15. Develop regional integration of EOC operations with neighboring governmental agencies. 
16. Represent the department and make public presentations before civic and community 

groups; promote and respond to inquiries from the media and the public; participate in 
public relations activities in support of program. 

17. Prepare budgets, cost estimates and revenue projections for designated accounts, 
administer budget expenditures and supervise, monitor and control the expenditures of 
funds. 

18. Develop emergency management program strategic plans, goals, objectives, and annual 
work plans to meet goals for community safety, resilience and risk reduction. 

19. Plan, organize, prioritize, direct, and evaluate the work assignments of staff; establish 
performance objectives, work plans, and standards; encourage academic and/or 
professional development; ensure delivery of proper training to ensure successful staff 
performance.  

20. Work to foster an integration of disaster resilience community goals with those of 
sustainable development, such as through Hazard Mitigation Planning efforts. 

21. Assist municipalities by coordinating fund recovery efforts during declared disasters; 
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coordinates with state and federal representatives in preparing and submitting required 
public assistance documents. 

22. Respond to localized emergencies, such as multifamily residential fires, to provide on-
scene support and coordination with local relief agencies, such as the American Red Cross, 
or to assist in evacuation centers and/or emergency shelters. 

23. May serve as public information officer for the fire department. 
24. Participate in specialized training, conferences and seminars as available and appropriate 

to maintain technical knowledge. 
25. Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers and the public using 

principles of good customer service. 
26. Perform other related duties and responsibilities as assigned. 

 
QUALIFICATIONS 
 
Knowledge of: 
 
Emergency management at the local government level, the incident command system (ICS), the 
California standardized emergency management system (SEMS), and the National Incident 
Management System (NIMS), guidance for the development of emergency plans; federal laws 
applicable to the mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery from a major emergency or 
disaster; project management, public administration, organizational management, and supervisory 
theories, principles, and practices; technical and theoretical methods of emergency management 
program facilitation; terminology, laws, rules and regulations as applied to emergency 
management; relationships among governmental agencies, industries, businesses, health science 
and schools; emergency management operational methods, principles, issues and service 
standards; record keeping practices and procedures; English usage, spelling, grammar and 
punctuation; modern office practices, procedures and computer equipment; principles and 
procedures of record keeping and reporting; research, statistical techniques and methodology; 
problem resolution methods; customer service techniques and team building concepts and theories, 
principles and methods of communication and conflict resolution.  
 
Ability to: 
 
Determine priorities and make critical decisions; manage staff and volunteers; develop, write, 
apply and implement inter-agency emergency management program policies and procedures; 
resolve conflict, build teams, and promote the program mission; communicate in writing and 
verbally with diverse audiences; establish and maintain effective interpersonal relationships 
with municipal officials at all organizational levels and with the public; maintain 
confidentiality and handle sensitive materials; manage projects to completion in accordance 
with established deadlines, anticipate administrative and operational challenges; work 
effectively in an extreme environment and withstand outside pressures, formulate goals, 
analyze problems and effect solutions. 
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EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING GUIDELINES 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would likely provide the required knowledge and 
abilities is qualifying. A typical way to obtain the knowledge and abilities would be: 
 
Experience: 
 
Five years of progressive emergency management/disaster experience, or relevant professional 
experience in risk management, public administration, or program management may be 
exchanged for the emergency management/disaster experience requirement. 
 
Education: 
 
Equivalent to graduation from a four-year college or university with major coursework in 
emergency management, public administration, public policy, planning or a field related to the 
work. Additional experience as outlined above may be substituted for the education on a year-
for-year basis to a maximum of two years. 
 
License or Certificate 

• Possession of a valid California driver’s license and a satisfactory driving record is 
required. 

• Valid certificates for ICS 100, 200, NIMS 700 or ability to obtain within first year of 
employment. 

• CPR certification must be obtained within one year of employment.  
• Professional certifications such as Certified Emergency Manager (CEM), FEMA National 

Emergency Management Advanced Academy, and/or California Governor's Office of 
Emergency Services Career Credentials are highly desirable. 

 
ADA Special Requirement: 
Essential duties require the following physical abilities and work environment: 
 
Ability to work in a standard office environment with some exposure to hazardous situations; ability 
to travel to different locations; availability to work off-hours and for emergency call-out; ability to 
safely lift 50 pounds. 
 
 
Adopted Fire Board: 7/10/2019 
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                 EMERGENCY SERVICES SPECIALIST 
 

DEFINITION 
 
Under general direction, supports delivery of a comprehensive risk-based emergency 
management and community preparedness program for the communities served by the San 
Mateo Consolidated Fire Department; organizes and provides training to municipal staff 
a n d  c o m m u n i t y  m e m b e r s  in order to maintain a high level of readiness and 
community resilience; and performs related work as required. 

 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 

 
This is a non-safety classification reporting to the Emergency Services Manager. Employees 
within this class are distinguished by the performance of the full range of emergency services 
duties. Employees at this level receive only occasional instruction or assistance as new or 
unusual situations arise, and are fully aware of the operating procedures and policies of the 
work unit. Positions in this class often require prior emergency management experience. 

 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 

 
General direction and supervision is provided by the Emergency Services Manager.  
 
May exercise functional or technical supervision over less experienced staff and/or volunteers on 
a project or ongoing basis. 
 
EXAMPLES OF DUTIES - Depending upon assignment, duties may include, but are not limited 
to, the following: 

 
1. Support the preparation, implementation, and monitoring of a comprehensive risk-based 

emergency management and community preparedness program. 
2. Support the preparation and maintenance of the municipal emergency operations plans, 

annexes, appendixes, checklists and other supporting documentation, procedures and 
guides, local hazard mitigation plans, continuity, and recovery plans. 

3. Respond to the Emergency Operations Center when it is activated; ensure that appropriate 
documents are available at the center, provide support to coordination efforts, and serve as 
liaison as required. 

4. Design and administer communication plans to disseminate information and materials 
enabling effective municipal and community response to a disaster situation to include 
personal preparedness training. 

5. Continually monitor and assess municipalities’ training programs; research methods to 
increase community outreach; analyze community needs and program effectiveness; 
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develop corrective actions related to identified needs, emergency activities and SMCFD 
goals; maintain records of findings and corrective actions identified through After-Action 
Reports/Improvement Plans, and coordinate development of multiyear Training and 
Exercise Plans. 

6. Coordinate and conduct interagency training sessions on NIMS, ICS, and other emergency 
management topics for municipal personnel to establish and operate an Emergency 
Operations Center (EOC); maintain records of NIMS/ICS training in compliance with state 
and federal guidelines. 

7. Produce training materials, including written documents, electronic media, and videos; 
maintain materials, such as props, slides, videos, films, and other educational documents; 
set up and operate appropriate and different audiovisual equipment. 

8. Provide oversight and program delivery of the Community Emergency Response Team 
(CERT) Program, including the coordination and tracking of volunteers, teaching of 
CERT curricula and continuing education modules, maintenance of supplies and logistics, 
and participation in regional training and exercise opportunities. 

9. Develop training curricula/plans, coordinate logistics, promote and deliver public 
education programs to civic organizations, religious institutions, businesses and residents 
from kindergarten age to senior citizens on disaster preparation, fire and earthquake 
preparedness, fire prevention and life safety public education programs, wildland fire 
mitigation programs, CPR and first aid programs. 

10. Design, develop and deliver a variety of disaster exercises designed to test elements of the 
municipalities’ emergency capabilities according to Homeland Security Exercise and 
Evaluation Program guidance. 

11. Support facilitation of stakeholders in exercise planning meetings, prepare exercise 
documentation to include exercise plans and manuals. 

12. Perform a variety of administrative and technical duties related to the development and 
implementation of special projects and/or programs; track performance measures 
quarterly; develop and prepare periodic information sheets, statistical, departmental and 
special reports related to projects or programs and work performed; maintain records and 
files; develop directories; create meetings agendas and meeting minutes.  

13. Develop working relationships with and make presentations to representatives of municipal 
departments, as well as other public and private support relief agencies, businesses, 
schools, homeowners and other community groups regarding emergency services. 

14. Assist in the development of goals and objectives for the emergency management program. 
15. Participate in budget preparation and administration; prepare cost estimates and revenue 

projections for budget recommendations for designated accounts; submit justifications of 
program and related activities; monitor and control expenditures. 

16. Participate in specialized training, conferences and seminars as available and appropriate 
to maintain technical knowledge. 

17. Build and maintain positive working relationships with co-workers and the public using 
principles of good customer service. 

18. Perform other related duties and responsibilities as assigned. 
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QUALIFICATIONS 
 
Knowledge of: 
 
Principles and practices of administrative, organizational and procedural analysis and report 
preparation; principles of organization and time management; English usage, spelling, 
grammar and punctuation; modern office practices, procedures and computer equipment; 
principles and procedures of record keeping and reporting; research, statistical techniques and 
methodology; problem resolution method; education methodology as it pertains to fire safety 
training, pertinent local, State and Federal laws, municipal functions, policies, rules and 
regulations; principles and practices of community emergency and disaster support and assistance 
resources; the incident command system (ICS), the California standardized emergency 
management system (SEMS), and the National Incident Management System (NIMS); 
Geographic Information Systems (GIS), as applied to emergency preparedness and risk 
mitigation; principles and practices of training and evaluation. 
 
Ability to: 
 
Communicate in writing and verbally with diverse audiences; research information and collect and 
analyze data; plan, coordinate and prioritize workload; establish and maintain cooperative 
relationships with volunteers, supervisors, and the public; represent SMCFD effectively and 
professionally in contact with representatives of other agencies and the public; take a proactive 
approach to customer service issues; maintain composure under difficult circumstances; perform 
assignments and maintain equipment in a safe manner; coordinate multiple activities, meet 
deadlines, and work independently; exercise sound independent judgment within general policy 
guidelines; interpret and explain emergency services, policies and procedures; to interpret and apply 
Federal, State and local laws, rules and regulations. 
 
EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING GUIDELINES 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would likely provide the required knowledge and 
abilities is qualifying. A typical way to obtain the knowledge and abilities would be: 
 
Experience: 
 
One year’s experience in a professional setting, emergency planning and disaster preparedness risk 
management, community preparedness and education, fire prevention training, volunteer 
management, communications or public administration fields highly desirable.  
 
Education: 
 
An  A s s o c i a t e ’ s  degree from an accredited college or university with major course work in 
emergency management, public administration, public policy, planning, communications, or a 
closely related field. Additional experience as outlined above may be substituted for the education 
on a year-for-year basis to a maximum of two years. 
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A Bachelor’s Degree is highly desirable.  
 
License or Certificate: 
 

• Possession of a valid California driver’s license and a satisfactory driving record is required. 
• Valid certificates for ICS 100, 200, NIMS 700 or ability to obtain within first year of 

employment. 
• CPR certification must be obtained within one year of employment. 
• Professional certifications such as California Governor's Office of Emergency Services 

Career Credentials, International Association of Emergency Managers AEM or CEM 
designations are highly desirable. 

• CERT T3 or T4 is highly desirable. 
• Instructor 1A/B Certification highly desirable. 
• American Heart Association CPR Instructor highly desirable. 
 
ADA Special Requirement: 
Essential duties require the following physical abilities and work environment: 
 
Ability to work in a standard office environment with some exposure to hazardous situations; 
availability to travel to different locations; availability to work off-hours and for emergency call-out; 
ability to safely lift 50 pounds. 
 
Adopted Fire Board: 7/10/19 
Employee Group: General 
FLSA: Non-exempt 
Pre Appt Medical: Yes 
Safety Sensitive: No 
Form 700: No 
Job Code: 5345 



   
 

 
 
 
 

  
 

 
 

EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES 
CLINICAL EDUCATION SPECIALIST 

(NON-SAFETY) 
 
DEFINITION 
 
Under general direction, this classification plans, directs, supervises, coordinates, schedules 
and administers the Emergency Medical Training Programs for all Fire Department 
personnel; monitors and evaluates activities of field personnel in areas of EMS including 
Paramedic and EMT operations, training, public education and required continuing 
education, as outlined by Federal, State and Local departments and agencies; provides highly 
responsible and technical staff assistance to the Fire Battalion Chief/Training Officer.  
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general direction from the Fire Battalion Chief/Training Officer. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the 
following: 
 
Assists in the development and implementation of department goals and objectives.  
 
Provides and coordinates continuing education for Paramedics, Emergency Medical 
Technicians and first responders consistent with Federal, State and County policies and 
protocols of pre-hospital emergency medical services controlling the provision of pre-
hospital emergency medical services.  
 
Attends pre-hospital care meetings of various types and other committees or meetings the 
EMS JPA Supervisor or chief officer deems necessary.   
 
Maintains a variety of departmental records including EMS reports, Patient Care Records and 
training records.  
 
Assists in the San Mateo County paramedic accreditation, orientation and Field Training 
Officer process. 
 
Recommends corrective action to the EMS JPA Supervisor, regarding clinical issues and 
performs skill evaluations and data collection. 
 
Develops an annual EMS Training Plan in accordance with Federal, State and County 
policies and protocols.  
 
Develops and updates all EMS training materials.  
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Develops and performs a Quality Assurance and Quality Improvement (QA/QI) program, in 
accordance with Federal, State and County policies and protocols. 
 
Maintain related EMS Training equipment and supplies. 
 
Performs Quality Assurance and Quality Improvement (QA/QI) audits of controlled 
substances administration pre-hospital documentation. 
 
Act as the Department’s Infection Control Officer (DICO) in the absence of the EMS JPA 
Supervisor or at their discretion.   
 
Attends staff meetings as required. 
 
Performs related duties as assigned.  
 
QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Knowledge of: 
 
 Fire Department’s role and responsibilities as they relate to pre-hospital basic life 

support, advanced life support and definitive emergency medical care.  
 
Fire based emergency medical programs, training methodology and techniques.  
 
Emergency Medical Delivery, both fire and transport based. 
 
Principles and practices of effective EMS, or related field training. 
 
Federal, state and local controlled substance regulations. 
  
Title 22, Division 9 and Section 2.5 of the California Code of Regulations and other 
applicable regulations. 

 
Ability to: 
 
Plan, organize and conduct emergency medical service or related training.  
 

 Provide components of continuing education curriculum for paramedics and EMT’s . 

Develop and maintain a positive cooperative working relationship with a variety of local, 
state government and private sector agencies and individuals. 
 

 Communicate to effectively interact with the public, department employees and other 
EMS providers.  
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Use various computer programs to prepare reports, training and maintain accurate 
records.  
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 Interpret and apply San Mateo County protocols, policies and procedures. 

 
EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING GUIDELINES 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would provide the required knowledge and 
abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required knowledge and abilities would 
be: 

 
Experience: 
 
Five years of experience as a Paramedic (EMT-P) with increasing responsibility or; 
 
Three years as a Registered Nurse (RN). 
 
Three years experience working directly in the field of emergency medicine. 
 
 
Education 
 
Associates degree or equivalent amount of college level credits/units.  

 

Bachelor’s degree in health science, nursing, business administration, public 
administration, fire science or a closely related field is highly desirable.  

  

License and Certificate 
 
Possession of a valid California Driver's License. 
 
Incumbent will be required to acquire and maintain the following certifications/licenses 
within one year of employment: 
 

• Advanced Cardiac Life Support (ACLS) Provider and Instructor 
• Pediatric Advanced Life Support (PALS) or Pediatric Education for Pre-Hospital 

Professionals (PEPP) Provider and Instructor 
• Pre-Hospital Trauma Life Support (PHTLS) or Basic Trauma Life Support (BTLS) 

Provider or County approved equivalent trauma training program.  
• AHA Basic Life Support (BLS) Instructor 
•  
• EMT-P Preceptor or FTO 
• San Mateo County Paramedic Orientation Trainer 
• CSFM Fire Instructor I 
• Department Infection Control Officer (DICO) 

 
 
Possession of State of California Paramedic License, and the ability to complete the 
accreditation process in San Mateo County as a paramedic within six months of employment 
or possession of California Registered Nursing License. Licenses and San Mateo County 
accreditation must be maintained, in good standing, as a condition of employment 
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ADA Special Requirements: 
Essential duties require the following physical abilities and work environment: 
 
Ability to work in a standard office environment with some ability to sit, stand, walk, kneel, 
crouch, squat, stoop, reach, twist, climb, and lift 25 pounds; some exposure to cold, extreme 
noise, outdoors, confining work space, electrical hazards, vibration, chemicals, dust, toxic 
waste, mechanical hazards, and explosive materials. 
 
Adopted Fire Board:     
Employee Group: Management   
FLSA: Exempt    
Pre Appt Medical: Yes  
Safety Sensitive: Yes   
Form 700: No 
Job Code: 2141 
 



 

 
 
  
 
 
 

 
FIRE BATTALION CHIEF 

     
  
DEFINITION 
 
To perform responsible supervisory, technical and administrative work in commanding platoon 
personnel in fire suppression and rescue operations; to manage and direct training division 
activities; to perform duties related to the fire loss management division of inspection, investigation 
and other prevention related activities; and to do related work as required. 
 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Reports to Deputy Fire Chief. 
 
Exercises direct supervision over Fire Captains and other lower level staff. 
 
 
EXAMPLES OF IMPORTANT AND ESSENTIAL DUTIES 
 
 1. Assist in the development and implementation of goals, objectives, policies and priorities for 

various divisions of the Fire Department. 
 
 2. Direct and supervise forces in the suppression of fires and in the control of incidents 

involving hazardous chemicals and other materials as required. 
 
 3. Ascertain the need for and type of additional equipment necessary to handle emergencies; 

make technical decisions as to the best methods of extinguishing fires after observing the 
fire and receiving reports from company officers. 

 
 4. Conduct inspections of personnel; determine the general condition of equipment, apparatus 

and fire stations. 
 
 5. Plan, direct, implement and coordinate the department's public fire safety training program, 

fire inspection program, and fire recruit academy program. 
 
 6. Assist in the preparation of the department budget; assist in budget implementation; 

participate in the forecast of additional funds needed for staffing, equipment, materials, and 
supplies. 
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 7. Prepare and maintain a variety of records and reports including personnel and training  

records and perform other administrative duties as assigned by Fire Chief. 
 
 8. Assist in coordinating Fire Department activities with other City departments and divisions, 

and with outside agencies; represent each City in the community and at professional 
meetings as required; serve on committees to update and revise each City's multi-hazard 
disaster plans and emergency operations. 

 
 9. Supervise, train, and evaluate assigned staff. 
 
10. Participate in recommending the appointment of personnel; provide or coordinate staff 

training; work with employees to correct deficiencies; implement discipline procedures; 
recommend employee terminations. 

 
11. Develop, maintain and implement comprehensive fire and emergency training programs for 

entry level fire personnel; plan, coordinate and implement in-service training courses, 
seminars and procedures. 

 
12. Act as Deputy Fire Chief when necessary. 
 
13. Drive emergency response vehicles—code 3 (red lights/siren). 
 
   
OTHER JOB RELATED DUTIES 
 

1. Assist in the investigation of fires to determine cause and origin. 
 
2. Assist in coordinating the development of specifications and acquisition of specialized 

firefighting support equipment. 
 

3. Supervise the annual testing of fire apparatus. 
 
 
JOB RELATED AND ESSENTIAL QUALIFICATIONS 
 
  Knowledge of: 
 

Modern and complex principles and practices of fire prevention, hazardous materials, 
inspection, and suppression program development and administration. 
 
Organizational and management practices as applied to the analysis and evaluation of 
programs, policies and operational needs. 
 
Operation, maintenance and uses of firefighting apparatus and equipment. 
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 Modern and advanced technology used in municipal government. 
 
 Pertinent Federal, State and local laws, codes and regulations including those in fire 

prevention, inspection and suppression. 
 
 Mechanical, chemical and related characteristics of a wide variety of flammable and 

explosive materials and objects. 
 
 Budgeting procedures and techniques. 
 
 Fire prevention principles, practices and procedures. 
  
 Principles of supervision, training and performance evaluation. 
 
 Ability to: 
 
 Work in a participatory management environment. 
 
 Develop and implement fire loss management policies and procedures. 
 

Analyze problems, identify alternative solutions, project consequences of proposed actions 
and implement recommendations in support of goals. 
 
Interpret and apply Federal, State and local policies, procedures, laws and regulations. 
 
Assist in budget preparation and administration, including providing program 
recommendations. 
 
Formulate and recommend sound departmental policy. 
 
Prepare and deliver presentations. 
 
Understand that every problem can be resolved more than one way and demonstrate a 
willingness to listen for other solutions. 
 
Evaluate current technology and methodology and make recommendations for change as 
needed. 
 
Plan, direct and organize fire suppression, prevention, training and support activities. 
 
Conduct fact-finding investigations and enforce regulations. 
 
 
Supervise, train and evaluate assigned staff. 
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Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Establish and maintain cooperative-working relationships with those contacted in the course 
of work. 

 
EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING GUIDELINES: 
Any combination of experience and training that would likely provide the required knowledge and  
abilities would be qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the knowledge and abilities would be: 
 
  Requirements: 
 

a. Four years as a Company Officer in an organized paid fire department; 
b. Associates Degree or equivalency required; 
c. Bachelor’s Degree – highly desired; 
d. State Fire Marshal’s Office Fire Company Officer Certification; 
e. Minimum of two (2) State Chief Officer Level II classes – State Fire Marshal’s 

Office Chief Certification required upon completion of probation; 
f. Valid California Driver’s License appropriate to drive emergency vehicles and 

a satisfactory driving record. 
 
  
Work Schedule: 
 
A Battalion Chief may be assigned to either a shift-scheduled 56 hour work week or a traditional or                                           
flexible 40 hour workweek depending upon department needs.  
 
 
ADA Special Requirement: 
Essential duties require the following physical abilities and work environment: 
 
Ability to sit, stand, walk, kneel, crouch, squat, stoop, reach, crawl, twist, climb, and lift 
150 pounds; exposure to cold, heat, extreme noise, outdoors, confining work space, electrical 
hazards, vibration, chemicals, dust, toxic waste, mechanical hazards, and explosive materials. 
 
 
Adopted Fire Board: 05/08/19 
Bargaining Unit: IAFF, Local 2400  
FLSA:  
Pre-Appt. Medical: YES 
Safety Sensitive: YES 
Form 700: Yes 
Job Code: 2085/2086 

 



 

 
 
  
 
 
 

 
FIRE CAPTAIN  

 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To perform supervisory and technical work in emergency medical response, fire suppression, 
emergency rescue, fire inspection, fire investigation and fire personnel training activities; and to do 
related work as required. 
 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
General supervision is provided by a Battalion Chief. Technical or functional direction may be 
provided by other Fire Department personnel. 
 
 
EXAMPLES OF IMPORTANT AND ESSENTIAL DUTIES 
 
 1. Plan and execute work assignments of fire personnel in an assigned company. 
 
 2. Responds to fire alarms as a company officer, and as such is responsible for the supervision, 

performance and safety of assigned firefighting personnel on the scene of an emergency 
incident. 

 
3. Direct firefighting and rescue operations until relieved by a superior officer. 

 
 4 Operate radio-telephone equipment. 
 
 5 Supervise and participate in salvage and overhaul operations. 
 
 6. Supervise and assist in providing emergency medical response. 
 
 7. Direct the cleaning of quarters, equipment and apparatus at a fire station. 
 
 8. Inspect personnel and maintain discipline. 
 
 9. Obtain and otherwise preserve evidence at a fire scene. 
 
10. Instruct and drill fire department personnel in firefighting methods, techniques and related 

subjects. 
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11. Identify the fire training needs of company personnel, including such areas as the driving and 

operation of equipment and see that necessary training is provided. 
 
12. Conduct company inspections. 
 
13. Prepare reports, maintain records and perform other duties as directed. 
 
14. Supervise, train and evaluate subordinates. 
 
 
JOB RELATED AND ESSENTIAL QUALIFICATIONS 
 
 Knowledge of: 
 
 Principles, practices and procedures of modern firefighting and protection of lives and 

property. 
 
 Rules, regulations and operational procedures of SMC Fire. 
 
 Advanced first aid, CPR and EMT. 
 
 Principles of supervision, training and performance evaluation. 
 
 Local geography, including the location of water mains and hydrants and the major fire 

hazards within the service area. 
 
 Ability to: 
 
 Work in a participatory management environment. 
 
 Communicate clearly and concisely, orally and in writing. 
 
 Conduct preliminary fact-finding inspections and investigations, including evidence gathering 

and presentation. 
 
 Operate apparatus and equipment used in modern firefighting activities. 
 
 Establish and maintain cooperative working relationships with those contacted in the course of 

work. 
  
 Understanding and familiarity with Firefighter Bill of Rights (FBOR) 
  
 Supervise, train and evaluate assigned staff. 
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EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING GUIDELINES: 
  
  The minimum qualifications are as follows: 
 
  Experience & Training: 
 

a. Minimum of 6 years of tenure (a combination of service with San 
Mateo, Foster City, Belmont and or the JPA) in the Firefighter 
classification; 

b. Meet the qualifications to work as an Acting Captain  
 
 
 
ADA Special Requirement: 
Essential duties require the following physical abilities and work environment: 
 
Ability to sit, stand, walk, run, kneel, crouch, squat, stoop, reach, crawl, twist, climb, drive, and lift 
150 pounds; exposure to cold, heat extreme noise, outdoors, confining work space, electrical 
hazards, vibration, chemicals and dust, toxic waste, mechanical hazards, explosive materials; 
availability for shift work, on call and stand-by call.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Adopted Fire Board:  
Bargaining Unit: Fire  
FLSA: Non-Exempt 
Pre-Appt. Medical: Yes 
Safety Sensitive: Yes 
Form 700: No 
Job Code: 3120/3121 
 
  



   
  

 
 

 
 
 

 
FIRE CHIEF 

 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To plan, organize, & direct the activities of fire suppression, community risk reduction, and 
administrative services; to provide highly responsible and technical staff assistance to the Fire 
Board of Directors and staff of member agencies; and to perform related work as required. 
 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Administrative direction is provided by the Fire Board of Directors. 
 
Responsibilities include direct supervision of the Deputy Fire Chiefs and administrative 
personnel. 
 
Indirect supervision of other non-sworn and sworn personnel is provided when necessary. 
 
 
EXAMPLES OF IMPORTANT AND ESSENTIAL DUTIES  
 
Oversee the planning, development, and implementation of organizational policies, goals, 
objectives, and priorities.  
 
Plan, direct, coordinate, organize, and supervise the departmental operations of fire suppression, 
community risk reduction, and administration. 
 
Prepare a variety of technical and departmental activities reports and records.  
 
Prepare and administer the departmental annual budget. 
 
 
Represent the department in relationships with the JPA member agencies, including the public, 
community groups, and professional organizations. 
 
Supervise affirmative action, safety and emergency preparedness activities. 
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JOB RELATED AND ESSENTIAL QUALIFICATIONS  
 
 Knowledge of: 

Principles, practices, methods, and techniques of modern fire prevention and suppression 
activities. 
 
Operation, maintenance, and uses of firefighting apparatus and equipment. 
 
Principles and practices of modern municipal fire department administration and 
personnel training. 
 
Principles and practices of organization, administration, budgeting and personnel 
management and labor relations.  
 
Applicable laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, and codes pertaining to fire prevention, 
inspection, and suppression. 

 
 
 

 Ability to: 
Plan, direct, and organize fire prevention, suppression and support activities. 
 
Establish and maintain cooperative working relationships with those contacted in the 
course of work. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, orally and in writing. 
 
Supervise, train, and evaluate subordinates. 
 
Formulate and administer sound departmental policy. 

 
 
Experience and Training Guidelines 

Any combination equivalent to experience and education that could likely provide the 
required knowledge and abilities would be qualifying. A typical way to obtain the 
knowledge and abilities would be: 
 

Experience 
 
Four years of increasingly responsible supervisory and administrative experience 
at the level of a Fire Battalion Chief or above. 
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Education 
 
Equivalent to a Bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or university with 
major course work in fire science, public administration, or a closely related field. 

 
 
 
ADA Special Requirement: 
Essential duties require the following physical abilities and work environment: 
 
Ability to work in a standard office environment with some ability to sit, stand, walk, kneel, 
crouch, squat, stoop, reach, twist, climb, and lift 25 pounds; some exposure to cold, extreme 
noise, outdoors, confining work space, electrical hazards, vibration, chemicals, dust, toxic waste, 
mechanical hazards, and explosive materials. 
 
 
Adopted Fire Board:  
Bargaining Unit: Fire Chief 
FLSA: Exempt 
Pre-Appt. Medical: Yes 
Safety Sensitive: Yes 
Form 700: Yes 
Job Code:  1150 



 
     

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

FIRE MARSHAL 
 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To perform responsible management, technical and administrative work in developing and 
implementing a comprehensive code enforcement, fire prevention and loss management 
program; to provide highly responsible and technical staff assistance; to assume the 
responsibilities of the Deputy Fire Chief in his/her absence as assigned; and do related work as 
required. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
General direction is provided by the Deputy Fire Chief. 
 
Exercises direct supervision over the Deputy Fire Marshal and other sworn and non-sworn 
personnel. 
 
EXAMPLES OF DUTIES - Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Assist in the development and implementation of policies, goals, objectives and priorities. 
 
Develop, supervise and implement a comprehensive fire prevention inspection and community 
risk reduction program. 
 
Direct and supervise the activities and work assignments of both sworn and non-sworn personnel 
assigned to the Community Risk Reduction Division; assist and advise subordinates. 
 
Evaluate and enforce existing fire safety codes and conditions; remain current on and advise Fire 
Chief regarding changes in federal, state and local codes applicable to fire safety; recommend 
policies, procedures, and fire code revisions as necessary in an expeditious and timely fashion. 
 
Coordinate activities necessary in the code adoption cycle. 
 
Develop and implement procedural methods and practices for reviewing plans, conducting 
inspections and investigating fire loss incidents and related activities as required; provide 
continued technical support and training as required. 
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Coordinate the activities of the Community Risk Reduction Division with other programs of the 
Fire Department and with other departments and divisions in the jurisdiction, particularly the 
planning and building safety functions. 
 
Represent the Fire Department before the City Councils, City Commissions, Boards, 
Committees, and civic organizations on community risk reduction matters as necessary. 
 
Meet and assist architects, engineers, contractors and others involved in development and 
construction activities.  
 
Supervise and participate in the conduct of fire loss investigations; determine the origin, cause 
and loss value of fire incidents; collect evidence and participate in prosecution activities as 
required. 
 
Direct, oversee and participate in the development of the Division work plan, assign work 
activities, projects, and programs; monitor work flow; implement policies and procedures; 
review and evaluate work products, methods, and procedures. 
 
Develop and present fire safety information and education programs to the department, the 
public, and community groups. 
 
Prepare and administer the Division budget; forecast the funds needed for staffing, equipment, 
materials, facilities and supplies to operate the division. 
 
Select, supervise and evaluate division personnel; provide or coordinate staff training; work with 
employees to correct deficiencies; implement discipline procedures; recommend employee 
terminations. 
 
May be required to be available on an on-call basis. 
 
Testify as an expert witness in court cases involving fire code citations, arson, and accidental 
fires. 
 
Assist in comprehensive, technical plan checks of proposed projects to determine fire safety 
conditions and needs; conduct field inspections of construction projects as necessary; and ensure 
that client needs and City policies and procedures are met. 
 
Develop and maintain a variety of records and reports. 
 
QUALIFICATIONS 
 
 Knowledge of: 
 

Principles and practices of organization, administration, budgeting, personnel 
management, training and supervision. 
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Principles, methods and practices of modern community risk reduction; including public 
education, inspections, and code enforcement. 

 
Applicable local, state, and federal laws, codes and regulations. 
 
Mechanical, chemical and related characteristics for a wide variety of flammable and 
explosive materials, objects, and hazardous materials. 
 
Ability to: 

 
 Work in a participatory management environment. 
 

Plan, organize and participate in a comprehensive fire prevention and community risk 
reduction program. 
 
Investigate fires and determine their origin and cause. 
 
Prepare and maintain a variety of records and reports. 
 
Read and interpret construction plans and specifications. 
 
Develop and implement community risk reduction policies and procedures. 
 
Represent the Fire Department with contractors, engineers, and developers and in public 
meetings. 
 
Prepare and administer Division budget. 
 
Supervise, train, and evaluate assigned subordinates. 
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Establish and maintain positive working relationships with those contacted in the course 
of work. 
 

EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING GUIDELINES 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would likely provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the knowledge and abilities would be: 
 
 Experience: 

Five years of work experience involving the inspection of structures for conformance to 
fire safety standards and systems including TWO years supervisory experience.   
 
Experience in fire suppression or supervision of fire suppression personnel. 
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Education: 
 
Equivalent to a Bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or university with a major 
course of study in fire science, public or business administration, fire protection 
engineering, or civil or structural engineering, or a closely related field.  Can substitute 
education for years of experience in a dedicated fire prevention bureau on a two for one 
basis. 

 
License or Certificate: 
 
Possession of a valid California Driver’s License.  Possession of Fire Marshal certification is 
highly desirable. 
 
ADA Special Requirement: 
Essential duties require the following physical abilities and work environment: 
 
Ability to sit, stand, walk, kneel, stoop, reach, crawl, climb, travel to different locations, and lift 
50 pounds; exposure to noise, outdoors, confining work space, electrical hazards, chemicals, 
dust, and hazardous materials. 
 
Adopted Fire Board:   
Employee Group: Battalion Chiefs 
FLSA: Exempt 
Pre-Appt. Medical:  Yes 
Safety Sensitive:  Yes 
Form 700: Yes 
Job Code: 2430  



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FIRE PREVENTION INSPECTOR I/II 
 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To perform technical inspection and investigative work in enforcing compliance with laws, 
ordinances and regulations pertaining to the prevention and control of fires; and do related work as 
required.  
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
Fire Prevention Inspector I--This is the entry level class in the Fire Prevention Inspection series. 
This class is distinguished from the Fire Prevention Inspector II by the performance of the more 
routine tasks and duties assigned to positions within the series including weed abatement and smoke 
detector inspections, which do not require prior specialized experience.  Generally, work is 
observed and reviewed both during performance and upon completion, and changes in procedures 
and exceptions to rules are explained in detail as they arise.  Since this class is typically used as a 
training class, employees may have only limited or no directly related work experience. 
 
Fire Prevention Inspector II--This is the journey level class within the Fire Prevention Inspector 
series.  Employees within this class are distinguished from the Fire Prevention Inspector I by the 
performance of the full range of fire prevention inspection duties.  Employees at this level receive 
only occasional instruction or assistance as new or unusual situations arise, and are fully aware of 
the operating procedures and policies of the work unit.  Positions in this class are flexibly staffed 
and are normally filled by advancement from the lower class of Fire Prevention Inspector I, or when 
filled from the outside, require substantial prior fire prevention inspection experience. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 

Fire Prevention Inspector I 
 
Receives general supervision from the Deputy Fire Marshal. 
 

Fire Prevention Inspector II 
 
Receives general supervision from the Deputy Fire Marshal. 
 
May exercise functional or technical supervision over less experienced staff. 
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EXAMPLES OF DUTIES - Depending upon assignment, duties may include, but are not limited 
to, the following: 
 
Interpret and enforce provisions of fire prevention and fire safety laws, ordinances and other  
regulations. 
 
Perform periodic inspections of new and existing buildings, structures and installations requiring  
fire clearances; identify fire hazards; recommend corrective actions; perform follow-up inspections  
to see that corrective actions have been taken. 
 
Investigate complaints pertaining to violation of fire prevention laws; issue correction orders as  
necessary. 
 
Investigate fires; secure fire scenes; identify types of fires; investigate causes of fire; collect, prepare  
and present evidence; interview witnesses and suspects; write fire investigations; testify in court  
when required. 
 
Provide information to the public concerning the fire prevention practices and procedures; develop  
and conduct training programs and group presentations relative to fire prevention and fire  
investigation. 
 
Instruct fire suppression crews about code interpretation and inspection techniques regarding fire  
prevention. 
 
Draw and prepare diagrams of buildings for pre-fire planning and fire inspections. 
 
Check building plans for code compliance, consult with architects and developers regarding  
problems and solutions. 
 
Perform tests on water flow, sprinkler and fire alarms and elevator return systems; certify smoke  
detectors. 
 
Prepare records and reports. 
 
Provide information to the public in forums and meetings. 
 
OTHER JOB-RELATED DUTIES 
 
Perform related duties and responsibilities as required. 
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QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Fire Prevention Inspector I 
 
 Knowledge of: 
 
 Principles, practices, and techniques of fire prevention. 
  
 Principles and techniques of building inspection work. 
 
  Ability to: 
 
  Work with minimal supervision within a team environment 
 
 Work in a participatory management environment. 
 
 Apply technical knowledge and follow proper inspection techniques. 
 
 Detect deviations from plans, regulations and standard safety practices. 
 
 Read and interpret building plans. 
 
 Learn to perform journey-level fire prevention inspection skills for a variety of buildings, 

structures, and installations. 
 
 Learn to enforce a variety of codes, ordinances and regulations pertaining to fire 

prevention with firmness and tact. 
 
 Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
 Establish and maintain cooperative working relationships with those contacted in the 

course of work such as builders, contractors, the general public and building inspectors. 
 
 Operate a variety of office equipment including computer terminals and necessary 

computer programs. 
 
 Perform annual maintenance inspections of commercial occupancies and assist Field 

companies with more difficult commercial inspections. 
 
Experience and Training Guidelines: 
 
Any combination of experience and training that would likely provide the required knowledge and  
abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the knowledge and abilities would be: 
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 Experience: 
 
 One year of responsible experience in a variety of building construction or related  
 inspection work that includes working with fire prevention regulations. 
 
 Training: 
 
 Equivalent to completion of the twelfth grade, supplemented by college level fire science  
 or prevention classes. 
 
License or Certificate: 
 
Possession of, or ability to obtain, an appropriate, valid California driver's license. 
 
Possession of a Fire Science Certificate is desirable. 
 
 Fire Prevention Inspector II 
 
In addition to the qualifications for Fire Prevention Inspector I: 
 
 Knowledge of: 
 
 Fire Department policies and procedures. 
 
 Federal, state and local fire prevention codes and ordinances. 
 
 Practices, procedures, and equipment used in fire investigations, including the ability to 

recognize and collect evidence. 
 
 Procedures and techniques for operating and testing equipment such as fire extinguishers, 

sprinkler systems, and alarm systems. 
 
 Arrest, search and seizure procedures. 
 
 Ability to: 
 
 Interpret and enforce federal, state and local fire prevention codes and ordinances. 
 
 Identify fire hazards and recommend corrective actions. 
 
 Identify types and determine causes of fires. 
 
 Recognize, identify and preserve evidence. 
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Effectively interview witnesses and suspects. 
 
Maintain records and prepare reports. 
 
Experience and Training Guidelines: 
Any combination of experience and training that would likely provide the required knowledge and  
abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the knowledge and abilities would be: 
 
 Experience: 
 
 Two years of increasingly responsible fire prevention inspection experience comparable to  
 that of a Fire Prevention Inspector I. 
 
 Training: 
 
 Equivalent to completion of the twelfth grade, supplemented by college level fire science  
 or prevention classes. 
 
License or Certificate: 
 
 Possession of, or ability to obtain, an appropriate, valid California driver's license. 
 
 Possession of one or more of the following is highly desirable: 
 
 Fire Science Certificate 
 
 Certification - Section 832 Penal Code - State of California 
 
 Uniform Fire Code Certification (WFCA-ICBO) 
 
 
ADA Special Requirement: 
Essential duties require the following physical abilities and work environment: 
 
Ability to sit, stand, walk, kneel, stoop, reach, crawl, climb, travel to different locations, and lift 50 
pounds; exposure to noise, outdoors, confining work space, electrical hazards, chemicals, dust, and 
hazardous materials. 
 
Adopted Fire Board:  
Bargaining Unit: Fire 
FLSA: Non-Exempt 
Pre-Appt. Medical: Yes 
Safety Sensitive: Yes 
Form 700: Yes 
Job Code: 3175, 3178 



 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

FIREFIGHTER 
 

DEFINITION 
 
To combat fires; to provide medical response and care for injured or ill persons; to prevent fires 
through active and effective inspections and public education programs; to enforce codes; to 
protect life and property; to operate and maintain firefighting equipment and fire stations; to do 
related work as required. 
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
Positions assigned to this class perform both trainee and journey-level fire combat work, medical 
care and fire prevention.  When initially employed, incumbents will be expected to successfully 
complete comprehensive entry level firefighter academy training program.  Once assigned to 
duty, firefighter/engineers are expected to perform the full range of 
prevention/safety/medical/suppression duties assigned to the class and to learn journey level 
skills in all areas of work assigned.  Individuals are periodically evaluated by supervisors 
regarding their progress in skill development, ability to function in their work environment and 
other work related elements of the job, both during and after completion of the probationary 
employment period. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Immediate supervision is most generally provided by a Fire Captain.  Technical or functional 
supervision may be provided by other department personnel. 
 
EXAMPLES OF IMPORTANT AND ESSENTIAL DUTIES 
 
Respond to fire suppression and medical emergencies. 
Operate fire hoses, including pulling and laying working lines, holding nozzle to direct stream of  
water on fire; operate engine pumping equipment, placing, raising, lowering and climbing  
ladders; assist in overhaul and salvage operations. 
 
 
Apply modern techniques relative to fire code enforcement, interpretation and inspection. 
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Drive and operate fire apparatus and/or other vehicles.  Possession of a valid Drivers License 
recognized by the State of California Department of Motor Vehicles as legal to operate a vehicle 
in California. 
 
Inspect, maintain, clean and test fire hoses, rescue equipment, fire apparatus, fire hydrants and  
other support equipment. 
 
Operate a variety of tools and equipment related to fire suppression and emergency medical  
activities including radio-telephone and computer equipment. 
 
Participate in fire drills and training exercises. 
 
Understand principles and operation of alarm systems, automatic fire sprinkler systems and other  
relevant technology. 
 
Learn fire department rules, regulations, and procedures; learn to identify fire hazards and  
hazardous materials; learn firefighting techniques and emergency medical procedures; and learn  
fire prevention laws and regulations, department and city policies.  Learn to apply the techniques  
of such rules, regulations, policies, and the laws in an effective manner. 
 
An applicant shall be disqualified for employment consideration if said applicant has smoked  
tobacco within one year immediately proceeding the date of filing of application for  
employment. 
 
OTHER JOB RELATED DUTIES 
 
Learn and apply fire Inspection Laws and Regulations. 
 
Clean station quarters and equipment and perform minor maintenance activities on these  
facilities and equipment. 
 
Maintain and update departmental maps, run cards, equipment records and other records and  
criteria as assigned. 
 
Learn and apply public education skills. 
 
Participate in continuous training through both simulated and on the job exercises. 
 
Prepare reports with respect to work operations. 
 
Participate in assigned fire department work. 
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JOB RELATED AND ESSENTIAL QUALIFICATIONS 
 
 Knowledge of and Ability to: 
 

Learn rules, regulations, and operational procedures of the fire department. 
 

Learn and apply fire combat methods and techniques. 
 

Learn and apply emergency medical procedures. 
 
Demonstrate physical endurance, agility, strength, and stamina in the performance of 
hazardous tasks under emergency conditions. 

 
Demonstrate a high degree of mechanical aptitude. 

 
Learn and demonstrate the operating and mechanical principals of fire apparatus, fire 
alarm systems, automatic fire extinguishing equipment, and other fire equipment. 

 
Learn to effectively and safely drive and operate the full range of fire apparatus and 
equipment used by the fire department. 

 
Learn to perform field calculations of hydraulics for the proper and effective operation of 
equipment at emergency scenes. 

 
Learn and effectively demonstrate fire combat methods and techniques, the operation of 
firefighting equipment, street location and physical layout of the cities and major traffic 
and fire hazards. 

 
Think and act quickly in emergencies. 

 
Understand and follow oral and written directions promptly and accurately. 

 
Effectively impart knowledge of materials learned to others. 

 
Deal courteously and effectively with the public. 
 
Establish and maintain cooperative relationships with those contacted in the course of 
work. 

 
 
Experience and Training Guidelines: 
Any combination of experience and training that would likely provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the knowledge and abilities would be: 
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 Experience and Training: 
 

High School diploma 
 

EMT-1 or EMT FS Certification 
 

AND THE FOLLOWING, WHICH ARE DESIRABLE: 
 
An Associate Degree from an Accredited College or sixty (60) semester units and two (2) 
years of verifiable work experience. 
 

OR 
 

Two (2) years of active military service with an honorable discharge. 
 

OR 
 
Two (2) years of fire service-related experience. 
 

OR 
 
Completion of San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department Cadet Program and thirty (30) 
semester units of which twenty-four (24) will be in Fire Science above the San Mateo 
Consolidated Fire Department Cadet Program and two (2) years of verifiable work 
experience. 
 

OR 
 
Attainment of journey level in the mechanical or construction trades. 

 
OTHER QUALIFICATIONS: 
 
The ability to type at 25 words per minute (corrected) is desirable. 
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ADA Special Requirements: 
Essential Duties require the following physical abilities and work environment: 
 
Ability to sit, stand, walk, run, kneel, crouch, squat, stoop, reach, crawl, twist, climb, drive, and 
lift 150 pounds; exposure to cold, heat, extreme noise, outdoors, confining work space, electrical 
hazards, vibration, chemicals and dust, toxic waste, mechanical hazards, explosive materials; 
availability for shift work, on-call and stand-by call. 
 
Adopted Fire Board:   
Bargaining Unit: Fire Unit 
FLSA: Non-Exempt 
Pre-Appt. Medical: Yes 
Safety Sensitive: Yes 
Form 700: No 
Job Code: 3140/3144 
 



 
 

                     
 
 
 

 
FLEET AND FACILITIES MANAGER 

 
 
DEFINITION 
 
Under general direction, plans, schedules, manages and supervises the programs and activities of 
associated with facilities maintenance, facilities planning and capital projects, fleet operations and 
maintenance and disposal and acquisition of new vehicles and equipment; manages and develops 
outside contracts, vendors, and project budgets; assures regulatory compliance and economy in all 
programs; performs related work as required. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED  
 
The position supervises contracts and staff as assigned.  The Fleet and Facilities Manager receives 
direction from the Deputy Fire Chief and Fire Chief.  
 
EXAMPLES OF DUTIES – The duties and responsibilities listed below are illustrative only and 
are not meant to be a full and exhaustive listing of all of the duties and responsibilities of the 
classification: 
 
Plans, organizes, and manages the maintenance, operation, inspection, installation and repair of 
facilities as assigned; prepares work plans and schedules. 
 
Supervises and manages safety training and work task procedures; assigns, supervises, trains, 
inspects and evaluates work of contract personnel; delegates field responsibilities and functions to 
Department staff as necessary.  
 
Collects data such as work requests/job orders, inventory, equipment replacement, purchasing, 
fixed assets; reviews plans and specifications for input into computerized programs; prepares and 
submits data for B.M.P. (Best Management Practices) reports. 
 
Plans, schedules and participates in vehicle and equipment maintenance assignments; sets 
priorities for work involving vehicle maintenance, repair, and purchases/replacements as well as 
mechanical equipment maintenance, repair and purchases/replacements; plans and schedules 
vehicle and equipment maintenance/repair activities; develops programs for routine and preventive 
maintenance of vehicles and equipment; prepares work plans and schedules.



 
 

 
 
Receives, evaluates and processes work requests from Department; and determines priorities and 
methods necessary to achieve objectives; advises management staff of work in progress, operating 
problems and actual or potential delays. 
 
Supervises and manages safety training and work task procedures; directs, assigns, supervises, 
trains, inspects and evaluates work of contract personnel. 
 
Coordinates computerized system to track vehicles and equipment, work orders, time and 
materials, and prepare periodic charge-back reports; prepares periodic reports and summaries; and 
directs and participates in the maintenance of records of work activities. 
 
Coordinates projects with other agencies and outside contractors; assists in the determination of 
the need for use of contractors; prepares contract documents and specifications; participates in 
vendor/contractor selection; administers contracts; reviews and evaluates the work of contractors; 
determines contractual compliance; reviews and approves billings and charges for services. 
 
Administers programs and processes and makes decisions in accordance with established rules and 
regulations, policies and procedures and guidelines; participates in the development of 
department/division rules, policies and procedures, goals and objectives, and priorities; 
coordinates external compliance programs including the CHP BIT inspection program.  
 
Assists in the preparation of the department budget; prepares and submits budget for assigned 
division and program areas; monitors budget expenditures; prepares cost estimates for 
maintenance, repair, and program activities. 
 
Evaluates equipment for purchase and assists in the development of specifications; orders 
materials and supplies; approves orders of materials and supplies by other staff associated with 
program area. 
 
Responds to questions, complaints and emergency calls and takes appropriate courses of action. 
 
Performs related work as assigned.  
 
QUALIFICATIONS 
 
Knowledge of: 
 
Principals, practices and methods of vehicle and equipment management; applicable federal, state 
and local laws, codes and regulations, including safety regulations and procedures; effective 
supervisory and management principles and practices; methods, materials, terminology, and tools 
and equipment associated with parks and recreation facilities and systems construction, repair and 
maintenance; design drawing and specifications; budgeting, accounting and purchasing methods 
and principles; methods, materials, terminology, and tools and equipment associated with vehicle 
and equipment maintenance and repair; business mathematics; design drawing and specifications; 



 
 
effective methods of record keeping and inventory control; computerized maintenance 
management systems; training and employee development programs; business correspondence, 
report writing, and English usage, including spelling, punctuation and grammar.   
 
Skill in:  
 
Preparing budget analysis, cost projections and cost-benefit analyses; managing complex projects; 
operating required tools, vehicles and equipment in a safe manner; communicating clearly and 
concisely, both orally and in writing; training, evaluating and instructing staff; operating office 
equipment, including computers and associated software applications; scheduling and 
implementing an effective preventive maintenance program; troubleshooting equipment problems 
and estimating staff, materials and supplies required to perform maintenance and repair work; 
maintaining accurate records of materials supplies and work performed; and reading and 
interpreting plans, specifications and manuals for a variety of vehicles and equipment; reading and 
interpreting contracts.   
 
Ability to:   
 
Plan, organize, direct, schedule, supervise, and review activities of assigned staff; prepare projects 
and see them to completion; interpret work from sketches, blueprints, and maps; prepare and 
review plans and specifications; analyze problems, evaluate alternatives, and make sound 
decisions and recommendations; present clear and concise oral and written reports; interpret and 
apply pertinent provisions of the City’s Rules and Regulations, City policies and other laws related 
to human resources administration; plan, prioritize and direct divisional programs; use tools and 
equipment associated with the  functions assigned to supervise; establish and maintain effective 
working relationships with those contacted in the course of work; exercise good judgment and 
make appropriate decisions; learn and use a variety of computer software applications related to 
the work; perform related duties as assigned. 
 
Develop effective customer service policies and procedures; use computer applications related to 
the work; prepare periodic and special reports and correspondence related to the work of the 
division; perform vehicle and equipment repair and testing; establish and maintain effective 
working relationships with those contacted in the course of the work. 
 
Incumbents must possess the physical and mental capacity to work under the conditions described 
in this document and to perform the duties required by their assigned position. 
 
EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING GUIDELINES 
 
Any combination of education and training that would likely provide the required knowledge, 
skills and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way would be: 
 
Experience:  
 
Five years working experience at journeyman level as a mechanic performing vehicle and 
equipment repairs and at least one year experience in a supervisory capacity. 
 
Experience with large and/or specialized vehicles, such as fire engines, police cars, and/or trucks, 
is very strongly desired.  
 



 
 
Education:  
 
A high school diploma or equivalent and technical training and/or certification in vehicle repair.  
Equivalent to an AA Degree in Automotive Technology is desirable. 
 
 
LICENSES, CERTIFICATES AND REGISTRATION 
 
License: Possession of a valid California Class "C" and Class “B” Driver's License upon 
appointment.  Must maintain valid licenses with appropriate endorsements and a good driving 
record; meet requirements for renewal of required licenses. 
 
Certifications: Possession of ASE Certification in air conditioning, brakes and electrical systems 
or equivalent highly desired. 
 
 
ADA SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS 
Essential duties require the following physical abilities and work environment: 
 
Ability to stand for long periods of time; ability to climb, stoop, squat and bend to diagnose and 
repair vehicles and equipment; ability to discern color; ability to work effectively with all levels 
of staff; ability to develop and maintain records and automated systems for tracking and 
monitoring work and inventories. 
 
 
Adopted Fire Board: 01-19-2019 
Employee Group: Management    
FLSA: Exempt    
Pre Appt. Medical: Yes 
Safety Sensitive: Yes  
Form 700: Yes 
Job Code: 2078 
 



   
  

 
 

 
 
 

 
MANAGEMENT ANALYST I/II 

 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To perform responsible, professional and technical administrative duties in providing staff 
assistance to departments and major divisions of offices; to conduct special studies, surveys and 
research assignments in a variety of administrative and operational procedures and topics; and to 
do related work as required. 
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
Management Analyst I - This is the entry level class in the Management Analyst series. 
Incumbents of this class perform the more routine administrative work that requires only limited 
previous municipal administrative experience. Management Analysts I are considered to be in a 
continued training status and as assigned responsibilities and breadth of knowledge increase with 
experience, may reasonably expect their positions to advance to the next higher class of 
Management Analyst II. 
 
Management Analyst II - Positions in this class are flexibly staffed and are normally filled by 
advancement from the lower level of Management Analyst I, or, when filled from the outside, 
require prior municipal administrative experience. Appointment to the higher class requires that 
the employee be performing substantially the full range of duties for the class and meet the 
qualification standards for the class. A Management Analyst II works under general supervision 
and is expected to perform the entire range of administrative and technical duties requiring a 
complete knowledge of departmental policies and procedures. Work in this class is distinguished 
from that of a Management Analyst I by the greater complexity of the assignments received and 
by the greater independence with which an incumbent is expected to operate.  
 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives direction from higher level departmental or administrative management personnel. 
 
May exercise technical and functional supervision over office and clerical personnel. 
 
EXAMPLES OF DUTIES - Depending upon assignment, duties may include, but are not 
limited to, the following: 
 
Compile and analyze data; prepare reports and make recommendations on the formulation of 
policy and procedure, and staffing and organization changes. 
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Conduct surveys and perform research and statistical analyses on administrative, fiscal, 
personnel, and operational problems. 
 
Participate in the development and installation of new or revised programs, systems, procedures, 
and methods of operation; update and revise policies and procedures. 
 
Assist in the development, coordination and monitoring of the department budget; analyze cost 
and revenue trends; prepare a variety of fiscal, administrative and management reports, 
implement fixed asset inventory program. 
 
Compile materials and assist on the preparation of reports, manuals, and publications. 
 
Participate in administering contracts including those relating to capital improvement projects; 
monitor programs for compliance with applicable regulations. 
 
Assist in the design and implementation of systems and forms for use in operation. 
 
Respond to complaints and requests for information. 
 
Represent the Department in interdepartmental, community, and professional meetings as 
required; make presentations as necessary. 
 
Assist in the coordination of intradepartmental and departmental activities with other  
departments and divisions, and outside agencies. 
 
Interpret Federal, State and City regulations; coordinate their application to Department 
operations. 
 
QUALIFICATIONS 
 
Management Analyst I 
 
Knowledge of: 
Standard office practices, procedures, methods and equipment. 
 
Principles and practices of organization and public administration. 
 
 
Basic Principles, methods, and practices of municipal finance, budgeting, accounting, and 
personnel management. 
 
Basic research techniques and methods of report preparation. 
 
Ability to: 
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Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 
Review organizational and administrative problems, and recommend and implement an 
effective course of action. 
 
Establish and maintain cooperative working relationships with those contacted in the course 
of work. 
 
Learn, interpret and apply Department policies, procedures, rules and regulations. 
 
EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING GUIDELINES 
Any combination of experience and education that would likely provide the required knowledge 
and abilities is qualifying. A typical way to obtain the knowledge and abilities would be: 
 
Experience: 
One year of general administrative experience, preferably in local government. 
 
Training: 
Equivalent to a Bachelor’s Degree from an accredited college or university with major work 
in public or business administration or a closely related field. 
 
Management Analyst II 
In addition to the qualifications for Management Analyst I: 
 
Knowledge of: 
Research techniques, sources, and availability of information, and of report preparation 
and presentation. 
 
Pertinent State, Federal and local laws and regulations. 
 
Principles, methods and practices of municipal finance, budgeting, accounting, and 
personnel management. 
 
Organization and management practices as applied to the analysis and evaluation of 
programs, policies, and operational needs. 
 
Ability to: 
Properly interpret and make decisions in accordance with laws, rules, and policies. 
 
EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING GUIDELINES 
Any combination of experience and training that would likely provide the required 
knowledge and abilities is qualifying. A typical way to obtain the knowledge and abilities 
would be two years of experience performing duties comparable to those of a Management 
Analyst I. 
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ADA Special Requirement: 
Essential duties require the following physical abilities and work environment: 
 
Ability to work in a standard office environment. 
 
 
Adopted Fire Board:  
Employee Group: Management 
FLSA: Analyst I: Non-Exempt; Analyst II: Exempt 
Pre-Appt. Medical: No 
Safety Sensitive: No 
Form 700: Yes 
Job Code: 2022/2023 



   
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
OFFICE ASSISTANT I/II 

 
 
DEFINITION 
 
To perform a wide variety of general clerical duties as required in the assigned departments; and 
to do related work as required.  
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
Office Assistant I - This is the entry level class in the Office Assistant series. The class is 
distinguished from the Office Assistant II by the performance of the more routine tasks and 
duties assigned to positions within the series including duties performed according to established 
procedures and changes in procedures or exceptions to rules explained in detail as they arise. 
Since this class can be used as a training class, employees may have only limited or no directly 
related work experience. Certain positions in this class, those that contain primarily routine and 
less complex tasks, may be permanently assigned to the "I" level.  
 
Office Assistant II - This is the journey level class within the Office Assistant series. Employees 
within this class are distinguished from the Office Assistant I by the performance of the full 
range of duties as assigned including duties requiring the knowledge of general Department 
procedures on purchasing, personnel and payroll as well as a knowledge of department policies 
and procedures. Employees at this level receive only occasional instruction or assistance as new 
or unusual situations arise, and are fully aware of the operating procedures and policies of the 
work unit. Positions in this class are flexibly staffed and are normally filled by advancement 
from the I level, or when filled from the outside, require prior clerical experience. Appointment 
to the II level requires that the employee be performing the full range of duties for the class and 
meets the qualification standards for the class. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Office Assistant I - Receives immediate supervision from management, professional, technical, 
or higher level clerical positions.  
 
Office Assistant II - Receives general supervision from management, professional, technical, or 
higher level clerical positions.  
May exercise functional and technical supervision over lower level clerical staff.  
 
EXAMPLES OF DUTIES - Depending upon assignment, duties may include, but are not 
limited to, the following: 
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Type and proofread a variety of documents including general correspondence, agendas, reports, 
memos, and statistical charts from rough draft,  forms, copy, notes, transcribing machine 
recordings or verbal instruction.  
 
Perform a wide variety of routine clerical work including filing, billing, checking and recording 
information on records and record keeping of various funds and expenditures. 
 
Compile information and data for statistical and financial reports.  
 
Maintain a variety of statistical records; check and tabulate statistical data; prepare simple 
statistical reports.  
 
Maintain personnel and payroll records of departmental personnel; process a variety of forms to 
initiate changes in records.  
 
Maintain inventory records; process purchase requisitions; maintain purchase records; resolve 
errors in orders received and invoices.  
 
Order office supplies; submit expense claims. 
  
Act as receptionist; answer the telephone and wait on the general public, providing information 
on departmental policies and procedures as required; refer calls to appropriate department 
personnel. 
  
Sort and file documents and records, maintaining alphabetical, index, and cross-reference files. 
  
Receive, sort and distribute incoming and outgoing correspondence.  
 
Schedule appointments and various meetings.  
 
Issue, receive, type and process various applications, permits and other forms.  
 
Assist in the training of new personnel.  
 
May maintain petty cash fund; accept payment of fees; maintain and process cash records.  
 
QUALIFICATIONS 
 
Office Assistant I  
 
Knowledge of:  
English usage, spelling, grammar, and punctuation. 
 
Business letter writing and basic report preparation.  
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Ability to:  
Type at speed necessary for adequate job performance. 
  
Perform routine clerical work.  
 
Learn to operate modern office machines and learn office methods, rules and policies including 
receptionist techniques.  
 
Understand and carry out oral and written directions.  
 
Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing.  
Establish and maintain cooperative working relationships with those contacted in the course of work.  
 
EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING GUIDELINES  
Any combination of experience and training that would likely provide the required knowledge and  
abilities is qualifying. A typical way to obtain the knowledge and abilities would be:  
 
Experience:  
Some general clerical experience is desirable.  
 
Training:  
Equivalent to the completion of the twelfth grade. Additional specialized clerical training is  
desirable.  
 
Office Assistant II 
In addition to the qualifications for Office Assistant I:  
 
Knowledge of:  
Organization, procedures and operating details of City governments.  
 
Modern office methods, practices, procedures and computer equipment.  
 
Principles and procedures of record keeping.  
 
Basic work processing methods, techniques and programs.  
 
Ability to:  
Perform general clerical work including maintenance of appropriate records and compiling 
information for reports.  
 
Learn and correctly interpret and apply the policies and procedures of the function to which assigned.  
 
Work courteously with the general public on the telephone or in person.  
 
Operate a variety of office equipment including a word processor and/or computer terminal.  
 
Understand and carry out oral and written directions.  
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Perform simple mathematical calculations.  
 
EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING GUIDELINES  
Any combination of experience and training that would likely provide the required knowledge and  
abilities is qualifying. A typical way to obtain the knowledge and abilities would be:  
 
Experience:  
One year of general clerical experience including public contact comparable to that of a  
Office Assistant I in the City of San Mateo.  
 
ADA Special Requirement: 
Essential duties require the following physical abilities and work environment: 
 
Ability to work in a standard office environment. 
 
 
Adopted Fire Board:  
Employee Group: General 
FLSA: Non-Exempt 
Pre-Appt. Medical: No 
Safety Sensitive: No 
Form 700: No 
Job Code: 5230/5430 



 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 
 
 
To: San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department Board of Directors 
  
From: William D. Ross, General Counsel 
  
Date: October 8, 2019 
 
Subject: Hiring Plan for Selection of New Fire Chief 

 
RECOMMENDATION  
Adopt a Resolution approving a hiring plan authorizing San Mateo Consolidated (SMC) Fire Department 
and San Mateo Human Resources (HR) Department to conduct an internal recruitment of the qualified 
SMC Fire Command Staff employees. 
 
BACKGROUND 
On September 11, 2019 at the Regular Fire Board meeting, current Fire Chief John Healy shared his 
intention to retire from his role as Fire Chief from SMC Fire on December 27, 2019.  The Fire Board directed 
the Fire Chief and Department staff to bring back options and a recommendation on the process for filling 
the position.   
 
The options are: 

• Appoint a new Fire Chief without conducting a recruitment process. 
• Conduct an internal-only recruitment, which means only current SMC Fire employees can apply.  
• Conduct an open recruitment for which anyone can apply.  

 
The Board also directed the Department’s Legal Counsel to present a resolution as required by CalPERS to 
allow for Chief Healy to work as a retired annuitant in the event his services are needed during the 
recruitment process, which will be presented at a subsequent meeting for Board consideration after 
initiation of the recruitment process. The Fire Board included interest in allowing sufficient time to allow 
the current Fire Chief to transfer required organizational details to the incoming replacement. 
 
ANALYSIS 
The Fire Chief and HR staff reviewed the working Fire Chief’s job classification and determined there are 
several current employees that meet the position qualifications. The SMC Fire organization has several 
talented members internally who are qualified and would likely be interested in competing for the 
position. In addition, several other County Fire Agencies are, or will be recruiting for Fire Chief in the 
coming months. Additionally, the cost of using an executive recruiter to perform extensive candidate 
outreach could be as high as $30K.   
 
They therefore discussed the possibility of holding a successful internal-only recruitment instead of an 
open recruitment, and determined it was the best course of action to recommend to the Fire Board.  



 
FISCAL IMPACT 
Costs associated will holding an internal testing process would be less than five hundred dollars, and 
those funds would come out of our current operating budget.  
 
ATTACHMENTS  
A. Resolution 
B. Hiring Plan Time Frame 
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RESOLUTION NO. ___ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE SAN MATEO CONSOLIDATED FIRE DEPARTMENT 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS APPROVING A HIRING PLAN FOR INTERNAL 
RECRUITMENT OF QUALIFIFED COMMAND STAFF EMPLOYEES FOR 

POSITION OF FIRE CHIEF  
 
 WHEREAS, on September 11, 2019 at the Regular Meeting of the San Mateo 
Consolidated Fire Department (“Department”) Board of Directors, current Fire Chief John Healy 
gave notice of his intent to retire from his role as Fire Chief for the Department, effective 
December 27, 2019; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, as the Fire Chief position is the operational head of the Department and its 
day-to-day operations, it is pivotal that recruitment be initiated in order to identify and fill the 
Fire Chief position with a qualified candidate; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, possible options for filing the pending Fire Chief vacancy include 
appointing a new Fire Chief without conducting a recruitment process, conducting an internal-
only recruitment for which only current Department employees can apply, or conduct an open 
recruitment for any qualified individual to apply; and, 
 

WHEREAS, there are current Department employees that meet the qualifications for the 
position, including the knowledge and skills required for consideration for the position; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, should an internal candidate ultimately be chosen for the position, the 
Department would benefit due to avoiding costs associated with retaining an executive recruiter, 
as well as facilitating a more seamless transition due to the institutional knowledge possessed by 
qualified internal candidates; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, Department Staff has prepared a recruitment plan and anticipated time 
frames for conducting internal recruitment, attached as Exhibit A. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the Board of Directors of the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Depart 
hereby resolves as follows: 
 

1. Authorizing Department Staff to conduct internal recruitment for the Fire Chief 
position and approving a recruitment plan and anticipated timeline consistent with 
that set forth in Exhibit A.  

 
 

*** 
  

PASSED AND ADOPTED as a resolution of the Board of Directors of the San Mateo 
Consolidated Fire Department at the regular meeting held on the 8th day of October, 2019 by the 
following vote:  
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AYES:  

 

NOES:   
ABSENT:   
ABSTAIN:   
  
 

ATTEST: 

  

Board Secretary 

  

Board President 

 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

  

William D. Ross, General Counsel 

 
  



 

 

 

 

 

 

The following is the proposed hiring plan time frame developed by staff as it relates to the internal 
recruitment of qualified Command Staff personnel for the position of Fire Chief: 

 

1) Develop Position Announcement – October 2019  

2) Announcement/Application period – November 2019 

2) Application Review and verification – December 2019 

3) Member Agency City Managers’ and Fire Board Members Panel Interviews – January 2020 

4) Appointment – next scheduled Regular Fire Board Meeting (TBD at October 8, 2019 meeting) 



 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 
 
 
To:   San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department Board of Directors 
  
From:  John Healy, Fire Chief 
  
Date:  October 8, 2019 
 
Subject: Response to Grand Jury Report   

 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
Adopt a Resolution approving the response by the Fire Chief to the San Mateo County Grand Jury 
regarding Fire Safety Inspection Programs, including implementation of the Community Risk Reduction 
Division’s Mandated Inspections Tracking policy, and direct the Fire Chief to send the response to the 
San Mateo County Grand Jury in accordance with State Law. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The 2018-2019 San Mateo County Civil Grand Jury developed a report titled Fire Safety Inspection 
Programs on the Road to Recovery, which was released on July 22nd 2019. The report was developed 
because of an article by the Bay Area News Group in which they found that fire departments all over the 
Bay Area were not meeting their legal obligations to inspect certain kinds of occupancies. After the article 
appeared in the Bay Area News Group Publications, a law was passed, SB 1205 (Hill) which required a 
report be made on the inspection mandates to the administering authority of the fire department serving 
a jurisdiction. While the article did not directly address any of the three cities served by the San Mateo 
Consolidated Fire Department, the Grand Jury decided to look at all of the fire departments in the county. 
 
The report made 18 findings, and 4 recommendations based on the State of California’s Health and Safety 
Code’s mandates, as well as the new requirements of SB 1205. The attached report recognizes and 
responds to those items that were directed to the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department, and 
addresses each recommendation. The attached policy is one of the items recommended by the Grand 
Jury, which was approved by the department’s Fire Action Consensus Team (FACT) committee in 
September. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
There is no fiscal impact of accepting the response.  
 
ATTACHMENTS  
A. Resolution 
B. Grand Jury Report “FIRE SAFETY INSPECTION PROGRAMS ON THE ROAD TO RECOVERY” 
C. Response to the Grand Jury Report 
D. Inspection Policy (K-21: Mandated Inspection Tracking) 
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RESOLUTION NO.   
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SAN MATEO 
CONSOLIDATED (SMC) FIRE DEPARTMENT APPROVING THE RESPONSE BY 
THE FIRE CHIEF TO THE SAN MATEO COUNTY GRAND JURY REGARDING 

FIRE SAFETY INSPECTION PROGRAMS 
 
 WHEREAS, on July 22, 2019 the San Mateo County Grand Jury released a report titled 
Fire Safety Inspection Programs on the Road to Recovery; and,   
 
 WHEREAS, the report was developed following an article by the Bay Area News Group 
in which they found that fire departments throughout the Bay Area were not meeting legal 
obligations to inspect certain kinds of occupancies; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, following release of the article, a law was passed (SB 1205) which requires 
a report be made on the inspection mandates to the administering authority of the fire department 
serving a jurisdiction; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Grand Jury report, which looked at all fire departments within San 
Mateo County made eighteen (18) findings and four (4) recommendations specific to San Mateo 
Consolidated Fire Department, based on the State of California’s Health and Safety Code’s 
mandates as well as new requirements in SB 1205; and,  
 
 WHEREAS, Community Risk Reduction Division (CRRD) staff have developed a 
response addressing these findings and recommendations, which includes the implementation of 
a CRRD Mandated Inspections policy.  
 
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, the Board of Directors of the San Mateo Consolidated Fire 
Department resolves as follows:  
 

1. Adopt a Resolution approving the response by the Fire Chief to the San Mateo 
County Grand Jury regarding Fire Safety Inspection Programs, including 
implementation of the Community Risk Reduction Division’s Mandated Inspection 
Tracking policy, and direct the Fire Chief to send the response to the San Mateo 
County Grand Jury in accordance with State Law.  
  

 
*** 

 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED as a resolution of the Board of Directors of the San Mateo 
Consolidated Fire Department at the regular meeting held on the 8th day of October, 2019, by the 
following vote:  
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AYES:   

  

 
NOES:  

  

 
ABSENT:   

  

 
ABSTAIN:   

  

  
 

ATTEST: 

  

Board Secretary 

  

Board President 

 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

  

William D. Ross, General Counsel 

 
  
 

 

















































 
 

 
 
 

July 26, 2019 
 

 
Hon. Donald J Ayoob 
Judge of the Superior Court 
c/o Charlene Kresevich 
Hall of Justice 
400 County Ctr.; 2nd floor 
Redwood City, CA 94063 – 1655 
 
Honorable Judge Davis, 
 
This Letter serves as the response to the findings and recommendations of the San Mateo County 
grand jury report “Fire Safety Inspection Programs On The Road To Recovery”. 
 
This response was approved by the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department Board of Directors 
on October 8, 2019. 
 
Response to findings 
 
Inspections  
 
F1. California Health and Safety Code sections 13146.2, 13146.3, and 17 921 (B) and 
regulations require fire departments to conduct annual inspections of all public and private 
schools, hotels, motels, lodging houses, and apartments in their jurisdictions (mandated annual 
inspections). 
 
Response: The San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department agrees with the finding. 
 
F2. From 2015 through 2018, the following 3 fire departments conducted inspections of over 
90% of the mandated buildings and their jurisdictions, as shown in Table 1: 

• Menlo Park Fire Protection District 
• North County Fire Authority 
• Woodside Fire Protection District 

 
Response: Finding number 2 does not pertain to the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department. 
 
F3. The disorganization and incompleteness of the data submitted by the San Mateo 
Consolidated Fire Department for 2015 through 2017 (which it inherited from its predecessor 
fire departments) was such that it could not be analyzed by the grand jury. However, data 
submitted by SMC FD 4 2018 was well-organized and showed 100% of schools and 82% of the 
apartments, condominiums, hotels and motels within its jurisdiction were inspected that year. 

1040 East Hillsdale Blvd. 
Foster City, CA  94404 

(650) 522-7900 
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Response: The San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department agrees with the finding. 
 
F4. Each of the fire departments is developing more robust inspection programs by, for example: 

• Implementing database management systems. 
• Adding prevention staff. 
• Using iPads or tablets to document inspections. 

 
Response: The San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department agrees with the finding. 
 
School Inspections: 
 
F6. In 2015, 2016, and 2018 Central County Fire Department failed to perform annual 
inspections of at least 90% of the schools within its jurisdiction although it completed 96% of 
school inspections in 2017 as shown on Table 1. 
 
Response: This finding does not pertain to the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department so no 
response is warranted. 
 
F7. From 2015 through 2017 the following 4 fire departments failed to perform annual 
inspections of at least 90% of the schools within their jurisdiction, though all showed substantial 
improvement in 2018 as shown on Table 1: 

• Coastside Fire District increased inspections from 36% in 2017 to 91% in 2018. 
• Redwood City Fire Department increased from 15% in 2017 to 85% in 2018 and is on 

track to complete all schools by the end of its fiscal year. 
• San Bruno Fire Department increased inspections from 86% in 2017 to 100% in 2018. 
• South San Francisco increased inspections from 50% in 2016 and 2017 to 100% in 2018. 

 
Response: This finding does not pertain to the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department so no 
response is warranted. 
 
F8. From 2015 through 2018 Colma Fire District completed 100% of school inspections. 
 
Response: This finding does not pertain to the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department so no 
response is warranted. 
 
Apartment/Condominium/Hotel/Motel Inspections: 
 
F9. From 2015 through 2018, the following 4 fire departments failed to perform annual 
inspections of at least 90% of the apartments, condominiums, hotels and motels within their 
jurisdiction, as shown on table 1:  

• Coastside Fire Protection District; 
• Colma Fire District; 
• San Bruno Fire Department; and 
• South San Francisco Fire Department. 

 



Response: This finding does not pertain to the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department so no 
response is warranted. 
 
F10. From 2015 through 2017 Redwood City Fire Department failed to perform annual 
inspections of at least 90% of the apartments, hotels and motels within its jurisdiction, though the 
department showed substantial improvement in 2018 as shown on table 1: 

• Redwood City Fire Department improved from a low of 48% in 2016 to 77% in 2018 and 
is on track to complete all inspections by the end of its fiscal year. 

 
Response: This finding does not pertain to the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department so no 
response is warranted. 
 
F11: in 2016 Central County Fire Department failed to perform annual inspections of at least 
90% of the apartments, condominiums, hotels and motels within its jurisdiction. The department 
inspected over 90% of these structures and 2017 and 2018. The department cannot provide data 
for 2015. 
 
Response: This finding does not pertain to the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department so no 
response is warranted. 
 
Record-Keeping and Data Retrieval: 
 
F12: the following 5 fire departments currently have data management systems that allow them 
to readily track and report on the completion of their mandated annual inspections: 

• Central County Fire Department, 
• Menlo Park Fire Protection District, 
• North County Fire Authority, 
• San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department, and 
• Woodside Fire Protection District. 

 
Response: The San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department agrees with this finding as it pertains to 
the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department. 
 
F13: The following 2 departments plan to implement database systems that will allow them to 
readily track and report on the completion of the mandated annual inspections: 

• San Bruno Fire Department and 
• Redwood City Fire Department. 

 
Response: This finding does not pertain to the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department so no 
response is warranted. 
 
F14: The following 3 fire departments need to assess their data management systems to allow 
them to readily track and report on the completion of their mandated annual inspections: 

• Coastside Fire Protection District, 
• Colma Fire District, and 
• South San Francisco Fire Department. 



 
Response: This finding does not pertain to the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department so no 
response is warranted. 
 
Inspection Process and Staffing 
 
F15. The following 3 fire departments reported the need for additional prevention staff to 
complete all of their mandated annual inspections: 

• Redwood City Fire Department, 
• San Bruno Fire Department, and 
• San Mateo Consolidated Fire Departments. 

 
Response: The San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department agrees with this finding. The 
department hired 2 additional full-time inspectors since last meeting with the grand jury, but is 
continuing to assess the need for additional inspectors to complete the mandated inspections as 
required by law. 
 
F16. Coastside Fire Protection District and South San Francisco Fire Department reported they 
need to assess the sufficiency of their prevention staffing. 
 
Response: This finding does not pertain to the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department so no 
response is warranted. 
 
Policies and Procedures 
 
F17. The following 4 fire departments reported they do not have written policies and procedures 
in place governing their mandated annual inspection programs: 

• Coastside Fire Protection District, 
• Colma Fire District, 
• San Bruno Fire Department, and 
• San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department. 

 
Response: The San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department agrees with the finding. 
 
F18. None of the 10 departments’ policies and procedures specified how they will report to their 
administering authorities under SB 1205 (2018). 
 
Response: The San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department agrees with the finding. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
R1. By no later than January 31, 2020, each fire department within the County should put in 
place a written policy that sets forth the process for (1) maintaining a comprehensive list of all 
buildings within its jurisdictions for which annual inspections required under sections 13146.2 
and 13146.3 of the California health and safety code are to be performed, (2) keeping such a list 
updated on an annual basis, and (3) completing and reporting on all mandated annual 
inspections. 



 
Response: The San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department will put a will put a written policy into 
place that will require the maintenance of a comprehensive list of all buildings within our 
jurisdiction subject to the state mandates, that the list will be updated on an annual basis, and will 
complete those inspections annually. Additionally the policy will specify that a report will be 
provided to the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department Board Of Directors on the status of the 
inspections with regard to mandates. 
 
R2. By no later than November 30, 2019, each fire department should submit a proposal to its 
administering authorities setting forth the content of the annual report as required under section 
13 146.4 of the California Health and Safety Code (former SB 1205) (the “Annual Report”), 
which at a minimum should propose the inclusion of the following information in the Annual 
Report: 
 

• The total number of buildings within the fire department’s jurisdiction in each category 
of building (referred to as a “occupancy type”) subject to mandated annual inspections 
that year. 

• The number of each occupancy type inspected during the year; 
• The number of each occupancy type, if any, not inspected that year and the reason such 

inspection did not take place, and 
• The number of each occupancy type, if any, not inspected for 2 or more consecutive 

years. 
 
Response: The San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department has already begun the process of 
formulating a report that will be submitted to the board of directors on a quarterly basis. The 
Department will discuss these reports with the Board of Directors to ensure that they approve the 
content of the “Annual Report”. The content of the report will match the recommendations of the 
grand jury, but will also indicate the other tasks completed by the Fire Prevention Bureau during 
the reporting period. The 1st report of the new year will indicate how the department measured 
up against the state mandates for the previous calendar year. 
 
R3. By no later than January 31, 2020, the administering authority for each fire department 
should review the proposal for the content of the annual report submitted by its Fire Chief and 
provide written instructions regarding the required content and due date for submission of the 
annual report. 
 
Response: The San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department Board of Directors will have reviewed 
the proposal for the content of the annual report and will provide written instructions as directed 
by the recommendation by January 31, 2020. 
 
R4. By no later than February 28, 2020 (and annually thereafter), the administering authority for 
each fire department should instruct the Fire Chief to publish the fire department’s Annual 
Report on the fire department’s public website. 
 
Response: The San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department Board of Directors will instruct the Fire 
Chief to publish the annual report on the public website as recommended by the Grand Jury. 
 



 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
John Healy 
Fire Chief 
San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department 
 
cc: Ray Iverson, Deputy Fire Chief, Community Risk Reduction 
Robert Marshall, Fire Marshal  
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ARTICLE K: COMMUNITY RISK REDUCTION 

     

SECTION 21: MANDATED INSPECTIONS TRACKING POLICY 

 

POLICY 

 

It is the policy of the Fire Department that all mandated inspections as directed by State Law be 

tracked, and occupancies inspected, and inspection status reported. 

 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this policy is to establish that inspections mandated by the California Health and 

Safety Code are conducted within the appropriate timelines. Part of this requires that occupancies 

are identified and tracked. The following procedure should be followed to ensure all state 

mandates are met. State law also requires notification of the elected board of the status of 

inspections, and this policy sets out the standards under which those notifications will be 

provided.  

 

PROCEDURE 
 

The following outlines the process for identifying, tracking, and reporting “Mandated 

Inspections” of occupancies within the jurisdiction. 

 

21.1 Inspections 

a) Inspections of the following occupancies are mandated by State Law and shall be 

accomplished in accordance with the timelines established. 

 

i) Residential Occupancies 

(1) All R-1, R-2, R-2.1, and R-4 occupancies shall be inspected annually (Health and 

Safety Code §13146.2) 

(2) Annually applies to the initial inspection. The inspection shall be scheduled based 

on the last initial inspection date, and not on reinspection dates. 

(3) Inspections shall be assigned to either fire companies or fire inspectors 

 

ii) Highrise Occupancies 

(1) Highrise buildings shall be inspected annually (Health and Safety Code §13217) 

(2) Annually applies to the initial inspection. The inspection shall be scheduled based 

on the last initial inspection date, and not on reinspection dates. 

(3) Inspections shall be assigned to fire inspectors 

 

iii) School Occupancies 

(1) School occupancies shall be inspected annually (Health and Safety Code 

§13146.3) 

(a) Schools within the mandate include K – 12 public and private schools 

(b) Daycare Centers and pre-schools are not subject to the mandate unless the 

daycare or pre-school is located on the campus of an active public or private 

school subject to mandated inspections. 
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(2) Annually applies to the initial inspection. The inspection shall be scheduled based 

on the last initial inspection date, and not on reinspection dates. 

(3) Inspections shall be assigned to fire inspectors 

 

iv) Jails 

(1) I-3 occupancies shall be inspected biennially as requested by the State Fire 

Marshal’s Office (Health and Safety Code §13146.1) 

(2) Biennially applies to the initial inspection. The inspection shall be scheduled 

based on the last initial inspection date, and not on reinspection dates. 

(3) Inspections shall be assigned to fire inspectors  

 

21.2 Tracking 

a) In January of each year, the Fire Marshal shall be responsible to ensure that all 

occupancies subject to the inspection mandates in section 21.1 are accounted for.  

b) The following methods shall be used to account for these inspections 

i) Newly constructed occupancies (Through permitting and construction inspections) 

ii) New Businesses in existing buildings 

iii) State Department of Education Lists 

iv) County Assessor’s Office Rolls 

v) State Fire Marshal’s office (OSFM) list of High Rise structures (Sent in June each 

year by the OSFM) 

vi) California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation (CDCR) 

vii) Other data sources identified as they become available 

c) Each data source will be compared against the existing database used by the Fire 

Department. 

d) Where practicable, data sources will be updated as new data becomes available 

 

21.3 Reporting 

a) In January of each year, a report will be submitted annually to the Board of Directors of 

the Fire Department. 

b) The report will contain the following elements:  

i) The total number of buildings within the department’s jurisdiction in each occupancy 

type subject to mandated annual inspections that year 

ii) The number of each occupancy type inspected during the year 

iii) The number of each occupancy type, if any, not inspected that year and the reason 

such inspection did not take place 

iv) The number of each occupancy type, if any, not inspected for 2 or more consecutive 

years 

c) By no later than March 1st each year the report elements listed in section 21.3 (b) will be 

compiled and reported annually to the citizens of the departmental jurisdiction in the 

“Annual Report”, published each year. 

i) The report will be published on the website for the Fire Department  

 
 

 

Created: 9/4/19 
FACT approved: 9/24/2019 

Review: 9/2022 



   
 

   
 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 
 
 
To:    San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department Board of Directors    
  
From:  Rich Lee, Treasurer 
   
Meeting Date: October 8, 2019 
 
Subject:   Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for year ended June 30, 2019  

 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
Review, provide comments, authorize finalizing, and accept the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
for the year ended June 30, 2019.   
 
BACKGROUND  
The San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department (SMC Fire) commenced operations on January 13, 2019. 
As such, the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 
marks the first CAFR for SMC Fire.  
 
Entity-wide financial highlights for SMC Fire include: 
 

• Total net position of $12.8 million, which, by definition, is total assets (and deferred outflow of 
resources) less total liabilities. 

• Total revenues of $25.5 million, the majority of which were $20.2 million in contributions from 
the member agencies – the cities of Belmont, Foster City, and San Mateo. 

• Total expenses of $17.4 million, which were primarily comprised of $11.2 million in personnel 
costs.  

 
The General Fund, SMC Fire’s primary operating fund, ended the fiscal year with a fund balance of $0.9 
million; the result of $17.6 million in revenues less $16.7 million in expenditures. In each year when 
actual revenues exceed expenditures, the net difference will build the reserves in accordance with SMC 
Fire’s General Fund reserves policy, which sets aside three months of budgeted operating expenditures 
to proactively position SMC Fire to endure financial emergencies, including swings in the economic cycle 
and natural disasters. In the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, $0.9 million was added to establish the 
General Fund reserves. 
 
The Fire Prevention Fund, which accounts for activities of the Bureau of Fire Protection and Life Safety 
(Bureau), ended the fiscal year with a fund balance of $2.8 million. Of the $4.4 million in total revenues, 
$2.9 million reflected equity that was transferred from the City of San Mateo to SMC Fire, attributable 
to accumulated equity when the Bureau operated within the San Mateo Fire Department prior to SMC 
Fire commencement of operations. 



   
 

   
 

 
The Vehicle & Equipment Replacement Fund ended the fiscal year with $2.6 million in total net position, 
which was largely due to the contribution of $2.6 million from the member agencies, representing the 
first of three scheduled contributions from their respective replacement funds that had accumulated 
prior to SMC Fire commencement of operations. SMC Fire’s adopted 2019-20 budget included $2.1 
million in contributions from the three member agencies, which is the second of three scheduled 
contributions. The respective Finance Directors from the three member agencies will review the status 
of the Vehicle & Equipment Replacement Fund at the end of 2019-20 to determine if the third 
contribution is necessary to fund SMC Fire’s vehicle and equipment replacement needs. Based on the 
long-term financial plan included in the adopted 2019-20 budget document, at this time, it does not 
appear likely that the final contribution will be required, but staff will continue to monitor this decision 
throughout the current fiscal year.  
 
BUDGET IMPACT 
The recommended action has no budget impact. As reflected in the 2018-19 CAFR, SMC Fire is fiscally 
sound, and has set a firm foundation toward achieving long-term fiscal sustainability.  
 
ATTACHMENTS 
A. Draft Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the year ended June 30, 2019 
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http://www.smcfire.org 

 
 
September 30, 2019 
 
To the Board of Directors of the Joint Powers Authority Establishing the San Mateo 
Consolidated Fire Department and the Citizens of San Mateo, Belmont, and Foster City, 
California.  
 
We are pleased to present the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the San Mateo 
Consolidated Fire Department (SMC Fire) for the fiscal year ended on June 30, 2019 in conformity 
with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in the United States and as stipulated in the 
Joint Powers Agreement, audited in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in the 
United States by a firm of licensed certified public accountants.  
 
Management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of the information 
contained in this report, based upon a comprehensive framework of internal control that it has 
established for this purpose. Because the cost of internal control should not exceed anticipated 
benefits, SMC Fire’s framework of internal control provides reasonable, rather than absolute, 
assurance that the financial statements are free of any material misstatements.  
 
Badawi & Associates, CPAs, a firm of licensed certified public accountants, has issued an 
unmodified (“clean”) opinion on SMC Fire’s financial statements for the period of January 13 - 
June 30, 2019. The independent auditor’s report is located at the front of the financial section of 
this report. Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent 
auditor’s report and provides a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic financial 
statements. MD&A complements this letter of transmittal and should be read in conjunction with 
it. 
 
PROFILE OF THE ORGANIZATION 
 
Basic Information 
For nearly the past decade, the City of San Mateo, the City of Belmont/Belmont Fire Protection 
District, and the City of Foster City/Estero Municipal Improvement District have been working 
diligently to bring together fire services with the goal of providing a high level of shared fire, 
rescue, and emergency medical services to all three communities, while also achieving a cost-
efficient service delivery. The diligence culminated into the formation of a Joint Powers Authority 
(JPA) that was created on November 22, 2017, to form the San Mateo Consolidated Fire 
Department (SMC Fire). SMC Fire commenced operations on January 13, 2019, and continues to 
provide integrated and comprehensive emergency response services to all three communities.
SMC Fire has over 260 years of combined history providing emergency services to the cities of 
San Mateo, Belmont, and Foster City with a service area of approximately 38.5 square miles 
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serving a population of over 164,000. SMC Fire utilizes ten engine companies and two ladder 
trucks from nine fire stations, has its administrative offices in Foster City, and its Community Risk 
Reduction Division in San Mateo. 
 
Following commencement of operations, SMC Fire embarked on a strategic planning process. On 
February 20th and March 27th, 2019, key personnel participated in a facilitated process, the goal of 
which was the development of a Mission Statement and Core Values of the new organization. As 
a result, the following was produced:  

 

Mission Statement 
 

Enhancing the quality of life for our community through 
professionalism, collaboration, and public trust. 

 
 

Core Values 
Respect 

Compassion 
Integrity 

Dedication 
Innovation 
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History 
The efforts to explore collaboration began in 2010 when Foster City and San Mateo agreed to 
share duties of then Fire Chief Dan Belville. Over the next two years, the two cities expanded their 
partnership to include other key Command Staff positions. In 2013, under the leadership of Fire 
Chief Mike Keefe, the City of Belmont joined the partnership. At that time, the three cities agreed 
to share, jointly staff, and relocate the Foster City Ladder Truck to a centralized location that better 
served the three communities.  
 
In 2015, newly appointed Fire Chief John Healy was directed by the three City Managers to study 
the viability of completing the merger of all fire protection services. The goal was to continue to 
provide the same high-quality emergency services in a more sustainable model. Staff from the 
cities and Fire Departments explored available options and determined a JPA was the most viable 
option.    
 
The JPA was officially established on November 22, 2017. The path was not without significant 
obstacles. To maintain the existing employees’ pension benefits, State Senator Jerry Hill sponsored 
Senate Bill 24, which passed the legislature and was signed into law by Governor Jerry Brown. 
Other obstacles included amending the San Mateo City Charter and gaining agreement from the 
three cities on a governance model, cost apportionment, and negotiating new labor agreements 
with the work force.  
 
The final and perhaps most challenging hurdle was to gain approval as a new public agency from 
the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS), which had not recognized a JPA 
in the State in nearly a decade. The successful outcome of SMC Fire’s negotiations with CalPERS 
will now help pave the way for other agencies who wish to form a JPA to provide improved 
community services. This eight-year endeavor could not have succeeded with the commitment of 
City Council members, City Managers, City staff, and Fire labor leaders.   
 
Governance 
SMC Fire is governed by a Board of Directors (“Board”), consisting of one voting representative 
and one alternate who are elected members from the governing boards of the three JPA Member 
Agencies. Each has the authority to deliver fire suppression, fire prevention, investigation, rescue, 
and emergency medical services within their respective jurisdictions. All voting powers of SMC 
Fire reside with the Board. Each Member Agency has the following weighted vote; San Mateo, 
sixty percent (60%), Belmont, twenty percent (20%) and Foster City, twenty percent (20%). The 
Board intends to strive for consensus following full discussion, however in the event that 
consensus cannot be reached, a weighted vote of eighty percent (80%) share is required to take 
action. Lastly, the Board annually selects one member to serve as Chair and one to serve as Vice 
Chair.    
 
Administration 
In addition to having the authority to appoint SMC Fire’s Fire Chief and Legal Advisor, the Board 
may appoint a Treasurer from either one of the Member Agencies, or a third party qualified 
professional. In response, SMC Fire established an agreement with the City of San Mateo to 
provide Finance and Human Resources services and the City’s Finance Director serves as SMC 
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Fire’s Treasurer.   In addition to planning, coordinating, and supervising the operation of SMC 
Fire on a day-to-day basis, the Fire Chief has the authority to 1) appoint a qualified employee of 
one of the Member Agencies, or contract with a third party qualified professional to act as Human 
Resources Director of the Department, and 2) appoint a qualified employee of the Department or 
one of the member agencies as the Fire Board Secretary. An employee with the City of San Mateo 
Human Resources Department serves as the Department’s Human Resources Director and SMC 
Fire’s Business Manager serves as the Fire Board Secretary.   
 
Budget 
SMC Fire’s budget is organized on the basis of the fund accounting system, in which each fund is 
considered a separate budgeting entity. Government resources are allocated to and expenditures 
accounted for in individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent and the 
means by which spending activities are controlled. All operating funds’ budgets lapse at the end 
of the adoption cycle. SMC Fire also maintains an encumbrance accounting system as one 
technique of accomplishing budgetary control. Encumbered amounts in the operating budget lapse 
one year after the end of the fiscal year. There is no formal provision in the budget for depreciation 
and compensated absences (i.e. accrued vacation and sick leave time), but they are budgeted as 
internal services fund charges.  
 
SMC Fire has a two-year budget cycle. The two-year budget process requires that SMC Fire 
submits two one-year expenditure plans and revenue estimates to the Fire Board for approval. Only 
the first of the two year budget will be adopted. In each alternate year, staff makes 
recommendations to the Fire Board for amending the second-year plan. The Fire Chief is 
responsible for containing expenditures within their budgeted appropriations as approved by the 
Fire Board. Subsequent to the adoption of the budget, all additional changes to the budget require 
Fire Board approval.    
 
Prior to June 30th of each year, the Fire Chief shall prepare and present a proposed budget to the 
Board. The Board shall review the proposed budget and thereafter recommend approval of the 
budget to the governing boards of the Member Agencies. Once approved by the Member Agencies 
by a weighted vote of eighty percent (80%), the budget shall be effective.
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COMMUNITY PROFILE 
 
City of San Mateo 
The City of San Mateo is situated 19 miles south of San Francisco and 30 miles north of San Jose. 
The City covers an area of 14.6 square miles and includes tidelands from the Bay to the east and 
coastal mountains to the west and has an estimated population of over 104,000. The City was 
incorporated in 1894 and was originally chartered in 1922. The current charter was adopted in 
1971 and revised in 2002. Since 2002, there have been two other voter-approved amendments to 
the charter. San Mateo has a Council-Manager form of government. Five Council members serve 
at-large for four-year terms. The Council selects a Mayor from amongst its members each 
December for a one-year term. The City Manager is appointed by the Council and serves as chief 
executive officer responsible for the day-to-day administration of City affairs. The City Council 
also appoints a City Attorney. There are twelve Advisory Boards and Commissions, ten of which 
are appointed by the City Council.  
 
The City provides a full range of municipal services, including police, public works, parks and 
recreation, library, planning and zoning, building, sewer, street maintenance, economic 
development, and general administrative services. The City offers 35 parks, six recreation centers, 
an 18-hole golf course, and three libraries, including a state-of-the-art main library. California 
Water Service, a private company, provides water to City residents.   
 
City of Belmont/Belmont Fire Protection District 
Known for its wooded hills, view of the San Francisco Bay and stretches of open space, Belmont 
is a quiet residential community in the midst of the culturally and technologically rich Bay Area. 
Since its incorporation in 1926, Belmont has grown from a small town of less than 1,000 residents 
to a community of over 27,000. Much of the city’s population and housing growth occurred during 
the 1950’s and 1960’s during the post war periods.   
 
The Belmont Fire Protection District formed as an independent district in 1928, providing fire 
service to the City of Belmont. Over the years, the district’s service area expanded to include 
portions of the Harbor Industrial Area (HIA) of unincorporated San Mateo County. The fire district 
operated independently until 1974, when it was established as a subsidiary district of the City of 
Belmont. As a subsidiary district, the Belmont City Council assumes governance as the district’s 
Board of Directors. The fire district receives a segregated share of the 1% property tax revenue 
within the district’s boundaries and is not subsidized by Belmont’s general fund revenues.     
 
The City operates under a Council-Manager form of government. Policy-making and legislative 
authority are vested in a governing council consisting of the mayor and four other members. The 
City Council is responsible for passing ordinances, adopting the budget, appointing commissions, 
and hiring both the City Manager and City Attorney. The City Manager is responsible for carrying 
out policies and ordinances of the Council, for overseeing day-to-day operations of the City, and 
for appointing the heads of the various Departments.  
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The City provides a full range of services including police; sanitation services; construction and 
maintenance of highways, streets, and infrastructure; community development; parks; recreational 
activities; and general government administrative services.   
 
Foster City/Estero Municipal Improvement District 
The Estero Municipal Improvement District was created by the California State Legislature in 
1960 as a general-purpose district with municipal power, including the power to issue municipal 
bonds. The Board of Directors of the District was created and issued over $80 million in bonds to 
provide the infrastructure for a new, master-planned community, which was to be built on what 
then were a dairy farm and salt ponds adjacent to the San Francisco Bay. The bond proceeds were 
used to fill and reclaim the land and to finance construction of a man-made lagoon for storm 
drainage and recreation, a water system, a sewer system, a street system that included roads, 
bridges and streetlights, a parks system, and a fire station. The first residents of this new 
community known as “Foster City” moved into their homes in 1964.  
 
The City was officially incorporated on April 27, 1971. The newly elected City Council also began 
to serve as the Board of Directors for the District. The City is a general law city and has a Council-
Manager form of government. Policy-making and legislative authority are vested in a governing 
council consisting of the City Mayor/District Board President and four other members. There are 
five City Council/District Board Members elected by seat number for staggered four-year terms, 
with a two-term limit. The City Manager is responsible for carrying out the policies and ordinances 
of the Council/Board, for overseeing day-to-day operations of the City/District, and for appointing 
the heads of the various Departments. The City Council/District Board appoint the City Manager, 
City Attorney, Planning Commissioners, and Citizen Advisory Committee Members. The City 
Council/District Board is financially accountable for City/District operations and the Successor 
Agency. The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report includes all funds of the City/District, and 
the Successor Agency’s activities are reported under the fiduciary fund type as a private purpose 
trust fund.  
 
Located on the San Francisco Peninsula, ten (10) miles south of the San Francisco International 
Airport, the City/District encompasses a geographic area of 19.3 square miles, of which 15.2 
square miles are part of San Francisco Bay and Belmont Slough, and 4.1 square miles are land. 
The City/District serves a population of 33,490 and provides a full range of municipal services, 
including police; water and wastewater services; construction and maintenance of streets, storm 
drains, lagoons, levees, bridges, and infrastructure; community development and redevelopment; 



Draf
t 1

0-3
-20

19
LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

 
 

ix 
 

maintenance and protection of the physical environment; construction and maintenance of parks 
and recreational amenities; leisure, entertainment and educational programs; and general 
government administrative services. 
 
LONG-TERM FINANCIAL AND STRATEGIC PLANNING AND MAJOR INITIATIVES 
 
Joint Training Agreement 
SMC Fire is continuing an agreement with Central County Fire Department (Burlingame, 
Hillsborough and Millbrae) and San Bruno Fire Department, the purpose of which has been to 
meet the training needs of each participating agencies’ firefighters and chief officers in a more 
cost-effective manner through the consolidation of training personnel and resources. SMC Fire’s 
participation with this training program will continue to allow the participating agencies’ engine 
and truck companies as well as Battalion Chiefs to train together, receive required engine and truck 
training, and to allow paramedics to receive all mandated training in order to maintain 
certifications.      
 
Hazardous Materials Emergency Response Services 
SMC Fire recently took over a contract with the County of San Mateo for Hazardous Materials 
Response services, which had previously been provided by the Belmont Fire Protection District 
since 1986. The new three-year agreement will continue to include staffing the Countywide 
Emergency Services Joint Powers Authority’s (CES-JPA) Hazardous Materials Response Incident 
Response Team and responding to all hazardous materials emergencies as requested by cities 
participating in the CES-JPA and the county.  
  
Fire Battalion Chief Services 
SMC Fire recently took over a contract with the County of San Mateo for Fire Battalion Chief 
services, which had previously been provided by the San Mateo Fire Department. This position 
has been specifically tasked with working within the Sheriff’s Office of Emergency Services 
(OES) for a two-year term to assist with, amongst other things, planning, developing, 
implementing, and administering county-wide policies and programs related to emergency 
management, and acting as a liaison between OES and the San Mateo County Fire Chiefs 
Association. The agreement reimburses the salary and benefits of a full-time Battalion Chief 
position in SMC Fire for the period of July 1, 2019 through June 30, 2020. 
 
General Fund Reserve  
SMC Fire will begin establishing a reserve in the General Fund that is equal to at least three months 
of annual operating expenditure budget to ensure service stability without putting a huge impact 
on the member agencies in the event of significant financial emergencies. 
 

 



Draf
t 1

0-3
-20

19
LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

 
 

x 
 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
 
We acknowledge and appreciate all the individuals who assisted in both the preparation of this 
report and the administration of financial policies throughout the fiscal period. We also 
acknowledge the thorough and professional way our independent auditors, Badawi & Associates, 
conducted their audit. 
 
In closing, we wish to express deep appreciation to the City Councils of the member agencies, the 
Board of Directors and the City Managers for their support.  
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 
 
 
 
 
 

John Healy 
Fire Chief 
 
 

 



Draf
t 1

0-3
-20

19
San Mateo Consolidated  

Fire Board Members 

Joe Goethals 
Board Chair 

Warren Lieberman 
Board Member 

Herb Perez 
Board Member 

San Mateo 

Joe Goethals 
Council Member 

Diane Papan 
Mayor/ 

Fire Board Representative 

Belmont 

Charles Stone 
Council Member/ 

Fire Board Representative 

Warren Lieberman 
Vice Mayor 

Foster City 

Sanjay Gehani  
Council Member/ 

Fire Board Representative 

Herb Perez 
Vice Mayor 

2019 

xi



Draf
t 1

0-3
-20

19

17OVERVIEW

Organizational Chart

COMMUNITIES OF BELMONT, FOSTER CITY, AND SAN MATEO

SAN MATEO CONSOLIDATED FIRE DEPARTMENT
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FIRE CHIEF

DEPUTY
FIRE CHIEF

DEPUTY
FIRE CHIEF

(COMMUNITY RISK 
REDUCTION)

BUSINESS 
MANAGER

SUPPRESSION HAZMAT TRAINING ADMINISTRATION EMERGENCY
PREPAREDNESS

BUREAU OF FIRE 
PROTECTION

Board Chair  Joe Goethals, City of San Mateo
Board Member  Warren Lieberman, City of Belmont
Board Member  Herb Perez, City of Foster City

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

John Healy

(OPERATIONS)

TREASURER
Rich Lee

xii



Draf
t 1

0-3
-20

19
 

xiii 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Fire Chief     John Healy 
 
Deputy Fire Chiefs    Kent Thrasher 
      Ray Iverson 
 
Fire Marshal     Robert Marshall 
 
Battalion Chiefs: 
 
A Shift      Matt Turturici 
 
B Shift      Joe Novelli 
 
C Shift      Chuck Goodwin 
 
Administrative Battalion Chief  Mike Towns 
 
Training Battalion Chief (OPS)  Jeff Thorne 
 
Training Battalion Chief   Robert Cook   
 
Training Battalion Chief (OES)  Bill Euchner  
 
Deputy Fire Marshall    Vorisia Henderson 
 
Business Manager    Matt Lucett 
 
Fleet/Facilities Manager   Saul San Filippo 
 
Emergency Services Manager   Jenelle Masterson  
 
Management Analyst    Nicole Morales  
 
Legal Counsel     William D. Ross 
 
 

 
 

SAN MATEO CONSOLIDATED FIRE DEPARTMENT 
  

EXECUTIVE AND COMMAND STAFF 



Draf
t 1

0-3
-20

19



Draf
t 1

0-3
-20

19

Address: 180 Grand Avenue,  Suite 1500  Oakland,  CA 94612   •   Phone:  510.768.8251   •   Fax: 510.768.8249

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
To the Honorable Chair and Members of the Board 

of the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department 
Foster City, California 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major 
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department 
(SMC Fire), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise SMC Fire’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
SMC Fire’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 
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of the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department 
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Page 2 

 

 
 
Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of SMC Fire, as of June 30, 2019, and the respective changes in financial 
position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison information be presented to 
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the 
basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or 
provide any assurance.  
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise SMC Fire’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining 
internal service fund financial statements, and statistical section are presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 
 
The combining internal service fund financial statements are the responsibility of management and 
were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 
the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied 
in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing 
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other 
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. In our opinion, the combining internal service fund financial statements are fairly stated, in 
all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

2
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The introductory section and statistical section have not been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or 
provide any assurance on them. 
 

 

 

Badawi and Associates 
Certified Public Accountants 
Oakland, California 

[Date] 

 
 

3



Draf
t 1

0-3
-20

19

4



Draf
t 1

0-3
-20

19
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

	

 

Management of the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department (SMC Fire) offers readers of the 
financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of SMC Fire for 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. Readers are encouraged to consider the information presented 
here in conjunction with additional information that is furnished in our letter of transmittal, the 
financial statements, and notes.  The focus of the information herein is on the primary government.    
   

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS          
 

 SMC Fire commenced operations on January 13, 2019. As such, the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2019 marks SMC Fire’s first Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 
 

 At the close of the fiscal year, SMC Fire had $14.9 million in total assets, primarily consisting 
of $7.8 million in cash and cash equivalents, and $5.8 million in net depreciable capital 
assets. 
 

 SMC Fire had $3.7 million in total liabilities at the end of the fiscal year, the majority of 
which was $1.6 million in compensated absences and $1.3 million in accrued salaries and 
wages payable. 

 
 SMC Fire’s total net position was $12.8 million as of June 30, 2019, of which $5.8 million was 

representative of the net investment in capital assets, and $7.0 million in unrestricted net 
position. 

 
 SMC Fire accounted for $17.4 million in expenses, from commencement of operations on 

January 13, 2019 to the end of the fiscal year on June 30, 2019. Notable expenses were for 
personnel costs of $11.2 million, and materials and services costs of $5.5 million.  

 
 SMC Fire’s Program Revenues totaled $24.3 million, predominantly reflecting $20.2 million 

in operating contributions from the member agencies – the cities of Belmont, Foster City, 
and San Mateo. 

 
 SMC Fire’s beginning net position of $4.7 million consisted of $5.9 million in capital assets  

less $1.2 million in liability for compensated absences. Based on a change in net position of 
$8.1 million, SMC Fire ended the fiscal year with a net position of $12.8 million. 
 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS       
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to SMC Fire’s basic financial 
statements. The basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) government-wide 
financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. In 
addition to the basic financial statements, this report also contains the required supplementary 
information and supplementary information.  
 

5
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview 
of SMC Fire’s finances, in a manner similar to private-sector businesses.  
 
The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of SMC Fire’s assets, liabilities, deferred 
outflows and inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position. Over time, increases 
or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether SMC Fire’s financial position 
is improving or deteriorating.  
 
The Statement of Activities reports how SMC Fire's net position changed during the most recent 
fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to 
the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are 
reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods 
(e.g., loan receivables, and earned but unused compensated leaves).  
 
The governmental activities reflect SMC Fire’s core services, including fire, rescue, and emergency 
services to all three communities.  These services are principally financed by contributions from the 
member agencies – the cities of Belmont, Foster City, and San Mateo. 
 
FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have 
been segregated for specific activities or objectives. SMC Fire uses fund accounting to ensure and 
demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of SMC Fire can 
be divided into two categories: governmental funds and proprietary funds.  
 
Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. Governmental fund financial 
statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances 
left at year-end that are available for spending. Consequently, the governmental fund financial 
statements provide a detailed short-term view that helps the readers determine whether there are 
more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance the SMC Fire’s 
programs.  Because this information does not encompass the long-term focus of the government-
wide statements, additional information is provided that reconciles the governmental fund 
financial statements to the government-wide statements explaining the relationship (or differences) 
between them. 
 
The governmental funds comprise two individual funds.  Information is presented separately in 
the governmental funds balance sheet and in the governmental funds statement of revenues, 
expenditures and changes in fund balances of the General Fund and Fire Prevention Fund, each of 
which is considered to be a major fund.  The basic governmental fund financial statements can be 
found on pages 25-27 of this report.  
 
SMC Fire adopts an annual appropriated budget for the General Fund and the Fire Prevention 
Fund. Budgetary comparison schedules are included in the Required Supplementary Information 
section, beginning on page 51, and have been provided to demonstrate compliance with these 
budgets in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (U.S. 
GAAP). 

6
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SMC Fire only maintains one type of proprietary fund to account for internal services.  SMC Fire 
uses internal service funds to account for its vehicle and equipment replacement, benefits, dental, 
workers’ compensation, and comprehensive liability. The internal service funds provide services 
that predominantly benefit governmental rather than business-type functions. They have been 
included within governmental activities to reflect the consolidation for internal services fund 
activities in the government-wide financial statements. 
 
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial 
statements, only in more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements combine the internal 
service funds for presentation purposes.  Individual fund data for the all internal service funds is 
provided in the form of combining statements in the Required Supplmentary Information section 
of this report.  The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 28-30 of this 
report.  
 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The 
notes to the basic financial statements can be found on pages 33-48 of this report.  
 
Other information in addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes is 
presented in the form of certain required supplementary information concerning the SMC Fire’s 
budgetary comparison schedules for all major governmental funds. The combining statements 
supplementary information referred to earlier in connection with internal services funds are also 
presented in this section.  Required supplementary information can be found on pages 51-53 of this 
report.  
 

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS       
 

As noted earlier, over time, net position may serve as a useful indicator of a government's financial 
performance.  At the close of the fiscal year, SMC Fire’s ending total net position was $12.8 million, 
which reflected the difference between its assets and deferred outflows of resources and its 
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. Of the net position $5.8 million represented SMC Fire’s 
net investment in capital assets, primarily fire vehicles and equipment, less any related debt used, 
if any, to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. SMC Fire uses these capital assets to provide 
services to the communities of the three member agencies – Belmont, Foster City, and San Mateo; 
consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although SMC Fire’s investment 
in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to 
repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be 
used to liquidate these liabilities.  
 
The remaining portion of SMC Fire’s ending total net position of $7.0 million is unrestricted, in that 
the funds are not restricted for a particular use and available to be appropriated by the SMC Fire 
Board.  
 
Tables on the following pages present a summary of SMC Fire’s net position as of June 30, 2019. 
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STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 
(Amounts in millions) 

          
  Total    

  Governmental Activities   
  18-19   17-18   

Current and other assets  $                         9.1     $                            -     
Capital assets                             5.8                                   -     
         

Total assets                           14.9                                   -     
                                     -     
Deferred outflows - pension related amounts                             1.7                                   -     

         
Total deferred outflows of resources                             1.7                                   -     

         
Current liabilities                             2.1                                   -     
Non-current liabilities                             1.6                                   -     

         
Total liabilities                             3.7                                   -     

         
Net position:        
Net investment in capital assets                             5.8                                   -     
Restricted                                -                                    -     
Unrestricted                             7.0                                   -     
         

     Total net position  $                      12.8     $                            -     
    

Totals may not add up due to rounding.   
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STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 
(Amounts in millions) 

          
  Total    

  Governmental Activities   
  18-19   17-18  
Revenues:      

Program revenues:      
Charges for services  $                         1.4                                  -    
Operating contributions                           20.2                                  -    
Capital contributions                             2.6                                  -    
       

Total program revenues                           24.3                                  -    
       

General revenues:      
Other revenues                             1.1                                  -    
Interest Income                             0.2                                  -    
       

Total general revenues                             1.2                                   -    
       
Total revenues                           25.5                                   -    
       

Expenses:      
Personnel                           11.2     
Materials and services                             5.5     
Rents and leases                             0.1     
Miscellaneous                             0.2     
Depreciation                             0.3       

       
Total expenses                           17.4                                  -    

       
Change in net position                             8.1                                   -    

       
Net position - Beginning of year                             4.7       
Net position - End of year  $                      12.8                                  -    

Totals may not add up due to rounding.  
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GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 

Governmental activities increased SMC Fire’s total net position by $8.1 million. Key elements 
contributing to the increase are described below. 
 

 Overall, total revenues from governmental activities were $25.5 million, largely due to  $20.2 
million in contributions from member agencies for their proportional share of SMC Fire’s 
operating costs, which excludes the activities of the Fire Prevention Fund that is 
administered on a cost recovery basis. SMC Fire’s operating costs are split amongst the 
member agencies as follows: City of Belmont – 20%; City of Foster City – 20%; City of San 
Mateo – 60%. 

 SMC Fire’s total expenses were $17.4 million, including $11.2 million in personnel costs. Of 
note – SMC Fire’s income statement reflects approximately six months of operating 
revenues and expenses. As such, the year-over-year comparison in the subsequent fiscal 
year will be adjusted accordingly for more accurate analysis. 
 

The following charts of governmental activities revenue by sources, expenses, and program 
revenues were derived from the Statement of Activities. 
 

 

Charges for 
services

5.5%

Operating 
contributions

79.4%

Capital 
contributions

10.4%

Other revenue
4.1%

Interest Income
0.6%

Revenue by Sources
Governmental Activities

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019

Total Governmental Activities Revenues:  $25.5 million
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The cost of all governmental activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 was $17.4 million.    
Some of the costs were paid by those directly benefiting from the programs ($1.4 million), by 
operating contributions from the member agencies ($20.2 million) and capital grants and 
contributions ($2.6 million) from the member agencies.  SMC Fire paid for the remaining “public 
benefit” portion of governmental activities with $1.2 million in general revenues, the majority of 
which reflected reimbursements from member agencies for workers’ compensation costs for former 
employees that transitioned to SMC Fire; the liability for which remains with the member agency.  
 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE  SMC FIRE FUNDS      
 
As noted earlier, SMC Fire uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with 
finance related legal requirements. 
 
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
The focus of SMC Fire’s governmental funds is to provide information on current year revenues, 
expenditures, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing SMC 
Fire’s near-term financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a 
useful measure of a government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.  
 
As of June 30, 2019, the SMC Fire’s governmental funds reported a combined ending fund balance 
of $3.6 million, of which the General Fund accounted for $0.9 million, and the remaining fund 
balance attributable to the Fire Prevention Fund. Of the total fund balances, $0.9 million is 
unassigned fund balance, which is available for spending at SMC Fire’s discretion.  
 
The General Fund is the primary operating fund of SMC Fire. The unassigned fund balance of the 
General Fund was $0.9 million. As a measure of liquidity, the unassigned fund balance can be 
compared to total fund expenditures. Unassigned fund balance represents 5.2% of total General 
Fund expenditures of $16.7 million. 
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Addressing long-term financial sustainability is an ongoing priority of the SMC Fire Board, and as 
such, SMC Fire will begin establishing a reserve in the General Fund to seek at least three months 
or 25% of the annual operating expenditure budget. This will ensure service stability in SMC Fire 
without imposing a substantial impact on the member agencies in the event of significant financial 
emergencies, such as swings in economic cycles and natural disasters. Building on this reserve 
won’t happen in one year, as that would result in a huge spike in member agencies’ contributions. 
Instead, funds will be set aside when, in any year, actual expenditures come in lower than actual 
revenues, as was the case in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019.    
 
While year-over-year comparisons are typically included in management’s discussion and analysis 
narratives, given that the fiscal year ended June 30,2019 was SMC Fire’s first fiscal year of 
operations, there is no prior year data to compare to. In the subsequent fiscal year’s financial 
statement, SMC Fire will have approximately six months of operating revenues and expenditures 
for comparison purposes. 
 
The Fire Prevention Fund (Fire Protection and Life Safety) was established to account for the 
activities of SMC Fire’s Bureau of Fire Protection and Life Safety, which enforces state and local fire 
codes and standards, and conducts fire investigations. The program originated in the City of San 
Mateo, thus the contribution of $2.9 million from San Mateo reflects fund balance that had 
accumulated in the program in San Mateo prior to SMC Fire commencement of operations. Total 
revenues for the fiscal year were $4.4 million, of which SMC Fire’s service charges of $1.4 million 
represented the majority of the other revenue in the Fire Prevention Fund. Service charge revenues 
were representative of the robust development climate in the communities served by SMC Fire. 
Total expenditures for the fiscal year were $1.6 million, which include $1.2 million in personnel 
costs. Given the above results, the Fire Prevention Fund ended the fiscal year with $2.8 million in 
fund balance.  
 
PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
SMC Fire’s sole Proprietary Funds are internal service funds.  SMC Fire’s proprietary funds provide 
the same type of information found in the government-wide financial statements, but with some 
additional details.  
 
SMC Fire’s total internal service funds’ net position was $3.6 million as of June 30, 2019. The Vehicle 
& Equipment Replacement Fund’s net position comprised 71.9% of the total internal service funds’ 
net position, followed by the Workers’ Comp & Comprehensive Liability Fund, which comprised 
15.0% of the total.    
  
The majority of the net position for the Vehicle & Equipment Replacement Fund reflects $2.6 million 
in contributions from the member agencies for their respective collected replacement funds for the 
first of a three year period. The adopted 2019-20 budget includes the second contribution year. The 
Finance Directors of each respective member agency will review the fund’s status to determine if 
the contribution in year three is necessary. 
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GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

General Fund actual revenues were $0.9 million more than the final budget, which largely reflected 
$0.5 million in reimbursements from member agencies for workers’ compensation costs for injuries 
that were incurred by employees during their tenure with the member agencies when each had 
their own fire department. The legacy costs for liabilities for each member agency, including 
workers’ compensation and pension, remain with each member agency.  

General Fund actual expenditures were $0.2 million more than the final budget, largely due 
to overtime pay to backfill employees on workers’ compensation leave. 

Following this narrative is a summary of General Fund budgetary comparison schedule (amounts 
in millions). 

SUMMARY OF GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

Variance from
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Favorable
Budget Budget Results (Unfavorable)

Beginning fund balance -  -  -   -   
REVENUES:

Intergovernmental:
Contributions from Belmont 3.3  3.3  3.3   -   
Contributions from Foster City 3.3  3.3  3.3   -   
Contributions from San Mateo 9.9  9.9  9.9   -   
Grants and other intergovernmental 0.2  0.2  0.4   0.3   

Charges for services -  -  0.0   0.0   
Other revenue -  -  0.6   0.6   
Interest income -  -  0.1   0.1   

Total revenues 16.7   16.7    17.6    0.9   

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

Personnel costs 14.0   14.0    15.5    (1.5)  
Materials and services 1.8  1.8  1.2   0.6   
Rents and leases -    -    -  -  
Capital Outlays 0.7  0.7  -  0.7   

Total expenditures 16.5   16.5    16.7    (0.2)  

Net change in fund balance 0.2  0.2  0.9   0.7   
Encumbrance adjustments -  

Ending fund balance 0.2$    0.2$    0.9$    0.7$    

Totals may not add up due to rounding.
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Given the above results, General Fund revenues exceeded expenditures by $0.9 million for the 
current fiscal year. At the end of the fiscal year, the total General Fund balance was $0.9 million. 
 

CAPITAL ASSETS AND LONG-TERM DEBT ADMINISTRATION    
 
CAPITAL ASSETS 
SMC Fire invested $96 thousand in capital assets for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. This 
investment in capital assets primarily reflected the purchase of two vehicles and a license from SMC 
Fire’s Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) System, Tyler Eden. Additional information on SMC 
Fire’s capital assets can be found in Note 3 on page 43 of this report.  
 

 
 
LONG-TERM DEBT 
At the end of the current fiscal year, SMC Fire had total long-term debt outstanding of $1.8 million, 
which reflects the amount due for compensated absences; $0.2 million of which is due within one 
year, while the remaining $1.6 million is due in more than one year. 
 

 LONG TERM DEBT 

 Compensated Leaves Payable 

 (Amounts in millions) 

   
  Total  

   Governmental Activities 

   18-19  17-18 

 Compensated leaves payable  $                      1.80   

                              
-    

 Total outstanding debt 1.80   0.00  

   

18-19 17-18

Non-depreciable assets:

Equipment in progress 0.0$                         -$                           

Total non-depreciable assets 0.0                           -                             

Depreciable assets:

Machinery and equipment 6.1                           -                             

Less: accumulated depreciation (0.3)                          -                             

Total depreciable assets (net) 5.8                           -                             

Total capital assets 5.8$                         -$                           

Total 

Governmental Activities

CAPITAL ASSETS
(Amounts in millions)
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ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET      
 
SMC Fire obtains the majority of funding for core operations from its member agencies. As such, 
its long-term sustainability largely depends upon the economic performance of the communities 
which it serves – Belmont, Foster City, and San Mateo. All three municipalities have robust and 
stable tax bases that serve as the top revenue sources for each agency, including property tax, sales 
tax, and transient occupancy tax.  
 
The median sales price of $1.8 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2019 for a single family home 
in the service area is indicative of the state of the local real estate market, which serves as the base 
for property tax.  
 
The service area is part of the San Francisco-Redwood City-South San Francisco Metropolitan Area 
that leads the state and the country in high per capita income and low unemployment. Given the 
above economic characteristics, SMC Fire is well positioned to continue to provide high quality, 
cost-efficient service to the communities of its member agencies.  
 
Overall, the adopted 2019-20 General Fund budget reflects a balanced budget, with revenues and 
expenditures of $38.4 million each. The General Fund’s ending fund balance of $0.9 million 
illustrates SMC Fire’s strategy to gradually build up its reserves to meet its policy for three months 
of budgeted operating expenditures. This reserve, is just one example of the SMC Fire’s fiscal 
discipline that has assisted in achieving its financial objectives. 
 

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION         

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the San Mateo Consolidated Fire 
Department finances for all those with an interest in the government's finances. Questions 
concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial 
information should be addressed to the Finance Director of City of San Mateo, 330 West 20th 
Avenue, San Mateo, California, 94403. 
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San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2019

Governmental
Activities

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 7,808,510$        
Accounts receivable 1,238,687          
Prepaid expenses 21,488               
Capital assets:

Non-depreciable 18,763               
Depreciable, net 5,775,994          

Total Assets 14,863,442        

DEFERRED OUTFLOW OF RESOURCES  

Deferred outflows -  pension contributions 1,725,083          
Total Deferred outflows of resources 1,725,083          

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 642,614             
Accrued salaries and wages payable 1,308,487          
Long-term Liabilities:

Due within 1 year:
Compensated absences 197,758             

Due in more than 1 year:
Compensated absences 1,600,042          

Total Liabilities 3,748,901          

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 5,794,757          
Unrestricted 7,044,867          

Total Net Position (deficit) 12,839,624$      

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department
Statement of Activities
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Governmental
Activities

EXPENSES
Personnel 11,249,779$      
Materials and services 5,522,838          
Rents and leases 62,020               
Miscellaneous 233,996             
Depreciation 301,088             

Total Expenses 17,369,721        

PROGRAM REVENUES
Charges for services 1,394,330          
Operating contributions 20,234,721        
Capital contributions 2,645,192          

Total Program Revenues 24,274,243        

NET PROGRAM REVENUES 6,904,522          

GENERAL REVENUES
Other revenues 1,054,377          
Interest income 156,213             

Total General Revenues 1,210,590          

Change in Net Position 8,115,112          

NET POSITION - BEGINNING 4,724,512          

NET POSITION - ENDING 12,839,624$      

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
June 30, 2019

(Major)
Special 

Revenue -
(Major) Fire Total
General Prevention Governmental

Fund Fund Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 1,733,101$      2,573,634$      4,306,735$      
Accounts receivable 711,735           458,937           1,170,672        
Interest receivable 68,015             -                       68,015             
Prepaid expenses 21,488             -                       21,488             
     Total Assets 2,534,339$      3,032,571$      5,566,910$      

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Accounts payable 362,951$         248,729$         611,680$         
Salaries & wages payable 1,308,487        -                       1,308,487        
     Total Liabilities 1,671,438        248,729           1,920,167        

Fund Balances - Committed -                       2,783,842        2,783,842        
Fund Balances - Unassigned 862,901           -                       862,901           
      Total Fund Balance 862,901           2,783,842        3,646,743        

     Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 2,534,339$      3,032,571$      5,566,910$      

5,704,523        

3,561,075        

1,725,083        

(1,797,800)       
12,839,624$    

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of 
     Net Position are different because:

  Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and
    therefore are not reported in the funds.

  Net position of the Internal Services Fund are included in the governmental activities in the
    Statement of Net Position

 Employer contributions for pension were recorded as expenditures in the 
   governmental funds.  However, in the Government-Wide Financial Statement these 
   contributions are deferred.

    Net position of governmental activities

  Long-term liabilities are not due and payable from resources available in the current period
    and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds:
     Compensated absences

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 
Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Special 
Revenue -

Fire Total
General Prevention Governmental

Fund Fund Funds
REVENUES:

Intergovernmental:
Contributions from Belmont 3,300,610$          -$                         3,300,610$          
Contributions from Foster City 3,300,610            -                           3,300,610            
Contributions from San Mateo 9,901,828            2,922,173            12,824,001          
Grants and other intergovernmental 439,389               -                           439,389               

Charges for services 620                      1,393,709            1,394,329            
Other revenues 550,612               19,538                 570,150               
Interest income 66,975                 60,542                 127,517               

Total Revenues 17,560,644          4,395,962            21,956,606          

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

Personnel costs 15,538,568          1,198,020            16,736,588          
Materials and services 1,158,422            118,837               1,277,259            
Rents and Leases 753                      61,267                 62,020                 
Miscellaneous -                           233,996               233,996               

Total Expenditures 16,697,743          1,612,120            18,309,863          

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES 
  OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 862,901               2,783,842            3,646,743            

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 862,901               2,783,842            3,646,743            

BEGINNING FUND BALANCES -                           -                           -                           

ENDING FUND BALANCES 862,901$             2,783,842$          3,646,743$          

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds 3,646,743$      

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities 
are different because:

Depreciation expense on capital assets was reported in the Government-Wide Statement of
Activities, but it did not require the use of current financial resources. Therefore, depreciation
expense was not reported as expenditures in the governmental funds, net of internal 
service fund depreciation expense. (295,392)          

The Total Internal Service Funds - This is the change in net position of the total internal
service funds, which are combined with governmental funds in the Statement of Activities. 3,561,075        

Current year employer pension contributions are recorded as expenditures in the 
governmental funds, however these amounts are reported as a deferred outflow of resources
in the Government-Wide Statement of Net Position. 1,725,083

Accrued compensated leave payable is an expenditure on the Statement of Activities, but 
does not use current financial resources so is not on the fund financial statements. (522,397)          

Change in net position of governmental activities 8,115,112$      

San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department

 Changes in Fund Balances to the Government-Wide Statement of Activities
For the year ended June 30, 2019

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department
Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2019

Total
Internal
Service
Funds

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 3,501,775$             
Capital assets net of depreciation 90,234                    
     Total Assets 3,592,009               

LIABILITIES 
Current:

Accounts payable 30,934                    

     Total Current Liabilities 30,934                    

Total Liabilities 30,934                    

NET POSITION

Unrestricted (deficit) 3,561,075$             

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Total
Internal
Service
Funds

REVENUES:
Charges for services 4,284,123$             
Other revenues 44,838                    

     Total Operating Revenues 4,328,961               

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Materials and services 4,245,579               
Depreciation 5,696                      

     Total Operating Expenses 4,251,275               

     Operating Income 77,686                    

NONOPERATING REVENUES:
Interest income 28,697                    

INCOME BEFORE CONTRIBUTIONS 106,383                  

Contributions from Belmont 594,442                  
Contributions from Foster City 784,420                  
Contributions from San Mateo 2,075,830               

Total Contributions 3,454,692               

  Change in net position 3,561,075               

Net Position - Beginning -                              

Net Position - Ending 3,561,075$             

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Total
Internal
Service
Funds

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Receipts for interfund services provided 4,284,123$             
Insurance reimbursement 44,838                    
Payment to vendors (4,214,645)              

Net cash provided by operating activities 114,316                  

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Contributions from other agencies 809,500                  

Net cash used in noncapital financing activities 809,500                  

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Contributions from other agencies 2,645,192               
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (95,930)                   

Net cash used in capital financing activities 2,549,262               

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Interest income 28,697                    

  Net cash provided by investing activities 28,697                    

Net increase (decrease) in cash and  cash equivalents 3,501,775               

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning -                              
Cash and cash equivalents - ending 3,501,775$             

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided
(used) by operating activities:

Operating income (loss) 77,686$                  
Depreciation Expense 5,696                      
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 30,934                    

Net cash and cash equivalents provided (used) by operating activities 114,316$                

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2019 
 
 

 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The basic financial statements of the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department (SMC Fire) have been 
prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental 
agencies.  The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard setting body 
for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.  The more significant of SMC 
Fires’s accounting policies are described below. 
 
A.  Financial Reporting Entity 

 
The San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department is a legally separate and independent entity that is not 
a component unit of the City of San Mateo (San Mateo), the City of Foster City/Estero Municipal 
Improvement District (Foster City), or the City of Belmont/Belmont Fire Protection District (Belmont). 
Further, SMC Fire has no component unit organizations under its control. Therefore, this 
comprehensive annual financial report and the financial statements contained within represent solely 
the activities, transactions and status of the San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department. SMC Fire is 
governed by a Board of Directors (“Fire Board”) consisting of representatives from each City. 
 

B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus 
 
The accounts of SMC Fire are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered a separate 
accounting entity with its own self-balancing set of accounts that comprise its assets, deferred outflows 
of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, fund equity, revenues and expenditures or 
expenses. These funds are established for the purpose of carrying out specific activities or certain 
objectives in accordance with specific regulations, restrictions or limitations. Governmental resources 
are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purpose for which they are to 
be spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled. 

 
Government-wide Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements are presented using the economic resources measurement focus 
and the accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, all of SMC Fire’s assets, deferred inflows/outflows of 
resources, and liabilities, including capital assets and long-term liabilities, are included in the 
accompanying Statement of Net Position. The Statement of Activities presents changes in net position. 
Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded 
when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. 
 
The financial statements include a Statement of Net Position and a Statement of Activities. The 
financial statements report information on all of the activities of the San Mateo Consolidated Fire 
Department. All activities are categorized as governmental activities as they are attributable to services 
for structural and wild land fire suppression, response to hazardous materials incidents, search and 
rescue, vehicle extrication and other emergency services supported largely by contributions from the 
cities’ general fund revenues. 
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2019 
 
 

 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 
 

B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus, Continued 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements, Continued 
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the expenses are offset by program 
revenues that include charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from 
goods, services or privileges provided and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational 
or capital requirements of a particular segment. Other items not properly included among program 
revenues are reported as general revenues. 
 
Governmental Fund Financial Statements 
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds. 

 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, only current assets and current liabilities 
are included on the balance sheet. The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 
Balances present increases (revenue and other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and 
other financing uses) in net current assets.  
 
Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the accounting period in 
which they become both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current period. 
Revenues are recorded when received in cash, except that revenues subject to accrual (generally 
received 45 to 90 days after year-end) are recognized when due. Expenditures are recorded in the 
accounting period in which the related fund liability is incurred, except compensated absences-related 
expenditures are recorded only when payment is due. 
 
The Reconciliation of the Fund Financial Statements to the Government-Wide Financial Statements is 
provided. 
 
SMC Fire reports the following funds as major governmental funds:  

 
General Fund accounts for resources traditionally associated with governmental activities that are 
not required legally or by sound financial management to be accounted for in another fund. 
 
Fire Protection Special Revenue Fund accounts for the fees charged and expenditures for activities 
relating to fire inspections and permits. 

 
Proprietary Fund Financial Statements 
 
SMC Fire reports the Internal Service Funds as Proprietary Funds of SMC Fire. 
 
Proprietary fund financial statements include a Statement of Net Position, a Statement of Revenue, 
Expenses and Change in Net Position, and a Statement of Cash Flows for all proprietary funds. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 
 

B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus, Continued 
 
Proprietary Fund Financial Statements, Continued 
 
Proprietary funds are accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis 
of accounting. Accordingly, all assets and liabilities (whether current or noncurrent) are included on the 
Statement of Net Position. The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position present 
increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) in total net position. Under the accrual basis of 
accounting, revenues are recognized in the period in which they are earned while expenses are 
recognized in the period in which a liability is incurred. 
 
The Internal Service Fund distinguishes operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. 
Operating revenues represent premiums paid for the programs and contributions toward programs; 
operating expenses include claims paid and administrative expenses of the programs, and vehicle and 
equipment purchases. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as 
nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
 
Internal Service Fund balances and activities have been combined with governmental activities in the 
Government-Wide Financial Statements, and are comprised of the following funds: 

 
Benefits and Dental Fund accounts for SMC Fire’s charges for other funds and expenditures relating 
to the employee benefits other than those accounted for in the Workers’ Compensation and 
Comprehensive Liability Insurance Fund. 
 
Vehicle and Equipment Replacement Fund accounts for charges to SMC Fire for funding and 
acquisition of vehicles, equipment and fire engines. 
 
Workers’ Compensation and Comprehensive Liability Insurance Fund accounts for all workers’ 
compensation activities, and general liability transactions. 

 
SMC Fire follows Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) in accounting the activities of 
the Internal Service Funds. The effect of the interfund activity has been eliminated from the 
government-wide financial statements. 

 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is SMC Fire’s policy to use 
restricted resources first. 
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For the year ended June 30, 2019 
 
 

 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 
 
C. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
SMC Fire pools cash resources from all funds in order to facilitate the management of cash. The balance 
in the pooled cash account is available to meet current operating requirements.  
 
SMC Fire participates in an investment pool managed by the State of California entitled Local Agency 
Investment Fund (LAIF) which has invested a portion of the pooled funds in Structured Notes and 
Asset-Backed Securities. LAIF’s investments are subject to credit risk with the full faith and credit of 
the State of California collateralizing these investments. In addition, these Structured Notes and Asset-
Backed Securities are subject to market risk as to the change in interest rate. 
 
Cash equivalents are considered amounts in demand deposits and short-term investments with a 
maturity date within three months of the date acquired by SMC Fire and are presented as “Cash and 
Investments” in the accompanying Basic Financial Statements. 
 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, SMC Fire considers all pooled cash and investments 
(consisting of cash and investments) held by SMC Fire as cash and cash equivalents because the pool 
is used essentially as a demand deposit account from the standpoint of the funds. 
 

D. Prepaid items 
 
Prepaid items are items SMC Fire has paid in advance and will receive future benefit form. 
 

E. Capital Assets and Depreciation 
 

Capital assets which include machinery and equipment are reported in the government-wide and 
proprietary fund financial statements. Capital assets are defined by SMC Fire as assets with an initial, 
individual cost of $10,000 or more and an estimated useful life in excess of one (1) year. As stipulated 
in the JPA agreement, fire stations remain the assets of the individual member agencies. 
 
Machinery and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over an estimated useful life 
of 2 to 15 years. 

 
F. Claims and Judgements 

 
The short-term workers’ compensation claims liability and general claims liability are reported in the 
Workers’ Compensation and Comprehensive Liability Insurance Internal Service Fund. The short-term 
liability which will be liquidated with current financial resources is the amount of settlement reached, 
but unpaid, related to claims and judgements entered. There is no long-term claims payable as there 
are no claims as of June 30, 2019. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 
 
G. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

 
In addition to assets, the statement of net position (balance sheet) will sometimes report a separate 
section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows 
of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period (s) and so will 
not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position (balance sheet) will sometimes report a separate 
section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows 
of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not 
be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. 
 

H. Net Position 
 
In Government-Wide Financial Statements, net position is categorized as follows: 
 

Net Investment in Capital Assets – This amount consists of capital assets net of accumulated 
depreciation and reduced by outstanding debt that is attributed to the acquisition, construction, or 
improvements of the assets. 
 
Restricted – This amount is restricted by external creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or 
regulations of governments. 
 
Unrestricted – This amount is all net position that does not meet the definition of “net investment 
in capital assets” or “restricted net position” as defined above. 

 
I. Fund Balances 

 
In fund financial statements, fund balances are categorized as follows: 
 

Nonspendable Fund Balances - Items that cannot be spent because they are either (a) not in spendable 
form, such as prepaid items and inventories, or (b) items that are legally or contractually required 
to be maintained intact, such as principal of an endowment or revolving loan funds. 
 
Restricted Fund Balances - Restricted fund balances encompass the portion of fund balance subject 
to externally enforceable legal restrictions. This includes externally imposed restrictions by 
creditors, such as through debt covenants, grantors, contributors, laws or regulations of other 
governments, as well as restrictions imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling 
legislation. 
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2019 
 
 

 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 
 
I. Fund Balances, Continued 
 

Committed Fund Balances - Committed fund balances encompass the portion of fund balance, the 
use of which is constrained by limitations that the government imposes upon itself at its highest 
level of decision making, normally the governing body and that remain binding unless removed 
in the same manner. The Fire Board is considered the highest authority for SMC Fire. A Board 
resolution is required to have fund balance committed. 
 
Assigned Fund Balances - Assigned fund balances encompass the portion of fund balance reflecting 
the government’s intended use of resources. Assignment of resources can be done by the highest 
level of decision making. The Fire Board is considered the highest authority for SMC Fire. A Board 
resolution is required to have fund balance assigned. 
 
Unassigned Fund Balances - This amount is for any portion of the fund balances that do not fall into 
one of the above categories. The general fund is the only fund that reports a positive unassigned 
fund balance amount. In other funds, it is not appropriate to report a positive unassigned fund 
balance amount. However, in funds other than general fund, if expenditures incurred for specific 
purposes exceed the amount that are restricted, committed, or assigned to those purposes, it may 
be necessary to report a negative unassigned fund balance in that fund. 

 
J. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) 

 
For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of SMC 
Fire’s plan (OPEB Plan) and additions to/deductions from the OPEB Plan’s fiduciary net position have 
been determined on the same basis. For this purpose, benefit payments are recognized when currently 
due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. Generally 
accepted accounting principles require that the reported results must pertain to liability and asset 
information within certain defined timeframes. Because SMC Fire was established in 2019, it will not 
report a net OPEB liability or asset until the fiscal year ending June 30, 2020.  

 
K. Compensated Leave Payable 

 
SMC Fire permits employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation up to a certain amount 
depending on bargaining units. Sick leave credit is vested in varying amounts depending on 
bargaining units and groups. Both are accrued when incurred and unused vacation hours are recorded 
as current and noncurrent liabilities and as expense on the government-wide financial statements. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 
 

L. Pensions 
 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and deferred outflows/inflows of resources related 
to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of SMC Fire’s California 
Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) plan (Plan) and additions to/deductions from the 
Plan’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by CalPERS. 
For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized 
when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 
Because SMC Fire was established in 2019, it will not report a Pension liability or asset until the fiscal 
year ending June 30, 2020. 
 

M. Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of basic financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, 
actual results could differ from these estimates and assumptions. 
 
 

2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 

SMC Fire maintains a cash and investment pool for all funds. Cash and investments held at June 30, 
2019 were $7,808,510. 

 
A. Summary of Cash and Investments 
 

Cash and investments as of June 30, 2019 consisted of the following: 
 

 
  

Cash on hand 100$               
Deposits with financial institution 254,411          

Total cash on hand and deposits 254,511          

Local Agency Investment Fund 7,553,999       
Total investments 7,553,999       

Total cash and investments 7,808,510$     
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2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued 
 
B. Deposits 
 

The carrying amount of SMC Fire’s cash deposit was $254,411 at June 30, 2019.  Bank balances before 
reconciling items were a positive amount of $234,644 at June 30, 2019. SMC Fires’ cash deposit was 
fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.  
 
The California Government Code (Code) Section 53652 requires California banks and savings and loan 
associations to secure SMC Fire’s cash deposits by pledging securities as collateral.  The Code states 
that collateral pledged in this manner shall have the effect of perfecting a security interest in such 
collateral superior to those of a general creditor.  Thus, collateral for cash deposits is considered to be 
held in SMC Fire’s name.  
 
The fair value of pledged securities must equal at least 110% of SMC Fire’s cash deposits.  California 
law also allows institutions to secure SMC Fire’s deposits by pledging first trust deed mortgage notes 
having a value of 150% of SMC Fire’s total cash deposits.   
 
SMC Fire follows the practice of pooling cash and investments of all funds.  Interest income earned on 
pooled cash and investments is allocated to the various funds based on the average monthly cash and 
investment balances.  
 

C. Investments 
 
Under the provisions of SMC Fire’s investment policy, and in accordance with the Code, the following 
investments are authorized: 

 
 
Investments are stated at fair value using the aggregate method in all funds, resulting in the following 
investment income in all funds: 
 

 
 
  

Maximum Maximum
Maximum Percentage of Investment in

Authorized Investment Type Maturity Portfolio One Issuer

Securities issued by the U.S. Treasury 5 years No limit No limit
U.S. Agency Securities and Instrumentalies 5 years 70% 40% of portfolio
Local Agency Investment Fund N/A No limit $65,000,000

Interest income 143,304$        
Unrealized gain in changes in fair value of investment 12,909            

Total investment income 156,213$        
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2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued 
 
C. Investments, Continued 
 

SMC Fire’s portfolio value fluctuates in an inverse relationship to any change in interest rate.  
Accordingly, if interest rates rise, the portfolio value will decline.  If interest rates fall, the portfolio 
value will rise.  The portfolio for year-end reporting purposes is treated as if it were all sold.  Therefore, 
fund balance must reflect the portfolio’s change in value.  These portfolio value changes are unrealized 
unless sold.  Consequently, SMC Fire’s investments are carried at fair value. 
 
SMC Fire is a voluntary participant in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) that is regulated by 
Code Section 16429 under the oversight of the Treasurer of the State of California.  SMC Fire’s 
investments with LAIF at June 30, 2019, include a portion of the pool funds invested in Structured 
Notes and Asset-Backed Securities.  These investments include the following: 
 

Structured Notes – are debt securities (other than asset-backed securities) whose cash flow 
characteristics (coupon rate, redemption amount, or stated maturity) depend upon one or more 
indices and/or have embedded forwards or options. 
 
Asset-Backed Securities – the bulk of which are mortgage-backed securities, entitle their purchasers 
to receive a share of the cash flows from a pool of assets such as principal and interest repayments 
from a pool of mortgages (such as Collateralized Mortgage Obligations) or credit card receivables. 

 
As of June 30, 2019, SMC Fire had $7,553,999 invested in LAIF, which had invested 1.77% of the pool 
investment funds in Structured Notes and Asset-Backed Securities as compared to 2.67% in the 
previous year. The LAIF fair value factor of 1.00171179 was used to calculate the fair value of the 
investments in LAIF. 
 

D. Risk Disclosures 
 
Interest Risk:  Interest rate risk is the market value fluctuation due to overall changes in the interest 
rates.  It is mitigated by limiting the average maturity of SMC Fire’s portfolio to three years or less. The 
maturity of SMC Fire’s investments are the following: 
 

 
  

Maturity
3 months or less

Local Agency Investment Fund 7,553,999$        
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2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued 
 
D. Risk Disclosures, Continued 

 
Liquidity Standard: As a means of maintaining liquidity, SMC Fire’s investment policy limits are as 
follows: 

 Maturity % of Portfolio 
 Up to six months 25% (Minimum) 
 Six months to five years 75% (Maximum) 
 

Credit Risk:  Credit risk is the risk that a security or a portfolio will lose some or all of its value due to 
a real or perceived change in the ability of the issuer to repay its debt. Credit ratings agencies, such as 
Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s rate securities and notes. According to SMC Fire’s investment policy, 
the total portfolio may consist of only US Government, its agencies and instrumentalities, and LAIF. 
SMC Fire did not have any investments other than LAIF during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. 
LAIF is not rated. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk:  For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure 
of the counterparty, SMC Fire will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral 
securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  None of SMC Fire’s investments were subject 
to custodial credit risk. 
 

E.   Investment Valuation 
 

Investments (except for money market accounts, time deposits, and commercial paper) are measured 
at fair value on a recurring basis. Recurring fair value measurements, are those that Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statements require or permit in the statement of net position at 
the end of each reporting period. Fair value measurements are categorized based on the valuation 
inputs used to measure an asset’s fair value: Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant 
unobservable inputs. SMC Fire’s investment in LAIF was not subject to levelling disclosure. 
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3. CAPITAL ASSETS 
 

A. Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 
The following is a summary of changes in the capital assets for the governmental activities during the 
fiscal year: 
 

  
 
Depreciation expense for the year ended June 30, 2019 was $301,088. 
 

B. Governmental Fund Financial Statements 
 
The governmental fund financial statements do not present general government capital assets but are 
shown in the Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the Government-Wide 
Statement of Net Position. 
 
 

4. LONG-TERM DEBT 
 

A. Compensated Leaves Payable 
 

Employees accrue vacation, annual leave, earned time off, and holiday leave up to certain maximums, 
based on the employee’s bargaining unit. Employees may elect to be paid a portion of these leaves at 
various times according to the applicable Memorandum of Understanding. Sick leave may be 
accumulated without limit. Sick leave may be exchanged for service credit in SMC Fire’s pension plan 
upon retirement. 
 
 

Balance Balance
January 13, 2019 Additions Retirements June 30, 2019

Non-depreciable assets:
Construction in progress -$                        18,763$        -$                  18,763$          

Total non-depreciable assets -                          18,763          -                    18,763            

Depreciable assets:
Machinery and equipment 5,999,915           77,167          -                    6,077,082       

5,999,915           77,167          -                    6,077,082       

Less accumulated depreciation:
Machinery and equipment -                          301,088        -                    301,088          

Total accumulated depreciation -                          301,088        -                    301,088          

Total depreciable assets, net 5,999,915           (223,921)       -                    5,775,994       

Total capital assets 5,999,915$         (205,158)$     -$                  5,794,757$     
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4. LONG-TERM DEBT 
 

A. Compensated Leaves Payable, Continued 
 
SMC Fire accrues the liability for compensated leave as it is earned by employees. The amount of 
compensated leaves payable outstanding was $1,797,800 as of June 30, 2019. 

 
 
The amount due within one year of $197,758 represents the estimated amount for anticipated retirees. 
SMC Fire typically uses the General Fund to liquidate the liability for compensated absences for 
governmental funds. 
 

 
5. CLASSIFICATION OF FUND BALANCES 
 

In the fund financial statements, fund balances are classified in the following categories: 
 

 
 

  

Amount

Amount Due More

Balance Balance Due Within Than One

January 13, 2019 Additions Reductions June 30, 2019 One year Year

Governmental Activities:

  Compensated Leave Payable 1,275,403$         1,114,908$ (592,511)$  1,797,800$   197,758$    1,600,042$ 

Fire Prevention Total
General Special Revenue Government

Fund Balances

Nonspendable fund balance for:
Prepaids and Supplies 4,391$                 -$                         4,391$                 
Security deposit to vendor 17,097                 -                           17,097                 

Total Nonrespendable fund balance 21,488                 -                           21,488                 

Committed fund balance for:
Fire Prevention Inspection and Other -                           2,783,842            2,783,842            

Total Committed fund balance -                           2,783,842            2,783,842            

Assigned fund balance for:
Other Purposes 100                      -                           100                      

Total Assigned fund balance 100                      -                           100                      

Unassigned fund balance for:
Other Purposes 841,313               -                           841,313               

Total Unassigned fund balance 841,313               -                           841,313               

Total Fund Balances 862,901$             2,783,842$          3,646,743$          

Major Governmental Funds
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6.  RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
A. Coverage 

 
SMC Fire maintains occurrence-basis commercial insurance coverage for both general liability and 
workers’ compensation. The general liability insurance covers up to $1 million per occurrence and $10 
million annual aggregate with excess liability of $10 million per occurrence and $20 million aggregate. 
The workers’ compensation insurance covers up to $50 million per occurrence.  
 

B. Claims Activity 
 
SMC Fire’s claims activity is recorded in its Worker’s Compensation and General Liability Internal 
Service Funds. Estimated liabilities are recorded when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the 
amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The claims during the fiscal year ended June 20, 2019 
were covered by the insurance policies. 
 

 
7.  EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN 
 
A. General Information about the Pension Plan 
 

All qualified permanent and probationary employees are eligible to participate in the Public Agency 
Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan (Plan) administered by the California 
Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS). The Plan consists of individual rate plans (benefit 
tiers) within a safety risk pool (police and fire) and a miscellaneous risk pool (all other.) Plan assets 
may be used to pay benefits for any employer rate plan of the safety and miscellaneous risk pools. 
Accordingly, rate plans within the safety or miscellaneous pools are not separate plans under GASB 
Statement No. 68. Individual employers may sponsor more than one rate plan in the miscellaneous or 
safety risk pools. SMC Fire sponsors nine rate plans. Benefit provisions under the Plan are established 
by State statute and SMC Fire resolution. CalPERS issues publicly available reports that include a full 
description of the pension plan regarding benefit provisions, assumptions and membership 
information that can be found on the CalPERS website. 
 
CalPERS provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of living adjustments and 
death benefits to plan members who must be public employees and beneficiaries. Benefits are based 
on years of credited service, equal to one year of full time employment. Safety members with five years 
or more of total service are eligible to retire at age 50. Miscellaneous members with five years or more 
of total service are eligible to retire at age 50, with exception of those that fall under the 2% at 62 
formula, who are eligible to retire at age 52. Those that retire before the “normal retirement age” listed 
in their formula will receive statutorily reduced benefits. All members are eligible for non-industrial 
disability benefits after five years of service.  The death benefit is one of the following: the Basic Death 
Benefit, the 1957 Survivor Benefit, or the Optional Settlement 2W Death Benefit. The cost of living 
adjustments for each plan are applied as specified by the Public Employee’s Retirement Law. 

 
The rate plan provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2019 are summarized on the following 
page. 
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7.  EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN, Continued 
 
A. General Information about the Pension Plan, Continued 
 

For transferred employees from member agencies: 
 

 
 
For new employees hired after January 13, 2019: 
 

 
  

Classic Misc - San 
Mateo Tier 1

Classic Misc - San 
Mateo Tier 2

Classic Safety - 
Belmont Tier 1

Classic Safety - 
Belmont Tier 2

Benefit vesting schedule 5 years of service 5 years of service 5 years of service 5 years of service

Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life monthly for life monthly for life

Earliest retirement age 55 55 55 50

Benefit factor for each year of service

as a % of annual salary 2% at age 55 2% at age 55 3% at age 55 2% at age 50

Required employee contribution rates 7% 7% 9% 9%

Required employer contribution rates 9.409% 8.892% 17.614% 15.719%

Classic Safety - 
Foster City Tier 1

Classic Safety - 
San Mateo Tier 1

Classic Safety - 
San Mateo Tier 2

Benefit vesting schedule 5 years of service 5 years of service 5 years of service

Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life monthly for life

Earliest retirement age 50 50 55

Benefit factor for each year of service

as a % of annual salary 3% at age 50 3% at age 50 3% at age 55

Required employee contribution rates 9% 9% 9%

Required employer contribution rates 19.416% 20.556% 17.614%

Classic Misc PEPRA - Misc Classic Safety PEPRA - Safety

Benefit vesting schedule 5 years of service 5 years of service 5 years of service 5 years of service

Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life monthly for life monthly for life

Earliest retirement age 62 62 57 57

Benefit factor for each year of service

as a % of annual salary 2% at age 62 2% at age 62 2.7% at age 57 2.7% at age 57

Required employee contribution rates 6.75% 6.75% 12% 12%

Required employer contribution rates 6.985% 6.985% 13.034% 13.034%
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San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2019 
 
 

 

7.  EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN, Continued 
 

A. General Information about the Pension Plan, Continued 
 
Contributions – Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law requires that the 
employer contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an actuarial basis, annually and 
is effective on July 1 following notice of a change in the rate.  Funding contributions for the Plan are 
determined annually on an actuarial basis as of June 30 by CalPERS.  The actuarially determined rate 
is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, 
with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.  SMC Fire is required to 
contribute the difference between the actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of 
employees. 

 
B. Net Pension Liability 

 
SMC Fire’s net pension liability for the Plan is to be measured as the proportionate share of the total 
net pension liability of the Plan. The net pension liability of the Plan is measured as of June 30, 2018, 
and the total pension liability for the Plan used to calculate the net pension liability was determined 
by actuarial valuations as of June 30, 2017 rolled forward to June 30, 2018 using standard update 
procedures. SMC Fire was not formed until after the measurement date June 30, 2018, and hence no 
proportionate share of the total net pension liability of the Plan could be determined.  
 

C. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2019, SMC Fire reported $1,725,083 as deferred outflows of resources 
related to contributions to the Plan subsequent to the measurement date and will be recognized as a 
reduction of the net pension liability in the year ending June 30, 2020. 
 
 

8.  OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) 
 
A. Plan Description 
 

SMC Fire administers an agent multiple employer defined benefit post-employment healthcare plan 
(Plan). Merit employees who retire directly from SMC Fire under CalPERS at the minimum age 50 with 
at least 5 years of CalPERS service (or disability) are eligible to receive $160 per month for medical 
insurance premiums paid to CalPERS. This same benefit may continue to a surviving spouse 
depending on the retirement plan election. 

 
SMC Fire pre-funds the Plan through CalPERS OPEB Trust (CERBT). CERBT is a tax qualified 
irrevocable trust, organized under Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 115, established to prefund 
OPEB. The CERBT issues a publicly available financial report that included financial statements and 
required supplementary information for SMC Fire, not individualizing, but in aggregate with the other 
CERBT participants. That report may be obtained by contacting CalPERS. 
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San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
For the year ended June 30, 2019 
 
 

 

8.  OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB), Continued 
 
B. Net OPEB Liability 

 
Because SMC Fire and Plan were recently formed, no OPEB liability is reported on the financial 
statements as of June 30, 2019. However, a net OPEB liability for the Plan will be reported for the fiscal 
year ending June 30, 2020. 
 

C. Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources related to OPEB 
 
In fiscal year ending June 30, 2019, SMC Fire did not report any deferred outflows or inflows of 
resources relating to OPEB benefits. 
 
 

9.  EXPENDITURES IN EXCESS OF APPROPRIATIONS 
 

The General Fund had expenditures in excess of budget due to unanticipated overtime payments for 
backfilling employees out on workers’ compensation leave. Sufficient fund balance was available to 
fund these expenditures: 
 

 
 
 

Fund Appropriations Expenditures Excess

General Fund 16,503,038$   16,697,743$   (194,705)$       

48



Draf
t 1

0-3
-20

19
 

 

REQUIRED 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

49



Draf
t 1

0-3
-20

19

50



Draf
t 1

0-3
-20

19
San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department 
Required Supplementary Information 
For the year ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

 

1. BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING 
 

A. Budgetary Control and Budgetary Accounting 
 
Budgets are adopted annually for the General Fund and Fire Prevention Fund. The Budget is adopted by 
the Fire Board (Board) and can be amended only by the Board.   
 
An annual operating budget is adopted by the Board on or before June 30. The operating budget may be 
reallocated among programs, but expenditures may not exceed budgeted appropriations each year 
without Board acknowledgment and approval. 
 
The original budget includes amounts automatically carried over from the prior years’ budget such as 
encumbrances. 
 

B. Encumbrances and Budgetary Financial Statements 
 
SMC Fire’s budget, and the accompanying budgetary financial statements, are prepared using 
encumbrance accounting.  Encumbrance accounting requires that purchase orders, contracts and other 
commitments for the expenditure of monies be recorded as expenditures in order to reserve that portion 
of the applicable appropriation.  Encumbrance accounting is employed as an extension of formal 
budgetary integration in all budgeted funds.  Encumbrances outstanding at year-end are reported as 
expenditures in the budgetary financial statements. 
 
Unencumbered operating appropriations lapse at year-end. 
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San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department 
Required Supplementary Information 
For the year ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

 

1. BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING, Continued 
 

C. Budgetary Comparison Schedules 
 

 
The following are the budget comparison schedules for all major Governmental Funds. 
 

Budgetary Comparison Schedule – General Fund 
 

 
  

Variance with
Final Budget

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES:
Intergovernmental:

Contributions from Belmont 3,300,610$     3,300,610$     3,300,610$     -$                      
Contributions from Foster City 3,300,610        3,300,610        3,300,610        -                         
Contributions from San Mateo 9,901,829        9,901,829        9,901,828        (1)                      
Grants and other intergovernmental 160,914           160,914           439,389           278,475           

Charges for services -                         -                         620                   620                   
Other revenues -                         -                         550,612           550,612           
Interest income -                         -                         66,975             66,975             

Total Revenues 16,663,963     16,663,963     17,560,644     896,681           

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

Personnel costs 14,048,098     14,048,098     15,538,568     (1,490,470)      
Materials and services 1,771,663        1,771,663        1,158,422        613,241           
Rents and Leases -                         -                         753                   (753)                  
Capital Outlay 683,277           683,277           -                         683,277           

Total Expenditures 16,503,038     16,503,038     16,697,743     (194,705)          

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 160,925$         160,925$         862,901           701,976$         

BEGINNING FUND BALANCES -                         

ENDING FUND BALANCES 862,901$         
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San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department 
Required Supplementary Information 
For the year ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

 

1. BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING, Continued 
 

C. Budgetary Comparison Schedules, Continued 
 

Budgetary Comparison Schedule – Fire Prevention Fund 
 

 

Variance with
Final Budget

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES:
Intergovernmental:

Contributions from San Mateo 2,789,050$     2,789,050$     2,922,173$     133,123$         
Charges for services -                         -                         1,393,709        1,393,709        
Other revenues 903,284           903,284           19,538             (883,746)          
Interest income -                         -                         60,542             60,542             

Total Revenues 3,692,334        3,692,334        4,395,962        703,628           

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

Personnel costs 1,218,915        1,390,790        1,198,020        192,770           
Materials and services 292,897           292,897           118,837           174,060           
Rents and Leases 1                        1                        61,267             (61,266)            
Capital outlay 8,295                8,295                -                         8,295                
Miscellaneous -                         -                         233,996           (233,996)          

Total Expenditures 1,520,108        1,691,983        1,612,120        79,863             

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 2,172,226$     2,000,351$     2,783,842        783,491$         

BEGINNING FUND BALANCES -                         

ENDING FUND BALANCES 2,783,842$     
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San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department
Combining Statement of Net Position
All Internal Service Funds
June 30, 2019

Vehicle & Workers' Comp & Total
Equipment Benefit & Comprehensive Internal

Replacement Dental Liability Service
Fund Fund Fund Funds

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 2,496,728$             471,022$                534,025$                3,501,775$             
Capital assets net of depreciation 90,234                    -                              -                              90,234                    
     Total Assets 2,586,962               471,022                  534,025                  3,592,009               

LIABILITIES 
Current:

Accounts payable 27,550                    3,324                      60                           30,934                    

     Total Current Liabilities 27,550                    3,324                      60                           30,934                    

Total Liabilities 27,550                    3,324                      60                           30,934                    

NET POSITION

Unrestricted (deficit) 2,559,412$             467,698$                533,965$                3,561,075$             

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position
All Internal Service Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Workers'
Vehicle & Comp & Total

Equipment Benefit & Comprehensive Internal
Replacement Dental Liability Service

Fund Fund Fund Funds
REVENUES:

Charges for services -$                          3,283,490$           1,000,633$           4,284,123$           
Insurance reimbursement -                            -                            44,838                  44,838                  

     Total Operating Revenues -                            3,283,490             1,045,471             4,328,961             

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Materials and services 102,908                2,815,792             1,326,879             4,245,579             
Depreciation 5,696                    -                            -                            5,696                    

     Total Operating Expenses 108,604                2,815,792             1,326,879             4,251,275             

     Operating Income (Loss) (108,604)               467,698                (281,408)               77,686                                              
NONOPERATING REVENUES

(EXPENSES) : 
Interest income 22,824                  -                            5,873                    28,697                  

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE (85,780)                 467,698                (275,535)               106,383                
CONTRIBUTIONS

Contributions from Belmont 432,542                -                            161,900                594,442                
Contributions from Foster City 622,520                -                            161,900                784,420                
Contributions from San Mateo 1,590,130             -                            485,700                2,075,830             

Total Contributions 2,645,192             -                            809,500                3,454,692             

  Change in net position 2,559,412             467,698                533,965                3,561,075             

Net Position - Beginning -                            -                            -                            -                            

Net Position - Ending (Deficit) 2,559,412$           467,698$              533,965$              3,561,075$           

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department
Combining Statement of Cash Flows
All Internal Service Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Workers'
Vehicle & Comp & Total

Equipment Benefit & Comprehensive Internal
Replacement Dental Liability Service

Fund Fund Fund Funds
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 

ACTIVITIES:
Receipts for interfund 

services provided -$                          3,283,490$           1,000,633$           4,284,123$           
Insurance reimbursement -                            -                            44,838                  44,838                  
Payment to vendors (75,358)                 (2,812,468)            (1,326,819)            (4,214,645)            
Net cash provided by operating

activities (75,358)                 471,022                (281,348)               114,316                

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Contributions from other agencies -                            -                            809,500                809,500                
Net cash used in capital financing

activities -                            -                            809,500                809,500                

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Contributions from other agencies 2,645,192             -                            -                            2,645,192             
Acquisition and construction of 
  capital assets (95,930)                 -                            -                            (95,930)                 
Net cash used in capital financing

activities 2,549,262             -                            -                            2,549,262             

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES:

  Interest income 22,824                  -                            5,873                    28,697                  
  Net cash provided by investing

activities 22,824                  -                            5,873                    28,697                  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents 2,496,728             471,022                534,025                3,501,775             

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning -                            -                            -                            -                            
Cash and cash equivalents - ending 2,496,728$           471,022$              534,025$              3,501,775$           

Reconciliation of operating income
to net cash provided by 
operating activities:

Operating income (108,604)$             467,698$              (281,408)$             77,686$                
Depreciation Expense 5,696                    -                            -                            5,696                    
Increase in:

Accounts payable 27,550 3,324 60 30,934                  
Net cash and cash equivalents

provided by operating activities (75,358)$               471,022$              (281,348)$             114,316$              

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Financial Trends 63-66

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how SMC
Fire's financial performance and well-being have changed over time.

Revenue Capacity 67-68

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the Member Cities
ability to generate its major sources for funding SMC Fire.

Demographic and Economic Information 69

This schedule offers demographic and economic indicators to help the reader
understand the environment within which SMC Fire’s financial activities take place.

Operating Information 70-71

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader
understand how the information in SMC Fire’s financial report relates to the services
SMC Fire provides and the activities it performs.

STATISTICAL SECTION (Unaudited)

This part of San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department’s comprehensive annual financial report presents
detailed information as a context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note
disclosures, and required supplementary information says about SMC Fire's overall financial condition.
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SAN MATEO CONSOLIDATED FIRE DEPARTMENT

Net Position by Component
(accrual basis of accounting)

FISCAL YEAR

2019(1)

Governmental Activities
Net investment in capital assets 5,794,757$                  
Unrestricted 7,044,867                    

Total Governmental Activities Net Position 12,839,624$                

Notes:

(1) San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department commenced its operation on Jan. 13, 2019. 
      Fiscal year 2019 data above is for the period from 1/13/2019 through 6/30/2019.

Source:  San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department audited financial statements
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SAN MATEO CONSOLIDATED FIRE DEPARTMENT

Changes in Net Position
(accrual basis of accounting)

FISCAL YEAR

2019(1)

Governmental Activities

Expenses
Personnel 11,249,779$                
Material and services 5,522,838                     
Rent and leases 62,020                          
Miscellaneous 233,996                        
Depreciation 301,088                        

Total Expenses 17,369,721                   

Program Revenues
Charges for Services 1,394,330                     
Operating Contributions 20,234,721                   
Capital Contributions 2,645,192                     

Total Program Revenues 24,274,243                   

 Net Program Revenue/(Expenses) 6,904,522                     

General Revenues 
Other revenues 1,054,377                     
Interest income 156,213                        

Total General Revenues 1,210,590                     

Change in Net Position 8,115,112                     

Net Position - Beginning 4,724,512                     

Net Position - Ending 12,839,624$                

Notes:

(1) San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department commenced its operation on Jan. 13, 2019. 
      Fiscal year 2019 data above is for the period from 1/13/2019 through 6/30/2019.

Source:  San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department audited financial statements
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SAN MATEO CONSOLIDATED FIRE DEPARTMENT

Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
(modified accrual basis of accounting)

FISCAL YEAR

2019(1)

General Fund
Unassigned fund balance 862,901                       

Total General Fund 862,901$                     

All Other Governmental Funds
Committed fund balance 2,783,842                    

Total all other Governmental Funds 2,783,842$                  

Notes:

(1) San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department commenced its operation on Jan. 13, 2019. 
      Fiscal year 2019 data above is for the period from 1/13/2019 through 6/30/2019.

Source:  San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department audited financial statements
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SAN MATEO CONSOLIDATED FIRE DEPARTMENT

Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
(modified accrual basis of accounting)

FISCAL YEAR

2019(1)

Revenues:
Intergovernmental:

Contributions from City of Belmont 3,300,610$                  
Contributions from City of Foster City 3,300,610                    
Contributions from City of San Mateo 12,824,001                  
Grants and other intergovernmental 439,389                       

Charges for services 1,394,329                    
Other revenues 570,150                       
Interest income 127,517                       

Total Revenues 21,956,606                  

Expenditures:
Personnel costs 16,736,588                  
Material and services 1,277,259                    
Rent and leases 62,020                         
Miscellaneous 233,996                       

Total Expenditures 18,309,863                  

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 3,646,743                    
Over (Under) Expenditures

Net Change in Fund Balances 3,646,743                    

Beginning Fund Balances -                               

Ending Fund Balances 3,646,743                    

Notes:

(1) San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department commenced its operation on Jan. 13, 2019. 
      Fiscal year 2019 data above is for the period from 1/13/2019 through 6/30/2019.

Source:  San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department audited financial statements
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SAN MATEO CONSOLIDATED FIRE DEPARTMENT

Governmental Funds Revenues by Sources
(modified accrual basis of accounting)

FISCAL YEAR

2019(1)

Revenues:
Contribution from City of Belmont 3,300,610$                  
Contribution from City of Foster City 3,300,610                    
Contribution from City of San Mateo 12,824,001                  
Grants and other intergovernmental 439,389                       
Charges for services 1,394,329                    
Other revenues 570,150                       
Interest income 127,517                       

Total Revenues 21,956,606                  

Notes:

(1) San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department commenced its operation on Jan. 13, 2019. 
      Fiscal year 2019 data above is for the period from 1/13/2019 through 6/30/2019.

Source:  San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department audited financial statements
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CITY OF BELMONT, CITY OF FOSTER CITY AND CITY OF SAN MATEO (MEMBER CITIES)

Governmental Activities Major General Revenues By Source
Last Five Fiscal Years

(accrual basis of accounting)

Transient
Fiscal Property Sales Occupancy Franchise Other
Year Taxes Taxes Taxes Fee Revenues (1)

City of Belmont
2015 13,134,287          3,085,607              1,947,101              1,539,939              2,474,536              
2016 14,132,122          3,613,991              2,338,135              1,619,124              2,436,212              
2017 15,527,210          3,882,588              2,381,244              1,546,473              2,619,042              
2018 16,894,686          5,134,206              2,697,686              1,341,714              2,786,304              
2019 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

City of Foster City
2015 22,824,950          3,955,873              2,581,207              1,135,666              2,076,698              
2016 25,042,950          3,892,638              2,820,879              1,182,060              2,032,180              
2017 27,249,762          3,780,217              2,914,905              1,190,454              2,096,693              
2018 29,967,500          4,141,017              3,518,966              1,178,643              2,109,503              
2019 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

City of San Mateo
2015 45,514,243          26,406,209            8,007,509              3,049,847              16,454,901            
2016 49,821,722          27,458,762            8,866,036              3,143,082              15,948,138            
2017 52,989,559          26,001,431            8,636,992              3,142,369              18,134,842            
2018 58,137,331          26,313,958            8,750,353              3,208,096              17,869,559            
2019 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Note:
(1) Other revenues include property transfer taxes, business license tax, motor vehicle in lieu and other taxes.

Source:  City of Belmont, City of Foster City and City of San Mateo audited financial statements

Information is lastest available for this report.
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Fiscal Year Population

Per Capita Personal 
Income ($)

City 
Unemployment 

Rate

CITY OF BELMONT
2010 26,507 n/a n/a
2011 26,031 n/a n/a
2012 26,123 n/a n/a
2013 26,316 n/a n/a
2014 26,559 n/a n/a
2015 26,748 n/a n/a
2016 27,608 n/a n/a
2017 27,343 n/a n/a
2018 27,388 n/a n/a
2019 n/a n/a n/a

CITY OF FOSTER CITY
2010 30,719 49,358 6.6%
2011 30,790 50,415 6.2%
2012 30,895 51,690 5.2%
2013 31,120 50,947 4.0%
2014 32,168 51,120 3.1%
2015 32,187 52,998 3.9%
2016 33,201 56,051 3.1%
2017 33,225 59,862 2.8%
2018 33,490 n/a 2.5%
2019 n/a n/a n/a

CITY OF SAN MATEO
2010 96,529 43,825 6.8%
2011 97,966 42,673 6.6%
2012 98,298 43,900 5.0%
2013 99,061 44,719 5.3%
2014 100,106 45,659 4.3%
2015 101,429 46,304 3.1%
2016 102,659 50,226 3.3%
2017 103,426 52,643 2.9%
2018 104,490 55,992 2.0%
2019 n/a n/a n/a

Source:  City of Belmont, City of Foster City and City of San Mateo audited financial statements

Information is lastest available for this report.

CITY OF BELMONT, CITY OF FOSTER CITY AND CITY OF SAN MATEO 
(MEMBER CITIES)

Demographic and Economic Statistics
Last Ten Fiscal Years 
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SAN MATEO CONSOLIDATED FIRE DEPARTMENT

Operating Indicators by Function

FISCAL YEAR

OPERATING INDICATORS 2019(1)

Number of call response by incident type:
Rescue and emergency medical 4321
Good intent call 930
Service call 572
False call 532
Hazardous condition 177
Fire and explosions 87
Overpressure/rupture /explosion 15
Severe wather 2
Other type of situation found 71

Community risk reduction:
Inspections - multi-residential 910
Inspections - commercial 580
Plan checks - fire related construction 562
Inspections - construction 507
Inspections - K-12 schools 21
Fire Investigations 14
Inspections - high-rise 1
Pubic education events 15
Training events 30

Notes:

(1) San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department commenced its operation on Jan. 13, 2019. 
      Fiscal year 2019 data above is for the period from 1/13/2019 through 6/30/2019.

Source: San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department
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SAN MATEO CONSOLIDATED FIRE DEPARTMENT

Capital Assets Statistics

(as of June 30)

FISCAL YEAR

CAPITAL ASSETS 2019

Number of stations 9
Number of automobiles 25
Number of pumpers/fire engines 24
Number of trailers 19
Number of jet ski 2
Number of boat 1

Source: San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department
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MEMORANDUM 

 

To: San Mateo Consolidated Fire Department Board of Directors 

From: Ray Iverson, Deputy Fire Chief 

Cc: John Healy, Fire Chief 

Date: October 8, 2019 

Subject: Community Risk Reduction Division Updates 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

Since our last meeting the Community Risk Reduction Division (CRR) has been diligently at 
work. A summary of each sections report is presented below: 

Fire Prevention 

The Fire Prevention division is nearing the end of the year and is focusing on completing the 
state mandated inspections. Multi-residential properties are continuing to be inspected by the 
Engine Companies, with back up from the fire inspectors should it become necessary. In addition 
to these, the division is about to commence the High-rise inspections as they finish the school 
inspections. The other continuing initiative is the wildland mitigation project. The wildland fire 
study undertaken with Central County Fire is near its completion. We have seen a final draft and 
made sure some needed changes were incorporated. Central County Fire is doing the same, and 
once their changes are completed, we will have a finished map. From there, we will be able to 
assess our needs, and implement an ordinance to address the risks, as well as an education 
program to show our citizens what they can do to help themselves. 

Office of Emergency Services 

The Office of Emergency Services team was recognized at Belmont, Foster City and San Mateo 
City Council Meetings during National Preparedness Month by receiving proclamations. The 
team has been focusing much of its efforts this month on public education, through our 6th class 
offering of CERT with our partners in Gilead, our 4th City Staff CERT academy, numerous Get 
Ready classes offered to the community and to staff, First Aid and CPR classes, CERT 
continuing education classes, Fire Department Open House, and participating both Visa’s 
Preparathon and the County’s Disaster Preparedness Day. The SMCFD CERT team was also 
activated in support of Belmont’s search for a missing at-risk adult, and 24 CERT members 
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responded. The team is actively preparing for the CERT Skills Day on October 19, and the 
Sound the Alarm Event with American Red Cross to install smoke detectors in homes that need 
them on November 2, 2019. OES is also leading the department’s effort to obtain grant funding 
to support several projects, is working with City Staff to meet emergency operations training 
objectives and is collaborating with County OES and County Health on exercises this fall.  

Fleet and Facilities 

Over the last few months the department has taken great strides to bring our fleet and facilities 
up to an acceptable standard. All the monthly services with First Vehicle have been completed 
for the months of August and September on the support vehicles. The Department has been 
challenged with a multitude of maintenance issues with the front line and reserve apparatus. This 
has slowed down the process of the of a 90-day inspection program. Fire Captains Ken Lambro, 
Brad Olson accompanied with the roll out of our new tracking system PS Trax have been an 
integral part of our current success in the fleet maintenance department. The facilities have also 
presented many challenges and we have been able to secure several maintenance contracts for 
the HVAC, landscaping, janitorial etc.… We have successfully completed several maintenance 
projects and we are currently working on several additional projects to bring the facilities up to 
an acceptable level. With the help from the Administration staff we have created projects in our 
current financial system to track all our costs. Over all the last couple of months have been a 
challenge and with the support of the proficient and dedicated staff I believe that we have made 
many large strides toward high level maintenance in our department.  
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